
NOTICE OF REGULAR TELEPHONE/VIDEO  

CONFERENCE MEETING 

August 25, 2020 

MONTGOMERY CITY COUNCIL 

STATE OF TEXAS         AGENDA 

COUNTY OF MONTGOMERY 

CITY OF MONTGOMERY 

NOTICE TO THE PUBLIC IS HEREBY GIVEN in accordance with the order of the Office of 
the Governor issued March 16, 2020, the Montgomery City Council will conduct a Regular Meeting 
scheduled for 6:00 p.m. on Tuesday, August 25, 2020, at City of Montgomery City Hall, 101 Old 
Plantersville Road, Montgomery, Texas via Zoom Teleconferencing. 

 
This meeting will be closed to in-person attendance by the public. A temporary suspension of the Open 
Meetings Act to allow telephone or videoconference public meetings has been granted by Governor Greg 
Abbott. These actions are being taken to mitigate the spread of COVID-19 by avoiding meetings                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        
that bring people into a group setting and in accordance with Section 418.016 of the Texas Government 
Code.  Telephonic and videoconferencing capabilities will be utilized to allow individuals to address the 
City Council. Members of the public who wish to submit their written comments on a listed agenda item 
must submit their comments by email to shensley@ci.montgomery.tx.us by 3:00 p.m. on August 25, 2020.   
 
Members of the public are entitled to participate remotely via Zoom Teleconferencing. Citizens may join 
the Zoom Meeting by logging on at https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87369849698   and using Meeting ID: 873 
6984 9698. They may also join by calling (346) 248-7799 and entering the Meeting ID: 873 6984 9698. 
The Meeting Agenda Pack will be posted online at www.montgomerytexas.gov.  The meeting will be 
recorded and uploaded to the City’s website. 

Notice - any person(s) using profane, abusive or threatening language may result in them being removed 
from the Teleconference Meeting.  

CALL TO ORDER 

INVOCATION  
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO FLAGS 
 
VISITOR/CITIZENS FORUM: 
Any citizen with business not scheduled on the agenda may speak to the City Council. Prior to speaking, 
each speaker must be recognized by the Mayor. City Council may not discuss or take any action on an item 
but may place the issue on a future agenda.  The number of speakers along with the time allowed per speaker 
may be limited. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA: 

1. Matters related to the approval of minutes of the August 11, 2020, Regular Meeting.  
 

2. Consideration and possible action regarding the Renewal/Transfer Application for Cedar Crest 
Mobile Home Park. 
 

  

mailto:shensley@ci.montgomery.tx.us
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87369849698
http://www.montgomerytexas.gov/




























































MEMORANDUM 

 
013233.000003\4826-8174-2694.v3 

 
TO: City of Montgomery 

FROM: Mallory Craig/Timothy Green 

DATE: August 07, 2020 

RE: Yearly Steps for Levying Assessment and Disbursing Funds 

1. The City has adopted a Service and Assessment Plan (“SAP”), wherein the City 
will levy each year on buildings constructed within the City of Montgomery Public Improvement 
District No. 1 (“PID”) an assessment calculated pursuant to the SAP.  In addition, the City has 
entered into a reimbursement agreement with Mike Ogerchock pursuant to which Mike is to 
construct certain public infrastructure to serve the land inside the PID and the City will 
reimburse Mike for such costs from the assessments levied within the PID. 

2. Mike has constructed the first phase of the infrastructure in the PID at a cost of 
$2,059,524.31.  For 2019, the City levied and collected $35,778.47 of assessments on the 
buildings within the PID and deducted $400.00 as costs of collection and paid the remainder to 
Mike as a credit against the amount owed.   

3. Each year, the county requests the assessment roll to be submitted before June 
30th. Our office will contact Mike and get an update on the construction of any new buildings 
within the PID and whether such new construction has triggered assessments being levied on 
additional property within the PID. In any case, each year we will update the assessment roll and 
the SAP to reflect what, if any, new construction has occurred and forward the updated 
assessment roll to the county in June and the SAP to the city council for approval during August 
of each year.  If there is new construction within the PID that triggers assessments on additional 
property, the updated SAP will reflect the tax id number of the new construction, and the 
assessment to be levied on the new construction. 

4. At such time as the 2020 assessments are paid into the City (March, 2021), the 
City should deduct its costs relative to collecting the assessments and pay the remainder to Mike 
against the outstanding balance.  This will continue each year until all of the land is improved in 
the PID (and the assessments paid on each building) or until Mike is paid in full. 



 
 

013233.000003\4843-4186-8602.v5 

  

MINUTES AND CERTIFICATION FOR ORDINANCE 
 

THE STATE OF TEXAS  § 
    § 
COUNTY OF MONTGOMERY § 
 

I, the undersigned City Secretary of the City of Montgomery, Texas (the “City”), do hereby certify as follows: 
 

1.  The City Council for the City convened in a special meeting on the ____ day of August, 2020 in the regular 
meeting place of the City Council at 101 Old Plantersville Road, Montgomery, Texas, and the roll was called of 
the duly constituted officials and members of said Council, to wit: 
 

Sara Countryman   Mayor  
T.J. Wilkerson  Mayor Pro Tem 

 Rebecca Huss  Councilmember 
 Tom Cronin   Councilmember 
 Kevin Lacy  Councilmember 

    Randy Burleigh  Councilmember 
 
and all of said persons were present, except ____________________________________, thus constituting a quorum.  
Whereupon, among other business, the following was transacted at said meeting: 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MONTGOMERY ACCEPTING AND APPROVING 
AN ANNUAL UPDATE TO THE SERVICE AND ASSESSMENT PLAN AND ASSESSMENT ROLL FOR CITY OF 
MONTGOMERY PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT NO. 1; PROVIDING FOR PAYMENT OF THE ANNUAL 
INSTALLMENT OF THE ASSESSMENTS IN ACCORDANCE WITH CHAPTER 372, TEXAS LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT CODE, AS AMENDED; AND PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, AND PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE 
 
was duly introduced for the consideration of said City Council and read in full.  It was then duly moved and seconded that 
said Ordinance be adopted; and, after due discussion, said motion, carrying with it the adoption of said Ordinance, 
prevailed and carried by the following vote: 
 
 AYES:   ___ 
 NOES:   ___ 
 ABSTENTIONS:  ___ 
 

2. That a true, full and correct copy of the aforesaid Ordinance adopted at the meeting described in the above and 
foregoing paragraph is attached to and follows this certificate; that said Ordinance has been duly recorded in 
said City Council’s minutes of said meeting pertaining to the adoption of said Ordinance; that the above and 
foregoing paragraph is a true, full and correct excerpt from said City Council’s minutes of said meeting 
pertaining to the adoption of said Ordinance; that the persons named in the above and foregoing paragraph are 
the duly chosen, qualified and acting officers and members of said City Council as indicated therein; that each 
of the officers and members of said City Council was duly and sufficiently notified officially and personally, in 
advance, of the date, hour, place and purpose of the aforesaid meeting, and that said Ordinance would be 
introduced and considered for adoption at said meeting; and each of said officers and members consented, in 
advance, to the holding of said meeting for such purpose; that said meeting was open to the public as required 
by law; and that public notice of the date, hour, place, and subject of said meeting was given as required by 
Chapter 551, Texas Government Code. 

 
SIGNED AND SEALED on the ____ day of August, 2020.  
            
      ________________________________  
      Susan Hensley, City Secretary 
      Montgomery, Texas 
(Seal) 

 



 
 

013233.000003\4843-4186-8602.v5 

 
ORDINANCE NO. ______ 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MONTGOMERY 
ACCEPTING AND APPROVING AN ANNUAL UPDATE TO THE SERVICE AND 
ASSESSMENT PLAN AND ASSESSMENT ROLL FOR CITY OF MONTGOMERY 
PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT NO. 1; PROVIDING FOR PAYMENT OF THE 
ANNUAL INSTALLMENT OF THE ASSESSMENTS IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
CHAPTER 372, TEXAS LOCAL GOVERNMENT CODE, AS AMENDED; AND 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  
 

WHEREAS, on September 30, 2014, Resolution No. 2014-2 was adopted by a 
majority of the members of the governing body of the City of Montgomery (the 
“Municipality”) authorized the creation of City of Montgomery Public Improvement 
District No. 1 (“P.I.D. No. 1”), a public improvement district established pursuant to the 
Public Improvement District Act, Chapter 372, Texas Local Government Code, as 
amended (the “Act”); and in accordance with its finding as to the advisability of 
improvement projects and services within P.I.D. No. 1; and  

WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 2015-03, effectively dated the 24th  day of 
February, 2015, the governing body of the Municipality directed that the Proposed 
Assessment Roll be filed with the Secretary of the governing body of the Municipality for 
public inspection as required by the Act, directed that a hearing to be held on the 24th day 
of March, 2015, at 6:00 p.m. at which the governing body of the Municipality would 
consider approving the Service/Assessment Plan and the Assessment Roll of P.I.D. No. 1, 
respectively, and assessing assessments payable at the time and at the rate and in the 
amount proposed in the Service/Assessment Plan against each parcel of property in P.I.D. 
No. 1, as set forth in the Assessment Roll, and directed the Secretary of the governing 
body of the Municipality to give notice of the hearing in the manner required by the Act; 

WHEREAS, the governing body of the Municipality conducted the hearing at 6:00 
p.m. on the 24th day of March, 2015, at which all persons who appeared, or requested to 
appear, in person or by their attorney, were given the opportunity to contend for or contest 
the Service/Assessment Plan, the Assessment Roll, and each proposed assessment, and 
offer testimony pertinent to any issue presented on the amount of the assessment, purpose 
of the assessment, special benefit of the assessment, and the penalties and interest on 
annual installments and on delinquent annual installments of the assessment; 

WHEREAS, several persons appeared in support of the Service/Assessment Plan, 
and the levy of assessments as proposed in the Assessment Roll, including a representative 
of the owner of all the land located within P.I.D. No. 1; 

WHEREAS, based on the evidence, information, and testimony provided to the 
City Council, the City Council found and determined that the Assessed Property would be 
specially benefited by the public improvement projects approved by the City Council and 
identified as the “Authorized Improvements” as set forth in the Service and Assessment 
Plan; 



 
 

013233.000003\4843-4186-8602.v5 

WHEREAS, based on the evidence, information, and testimony provided to the 
City Council, the City Council found and determined: (i) that the method of apportioning 
the cost of the Authorized Improvements against the Assessed Property and the real and 
true owners thereof as set forth in the Service and Assessment Plan is just and equitable; 
(ii) that such method of apportioning the cost would produce substantial equality 
considering the benefits to be received by and the burdens imposed on the Assessed 
Property; and (iii) that the assessments levied and charges declared against the Assessed 
Property and the real and true owners thereof as set forth in the Service and Assessment 
Plan are just and equitable; and 

WHEREAS, after closing the public hearing on March 24, 2015, and after 
considering all evidence, information, and testimony provided to the City Council, and 
taking into consideration the fact that there were no written or oral objections to the 
proposed assessments, and further taking into consideration that the owners of 100% of the 
property liable for assessment consented to the proposed assessments, the governing body 
of the Municipality found and determined that the Service and Assessment Plan should be 
approved and the assessments should be levied as provided in the Assessment Roll; 

WHEREAS, the governing body of the Municipality, after considering all evidence 
presented at the hearing, both written and documentary, and all written comments and 
statements filed with the Municipality, passed and adopted Ordinance No. 2015-02 
approving the Service and Assessment Plan attached thereto; 

WHEREAS, after the adoption of the Service and Assessment Plan, a portion of the 
property included within the boundaries of P.I.D. No. 1 has been developed and triggered 
the collection of the annual installment of the Assessments on 8.9425 acres; 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Act, the Municipality has caused the preparation of an 
annual update of the Service and Assessment Plan and the Assessment Roll (the “Annual 
Service Plan”) for the purpose of determining the annual budget for improvements and for 
making updates to the Assessment Roll to reflect the installment of Assessments to be 
collected for 2020;  

WHEREAS,  the City has determined that the Annual Service Plan reflects the 
amount of the Annual Installment of the Assessments, previously levied pursuant to 
Ordinance No. 2015-02; and  

WHEREAS, a written notice of the date, hour, place and subject to this meeting of 
the City Council was posted at a place convenient to the public for the time required by 
law preceding this meeting, as required by the Open Meetings Act, Chapter 551, Texas 
Government Code, as amended, and that this meeting has been open to the public as 
required by law at all times during which this Ordinance and the subject matter hereof has 
been discussed, considered, and formally acted upon.   

 

 



 
 

013233.000003\4843-4186-8602.v5 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
MONTGOMERY, TEXAS: 

Section 1. Terms. 

Terms not otherwise defined herein are defined in the Annual Update to the Service 
and Assessment Plan attached hereto as Exhibit A (the "Annual Service Plan"). 

Section 2. Findings. 

The findings and determinations set forth in the preambles are hereby incorporated 
by reference for all purposes. The governing body of the Municipality hereby finds, 
determines, and ordains, as follows: 

(a) The Annual Service Plan should be approved; 

(b) The Assessment Roll in the form attached as Appendix C to the 
Annual Service Plan (the "Assessment Roll") should be approved as the assessment 
roll for the P.I.D. No. 1 for the 2020 tax year; and 

(c) The provisions of the Service and Assessment Plan relating to due 
and delinquency dates for the Assessments, interest on Annual Installments, interest 
and penalties on delinquent Assessments and delinquent Annual Installments of the 
Assessments, and procedures in connection with the imposition and collection of 
Assessments are now and shall remain in effect and are applicable to the collection 
of the Annual Installments identified in the Annual Service Plan. 

Section 3. Assessment Plan. 

The Annual Service Plan is hereby accepted and approved. 

Section 4. Assessment Roll. 
The Assessment Roll attached to the Annual Service Plan is hereby accepted and 

approved. 
 
Section 5. Severability. 
If any provision, section, subsection, sentence, clause, or phrase of this Ordinance, or 

the application of same to any person or set of circumstances is for any reason held to be 
unconstitutional, void, or invalid, the validity of the remaining portions of this Ordinance or 
the application to other persons or sets of circumstances shall not be affected thereby, it 
being the intent of the City Council that no portion hereof, or provision or regulation 
contained herein shall become inoperative or fail by reason of any unconstitutionality, 
voidness, or invalidity of any other portion hereof, and all provisions of this Ordinance are 
declared to be severable for that purpose. 

Section 6. Effective Date. 

This Ordinance shall take effect and become effective on upon passage and execution 
hereof. 

  

  



 
 

013233.000003\4843-4186-8602.v5 

PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED, this ____ day of August, 2020.  

 

City of Montgomery 

 
_________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
___________________________ 
City Secretary 
 
(SEAL) 
 



 

013233.000003\4843-4186-8602.v5 

EXHIBIT A 
ANNUAL SERVICE PLAN 

 
  



 

013233.000003\4843-4186-8602.v5 

 

 
CITY OF MONTGOMERY  

 
PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT NO. 1 

 
 

         SERVICE AND ASSESSMENT PLAN 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

As updated  
8-___-2020



 

013233.000003\4843-4186-8602.v5 

CITY OF MONTGOMERY  

PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT NO. 1 

SERVICE AND ASSESSMENT PLAN  

Table of Contents 

Section I Plan Description and Defined Terms 3 
Section II Property Included in PID No. 1 7 
Section III Description of Authorized Improvements 8 
Section IV Service Plan  12 
Section V Assessment Plan 14 
Section VI Terms of the Assessments 18 
Section VII       Assessment Roll 22 
Section VIII     Miscellaneous Provisions 23 

 

 

List of Appendixes 

 

Appendix A PID No. 1 Map 

Appendix B Estimated Costs of the Authorized Improvements 

Appendix C Assessment Roll 



 

9 
 

013233.000003\4843-4186-8602.v5 

Section I 
PLAN DESCRIPTION AND DEFINED TERMS 

A. Introduction 

On September 30, 2014, the City of Montgomery City Council passed Resolution No. 2014-2 approving 
and authorizing the creation of City of Montgomery Public Improvement District No. 1 ("PID No. 1") to 
finance the costs of certain public improvements for the benefit of property in PID No. 1, all of which is 
located within the corporate limits of the City of Montgomery. This Service and Assessment Plan 
addresses the improvements to be provided for PID No. 1. 

Chapter 372 of the Texas Local Government Code, "the Public Improvement Assessment Act" (as 
amended, the "PID Act"), governs the creation and operation of public improvement districts within the 
State of Texas. This Service and Assessment Plan has been prepared pursuant to Sections 372.013, 
372.014, 372.015 and 372.016 of the PID Act. According to Section 372.013 of the PID Act, a service 
plan "must cover a period of at least five years and must also define the annual indebtedness and the 
projected costs for improvements. The plan shall be reviewed and updated annually for the purpose of 
determining the annual budget for improvements." The service plan is described in Section IV of this 
Service and Assessment Plan. 

Section 372.014 of the PID Act states that "an assessment plan must be included in the annual service 
plan." The assessment plan is described in Section V of this Service and Assessment Plan. 

Section 372.015 of the PID Act states that "the governing body of the municipality or county shall 
apportion the cost of an improvement to be assessed against property in an improvement district." The 
method of assessing the PID Costs and apportionment of such costs to the property in the PID No. 1 are 
included in Section V of this Service and Assessment Plan. 

Section 372.016 of the PID Act states that "after the total cost of an improvement is determined, the 
governing body of the municipality or county shall prepare a proposed assessment roll. The roll must state 
the assessment against each parcel of land in the district, as determined by the method of assessment 
chosen by the municipality or county under this subchapter." The Assessment Roll for PID No. 1 is 
included as Appendix C of this Service and Assessment Plan. The Assessments as shown on the 
Assessment Roll are based on the method of assessment and apportionment of costs described in Section 
V of this Service and Assessment Plan. 

 Contemporaneously herewith, the City and Developer have entered into that certain Facilities and 
Creation Cost Reimbursement Agreement, dated March 24, 2015 (the “PID Reimbursement Agreement”).  
The PID Reimbursement Agreement contains a more detailed description of many of the concepts 
addressed in this Service and Assessment Plan, therefore, the two documents should be read as a whole in 
order to have a more complete understanding of the terms addressed in each of the agreements.   

B. Definitions Capitalized terms used herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them as follows: 

"Administrator" means the employee or designee of the City who shall have the responsibilities 
provided for herein or in any other agreement approved by the City Council relative to PID No. 1. 
 
"Administrative Expenses" mean the costs associated with or incident to the administration, 
organization, maintenance and operation of PID No. 1, including, but not limited to, the costs of: (i) 
creating and organizing PID No. 1, including conducting hearings, preparing notices and petitions, and all 



 

10 
 

013233.000003\4843-4186-8602.v5 

costs incident thereto, engineering fees, legal fees and consultant fees, and (ii) the annual administrative, 
organization, maintenance, and operation costs and expenses associated with, or incident and allocable to, 
the administration, organization, maintenance and operation of PID No. 1 and the Authorized 
Improvements, including the cost of each Annual Service Update Plan. Amounts collected in conjunction 
with Annual Installments for Administrative Expenses and not expended for actual Administrative 
Expenses shall be carried forward and applied to reduce Administrative Expenses in subsequent years to 
avoid the over-collection of Administrative Expenses.  
 
"Annual Collection Costs" mean the following actual or budgeted costs, as applicable, related 
to the annual collection costs of outstanding Assessments paid in installments, including the costs or 
anticipated costs of: (i) computing, levying, collecting and transmitting the Assessments (whether by the 
City, the Administrator or otherwise), (ii) the City and the Administrator in the discharge of their duties 
relative to PID No. 1, and (iii) the City in any way related to the collection of the Assessments in 
installments, including, without limitation, the administration of PID No. 1, maintaining the record of 
installments, payments and reallocations and/or cancellations of Assessments, including, without 
limitation, any associated legal expenses, the reasonable costs of other consultants and advisors and 
contingencies for such costs. Annual Collection Costs collected and not expended for actual Annual 
Collection Costs shall be carried forward and applied to reduce Annual Collection Costs in subsequent 
years to avoid the over-collection of Annual Collection Costs. 

"Annual Installment" means, with respect to each Parcel, each annual payment of the Assessment, as 
shown on the Assessment Roll attached hereto as Appendix C or an Annual Service Plan Update, and 
calculated as provided in Section VI of this Service and Assessment Plan. 

"Annual Service Plan Update" has the meaning set forth in the first paragraph of Section IV of this 
Service and Assessment Plan. 

"Assessed Property" means the property on which Assessments have been imposed as shown in the 
Assessment Roll, as the Assessment Roll is updated each year by the Annual Service Plan Update. 
Assessed Property includes Parcels within PID No. 1 other than Non-Benefited Property. 

"Assessment" means the assessment levied against Parcels within PID No. 1 imposed pursuant to the 
Assessment Ordinance and the provisions herein as shown on the Assessment Roll, subject to reallocation 
upon the subdivision of such Parcel or reduction according to the provisions herein and the PID Act. The 
Assessment for a Parcel consists of the Annual Installments to be collected in all years and includes the 
Assessments, interest on the Assessments, and Collection Costs pertaining to the Assessment. 

"Assessment Ordinance" means the ordinance approved by the City Council to approve the imposition 
of the Assessments. 

"Assessment Revenues" mean the revenues actually received by the City from Assessments. 

"Assessment Roll" means the document included in this Service and Assessment Plan as Appendix C, as 
updated, modified or amended from time to time in accordance with the procedures set forth herein and in 
the PID Act. 

"Authorized Improvements" mean those public improvements described in Appendix B of this Service 
and Assessment Plan and Section 372.003 of the PID Act which are constructed pursuant to the PID 
Reimbursement Agreement, which are to be undertaken for the benefit of property in PID No. I. 

 



 

11 
 

013233.000003\4843-4186-8602.v5 

 
"Authorized Improvement Costs" mean the actual or budgeted costs, as applicable, of all or any 
portion of the Authorized Improvements, as shown in Appendix B. 

"Benefited Property" means property within PID No. 1 that receives a benefit from the Authorized 
Improvements, which consists of all Parcels within PID No. 1 other than Non-Benefited Property. 
Benefited Property is identified on the map of PID No. 1 included an Appendix A, with a list of Parcels of 
Benefited Property included in Appendix C. 

"City" means the City of Montgomery, Texas. 

"City Council" means the duly elected governing body of the City. 

"Delinquent Collection Costs" mean interest, penalties and expenses incurred or imposed with respect 
to any delinquent Annual Installments of an Assessment in accordance with §372.018(b) of the PID Act 
and the costs related to pursuing collection of a delinquent Assessment and foreclosing the lien against the 
Assessed Property, including attorneys' fees. 

"Developer" means collectively, Ogorchock Investments, L.P., a Texas limited partnership and 
Ogorchock ATH, LLC . 

"Non-Benefited Property" means Parcels within the boundaries of PID No. 1 that accrue no special 
benefit from the Authorized Improvements, including Owner Association Property, Public Property and 
easements that create an exclusive use for a public utility provider. Property identified as Non-Benefited 
Property at the time the Assessments (i) are imposed or (ii) are reallocated pursuant to a subdivision of a 
Parcel is not assessed. Assessed Property converted to Non-Benefited Property, if the Assessments may 
not be reallocated pursuant to the provisions herein remains subject to the Assessments and requires the 
Assessments to be prepaid as provided for in Section VI. C. 2. 

"Owner Association Property" means property within the boundaries of PID No. 1 that is owned by or 
irrevocably offered for dedication to, whether in fee simple or through an exclusive use easement, a 
property owners' association. 

"Parcel" or "Parcels" means a parcel or parcels within PID No. 1 identified by either a tax map 
identification number assigned by the Montgomery County Appraisal District for real property tax 
purposes or by lot and block number in a final subdivision plat recorded in the real property records of 
Montgomery County. 

"PID Act" means Texas Local Government Code Chapter 372, Public Improvement Assessment Act, 
Subchapter A, Public Improvement Districts, as amended. 

"PID No. 1" means City of Montgomery Public Improvement District No. 1. 
 
"PID Costs" mean the portion of the Authorized Improvement Costs to be funded by PID No. 1 as 
explained in Section III. 

"Public Property" means property within the boundaries of PID No. 1 that is owned by or irrevocably 
offered for dedication to the federal government, the State of Texas, the City, a school district, a public 
utility provider or any other public agency, whether in fee simple or through an exclusive use easement. 

 



 

12 
 

013233.000003\4843-4186-8602.v5 

"Service and Assessment Plan" means this Service and Assessment Plan prepared for PID No. 1 
pursuant to the PID Act. 
 
"Trigger Date" means with respect to an unimproved parcel, the date (i) the parcel is final platted, (ii) 
one or more permanent commercial structures are constructed thereon, and (iii) the city has issued a 
certificate of occupancy for such completed permanent structure(s); however, such date shall not be prior 
to September 1, 2018.  
 
 

Section II 
PROPERTY INCLUDED IN THE PID 

PID No. 1 is located within the corporate limits of the City of Montgomery, Texas and contains 
approximately 86.814 acres of land.  A map of the property within PID No. 1 is shown on Appendix A to 
this Service and Assessment Plan. The property within PID No. 1 is proposed to be developed with 
warehouses or office warehouses. 

Table II-A  
Proposed Commercial Development 

Description No. of Platted/Improved  Acres 
Various Commercial Reserves 72  

The current Parcels in PID No. I are shown on the Assessment Roll and the map included as Appendix A. 

The estimated number of Platted/Improved Acres at the build-out of PID No. 1 is estimated to be as 
follows:  

 72 net acres of commercial reserves (excluding road right-of-way). 
 

Section III 
DESCRIPTION OF THE AUTHORIZED IMPROVEMENTS 

Section 372.003 of the PID Act defines the improvements that may be undertaken by a municipality or 
county through the establishment of a public improvement district, as follows: 

372.003. Authorized Improvements 

(a) If the governing body of a municipality or county finds that it promotes the interests of 
the municipality or county, the governing body may undertake an improvement project 
that confers a special benefit on a definable part of the municipality or county or the 
municipality's extraterritorial jurisdiction. A project may be undertaken in the 
municipality or county or the municipality's extraterritorial jurisdiction. 

(b) A public improvement may include: 

( i)  landscaping; 

( i i )  erection of fountains, distinctive lighting, and signs; 

(iii)acquiring, constructing, improving, widening, narrowing, closing, or rerouting of 



 

13 
 

013233.000003\4843-4186-8602.v5 

sidewalks or of streets, any other roadways, or their rights-of way; 

(iv) construction or improvement of pedestrian malls; 

(v) acquisition and installation of pieces of art; 

(vi) acquisition, construction, or improvement of libraries; 

(vii) acquisition, construction, or improvement of off-street parking facilities; 

(viii) acquisition, construction, improvement, or rerouting of mass transportation 
facilities; 

(ix) acquisition, construction, or improvement of water, wastewater, or drainage 
facilities or improvements; 

(x) the establishment or improvement of parks; 

(xi) projects similar to those listed in Subdivisions (i)-(x); 

(xii) acquisition, by purchase or otherwise, of real property in connection with an 
authorized improvement; 

(xiii) special supplemental services for improvement and promotion of the district, 
including services relating to advertising, promotion, health and sanitation, 
water and wastewater, public safety, security, business recruitment, 
development, recreation, and cultural enhancement; and 

(xiv) payment of expenses incurred in the establishment, administration and operation of the 
district. 

 
After analyzing the public improvement projects authorized by the PID Act, the City has determined that 
the Authorized Improvements as described in Appendix B and shown on the diagram included as 
Appendix C should be undertaken by the City for the benefit of the property within PID No. 1. The 
estimated Authorized Improvement Costs are shown by Table III-A. 

Table III-A  
Estimated Authorized Improvement Costs 

Authorized Improvements   

Total PID No. 
1 Estimated 

Cost 
Improvements     

Roadway improvements   $2,766,910 
Water distribution system improvements   421,150   
Storm sewer collection system improvements   132,487 
Wastewater collection system improvements   563,752 
Engineering, surveying   440,319 
Soft costs including city, professional and 
miscellaneous fees   119,200 

 FM 1097 widening, striping, TxDot   131,528 



 

14 
 

013233.000003\4843-4186-8602.v5 

General contingency   355,505 
                 Subtotal:   4,930,851 

    

Estimated PID Creation Costs   $50,000 

Total Estimated Authorized Improvement Costs  $4,980,851 
 

 
The costs shown in Table III-A are current estimates and may be revised in Annual Service Plan Updates. 

The Authorized Improvements include on-site improvements and limited off-site improvements. 

On-site Improvements 

The on-site roadway improvements include: 
Summit Park Drive and other internal streets – The project consists of construction approximately 
4,900 linear feet of 24’ wide concrete streets (8” concrete) with 6’ shoulders (6” concrete) on each 
side within a dedicated street right-of-way inside PID No. 1. 

The on-site water distribution system improvements consist of approximately 8,400 linear feet of 12-inch 
water line within the proposed street right-of-ways and easements within PID No. 1. The water lines will 
connect to an existing City of Montgomery main along the south side of FM 109. 

The on-site storm sewer collection system improvements include 

The onsite storm sewer collection systems include approximately 4,900 linear feet of ditch cut in within 
the proposed street right-of-way inside PID No. 1 to direct flow to the existing creeks within the 
development.  

The on-site wastewater collection system improvements consist of approximately 5,000 linear feet of 8-
inch wastewater lines within the proposed street right-of-ways within PID No. 1. A portion of these lines 
will connect to a proposed lift station using approximately 650’ linear feet of 4” force main to pump the 
wastewater to a proposed sanitary main.  All proposed lines will ultimately connect to an existing main on 
the south side of FM 1097. 

Off-site Improvements  

The offsite roadway improvements include a portion of FM 1097 being re-striped for a turn lane to allow 
safe access into the proposed Summit Park Drive.  

Additional details of the Authorized Improvements are shown in Appendix B attached to this Service and 
Assessment Plan.  

Table III-B shows the allocation of the Authorized Improvements costs to PID No. 1. 



 

15 
 

013233.000003\4843-4186-8602.v5 

Table III-B  
Allocation of the Authorized Improvement Costs  

Authorized Improvements 
Total 

Estimated Cost 
Percentage 
Allocated 

Total PID No. 
1 Estimated 

Cost 
Improvements benefiting PID No.1    

Roadway improvements  100% $2,766,910 
Water distribution system improvements  100% 421,150 
Storm sewer collection system improvements  100% 132,487 
Wastewater collection system improvements  100% 563,752 
Engineering, surveying  100% 440,319 
Soft costs including city, professional and 
miscellaneous fees  100% 119,200 

FM 1097 widening, striping, TxDot  100% 131,528 
General contingency  100% 355,505 
 Subtotal:   4,930,851 
    

Estimated PID Creation Costs  100% 50,000 

    
Total Estimated Authorized Improvement Costs  $4,980,851 

 
The costs shown in Tables III-A and III-B are estimates and may be revised in Annual Service Plan 
Updates. The detailed costs of the Authorized Improvements are shown in Appendix B to this 
Service and Assessment Plan. Savings from one line item may be applied to a cost increase in 
another line item. These savings may be applied only to increases in costs of the Authorized 
Improvements. 

 
Section IV 

SERVICE PLAN 

A. Sources and Uses of Funds 

The PID Act requires a service plan to cover a period of at least five years. The service plan is required to 
define the annual projected costs and indebtedness for the Authorized Improvements undertaken within 
PID No. 1. As of the date of this Service and Assessment Plan approximately 15% of the Authorized 
Improvements have been constructed and funded by the Developer.  PID No. 1 will not directly fund any 
of the Authorized Improvements.  Instead, in accordance with the PID Reimbursement Agreement the 
Developer will construct the Authorized Improvements and the City will reimburse the Developer solely 
from the net proceeds of the Assessments.  The plan shall be reviewed and updated annually for the 
purpose of determining the annual budget for the Authorized Improvements. The annual update to this 
Service and Assessment Plan is herein referred to as the "Annual Service Plan Update." 

Table IV-A shows the sources. 

 



 

16 
 

013233.000003\4843-4186-8602.v5 

Table IV-A 
Sources and Uses of Funds 

Sources of Funds: 
Reimbursed by 

the PID 
Not Reimbursed 

by the PID Total 
Funded By Developer: 
 $3,000,000 

 
     $1,980,851 $4,980,851 

Uses of Funds: 
   

Construction Costs: $2,950,000 $1,980,851 

 

  Creation Costs:    
Costs paid by Developer: $50,000 $0  
    Total:   $4,980,851  

This sources and uses of funds table is subject to revision and the actual sources and uses of funds for any 
line item may be different than shown above. The sources and uses of funds shown in Table 1V-A shall 
be updated each year in the Annual Service Plan Update to reflect any budget revisions or actual costs of 
the Authorized Improvements. 
 
B. Annual Costs and Indebtedness 

The annual projected costs and annual projected indebtedness is shown by Table 1V-B. The annual 
projected costs and indebtedness is subject to revision and shall be updated each year in the Annual 
Service Plan Update to reflect any changes in the PID Costs expected for each year and the cumulative 
amounts owed to the Developer.  Notwithstanding the preceding, the Developer shall be reimbursed 
solely from the net proceeds (after payment of all costs of the City) of the Assessments which will be 
significantly less than total projected costs of the Authorized Improvements. 

Table IV-B  
Annual Projected Costs and Indebtedness 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

[Remainder of page left intentionally blank] 
 
 
 

Year Annual  
Projected Costs 

2015 $2,054,355 
2016  
2017  
2018  
2019 
2020 
2021 
2022 
2023 

$990,964 
 

$1,953,442 
 

Total $4,998,761 



 

17 
 

013233.000003\4843-4186-8602.v5 

Section V 
ASSESSMENT PLAN 

A. Introduction 

The PID Act requires the City Council to apportion the PID Costs on the basis of special benefits 
conferred upon the property because of the Authorized Improvements. The PID Act provides that the PID 
Costs may be assessed: (i) equally per front foot or square foot; (ii) according to the value of the property 
as determined by the governing body, with or without regard to improvements on the property; or (iii) in 
any other manner that results in imposing equal shares of the cost on property similarly benefited. The 
PID Act further provides that the governing body may establish by ordinance or order reasonable 
classifications and formulas for the apportionment of the cost between the municipality and the area to be 
assessed and the methods of assessing the special benefits for various classes of improvements. Section V 
of this Service and Assessment Plan describes the special benefit received by each Parcel of Assessed 
Property as a result of the Authorized Improvements, provides the basis and justification for the 
determination that this special benefit exceeds the amount of the Assessments, and establishes the 
methodology by which the City Council allocates the special benefit of the Authorized Improvements to 
Parcels in a manner that results in equal shares of the PID Costs being apportioned to Parcels similarly 
benefited. The determination by the City Council of the assessment methodology set forth below is the 
result of the discretionary exercise by the City Council of its legislative authority and governmental 
powers and is conclusive and binding on the Developer and all future owners within the Assessed 
Property. 

B. Special Benefit 

Benefited Property receives a benefit from the Authorized Improvements. Among the Benefited Property, 
the Assessed Property will receive a direct and special benefit from the Authorized Improvements, and 
this benefit will be equal to or greater than the amount of the Assessments. The Authorized Improvements 
(more particularly described in line-item format on Appendix B to this Service and Assessment Plan) and 
the costs incurred in the establishment, administration, and operation of the PID No. 1 shown in Table IV-
A are authorized by the Act. These improvements are provided specifically for the benefit of the Assessed 
Property. 

The owners of all of the Assessed Property has acknowledged and agreed to the determinations and 
findings as to benefits by the City Council in the Service and Assessment Plan and the Assessment 
Ordinance, specifically including the special benefit conferred on the Assessed Property by the 
Authorized Improvements, as well as any other terms and provisions within these documents, and has, 
therefore, consented to the imposition of the Assessments to pay the PID Costs. The owners are acting in 
their own interests in consenting to this imposition, because the special benefit conferred upon the 
Assessed Property by the Authorized Improvements exceeds the amount of the Assessments. 

The public improvements provide a special benefit to the Assessed Property as a result of the close 
proximity of these improvements to the Assessed Property and the specific purpose of these 
improvements of providing infrastructure for the Assessed Property. In other words, the Assessed 
Property could not be used in the manner proposed without the construction of the 



 

18 
 

013233.000003\4843-4186-8602.v5 

Authorized Improvements. The Authorized Improvements are being provided specifically to meet the 
needs of the Assessed Property as required for the proposed use of the property. 

The Assessments are being levied to provide the Authorized Improvements, which are required for the 
highest and best use of the Assessed Property (i.e., the use of the property that is most valuable, including 
any costs associated with that use). Highest and best use can be defined as "the reasonably probable and 
legal use of property, which is physically possible, appropriately supported, financially feasible, and that 
results in the highest value." (Dictionary of Real Estate Appraisal, Third Edition.) The Authorized 
Improvements are expected to be required for the proposed use of the Assessed Property to be physically 
possible, appropriately supported, financially feasible, and maximally productive. 

The Developer has evaluated the potential use of the property and has determined that the highest and 
best use of the property is the use intended and the legal use for the property as described in Section II of 
this Service and Assessment Plan. The use of the Assessed Property as described herein will require the 
construction of the Authorized Improvements. 

Funding of the PID Costs by the Developer and reimbursement of the Developer by PID No. 1 is 
determined to be the most beneficial means of providing for the Authorized Improvements. Since the 
Authorized Improvements are required for the highest and best use of the Assessed Property, and PID No. 
1 provides the most beneficial means of providing the Authorized Improvements, the Assessments result 
in a special benefit to the Assessed Property, and this special benefit exceeds the amount of the 
Assessments. This conclusion is based on and supported by the evidence, information, and testimony 
provided to the City Council. 

In summary, the Assessments result in a special benefit to the Assessed Property for the following 
reasons: 

1. The Authorized Improvements are being provided specifically for the use of the Assessed 
Property, are necessary for the proposed best use of the property and provide a special benefit to 
the Assessed Property as a result; 
 

2. The Developer has consented to the imposition of the Assessments for the purpose of providing 
the Authorized Improvements and the Developer is acting in its interest by consenting to this 
imposition; 
 

3. The Authorized Improvements are required for the highest and best use of the property; 

4. The highest and best use of the Assessed Property is the use of the Assessed Property that is most 
valuable (including any costs associated with the use of the Assessed Property); 

5. Financing of the PID Costs by PID No. 1 is determined to be the most beneficial means of 
providing for the Authorized Improvements; and, 

6. As a result, the special benefits to the Assessed Property from the Authorized Improvements will 
be equal to or greater than the Assessments. 

 



 

19 
 

013233.000003\4843-4186-8602.v5 

C. Assessment Methodology 

1. The PID Costs may be assessed by the City Council against the Assessed Property so long as the 
special benefit conferred upon the Assessed Property by the Authorized Improvements equals or 
exceeds the Assessments. The PID Costs may be assessed using any methodology that results in 
the imposition of equal shares of the PID Costs on Assessed Property similarly benefited. 
 

2. For purposes of this Service and Assessment Plan, the City Council has determined that the PID 
Costs shall be allocated to the Assessed Property equally on the basis of $41,666.66 per acre of 
platted acreage that encompasses a completed permanent structure for which the City has issued a 
Certificate of Occupancy and that such method of allocation will result in the imposition of equal 
shares of the PID Costs to Parcels similarly benefited. 
 

3. Having taken into consideration the matters described above, the City Council has determined 
that allocating the PID Costs among Parcels based on improved acreage containing a completed 
permanent structure for which the City has issued a certificate of occupancy.  Accordingly, 
Assessments are allocated to each Parcel of Assessed Property on the basis of it being fully 
developed, a final plot has been recorded, commercial structure(s) have been completed and a 
certificate of occupancy has been issued.  
 

4. The following table (Table V-A) shows the calculation of the Assessment per acre. There are a 
total of 72 acres expected to be developed and improved on the Assessed Property. The total 
Assessments, which represent the aggregate sum of the total Annual Installments, are equal to 
$3,000,000 as shown in Table IV-C. As a result the Assessment per acre is $41,666.66 as shown 
in Table V-A below. 

TABLE V-A  
Assessment per Improved Acre 

Description Assessments 
Total Amount $3,000,000.00 
Estimated total acreage 72 
Assessment per acre $41,666.66 

Table V-B in the following page shows the estimated Annual Installment per acre from the 
Trigger Date through the fifteen (15) year amortization of the Assessment.   

 

 

[Remainder of page left intentionally blank]



 

20 
 

013233.000003\4843-4186-8602.v5 

TABLE V-B  
Annual Installment per Improved Acre from Trigger Date*  

Year Principal  

   

Interest Total Payment    

Plus 
Administrative 

Expenses ** 
1 1,790.12 2,500.00 4,290.12 $50.00 
2 1,897.52 2,392.59 4,290.12 $50.00 
3 2,011.37 2,278.74 4,290.12 $50.00 
4 2,132.06 2,158.06 4,290.12  
5 2,259.98 2,030.14 4,290.12  
6 2,395.58 1,894.54 4,290.12  
7 2,539.31 1,750.80 4,290.12  
8 2,691.67 1,598.44 4,290.12  
9 2,853.17 1,436.94 4,290.12  

10 3,024.36 1,265.75 4,290.12  
11 3,205.82 1,084.29 4,290.12  
12 3,398.17 891.94 4,290.12  
13 3,602.06 688.05 4,290.12  
14 3,818.19 471.93 4,290.12  
15 4,047.28 242.84 4,290.12  

Total 41,666.66 22,685.05 64,351.80  
 

 
* The Assessment shall run from the Trigger Date and shall be amortized over fifteen annual payments 
including principal and interest at 6% per annum.  In addition, each year the City shall charge an 
Administrative Expense of $50.00 per Parcel of Assessed Property to reimburse the City for its Administrative 
Expenses.  In the event such fee for Administrative Expense is not sufficient to reimburse the City for its 
Administrative Expenses, the City shall deduct such expenses from the monies otherwise to be paid to 
Developer. The first year of the Assessment shall be levied in 2018, and shall be included in the 2018 tax bills. 
 

  ** To be determined based on number of Parcels included as Assessed Property. 
 
 

[Remainder of page left intentionally blank] 
  



 

21 
013233.000003\4843-4186-8602.v5 

Section VI 
TERMS OF THE ASSESSMENTS 

A. Amount of Assessments 

The Assessment for each Parcel is shown on the Assessment Roll, and no Assessment shall be changed 
except as authorized by this Service and Assessment Plan (including the Annual Service Plan Updates) 
and the PID Act. The Assessments shall not exceed the amount required to repay the Developer 
including interest and Collection Costs. 

B. Reallocation of Assessments  

1.  Subdivision 

Upon the subdivision of any Parcel, the Assessment for the Parcel prior to the subdivision shall 
be reallocated among the new subdivided Parcels according to the following formula: 

A = B x (C ± D) 

Where the terms have the following meanings: 

A = the Assessment for each new subdivided Parcel 
B = the Assessment for the Parcel prior to subdivision 
C = the estimated number of units to be built on each newly subdivided Parcel 
D = the sum of the estimated number of units to be built on all of the new subdivided Parcels 

The calculation of the estimated number of units to be built on a Parcel shall be performed by the 
Administrator and confirmed by the City Council based on the information available regarding 
the use of the Parcel. The estimate as confirmed shall be conclusive. The number of units to be 
built on a Parcel may be estimated by net land area and reasonable density ratios. 

The sum of the Assessments for all newly subdivided Parcels shall equal the Assessment for the 
Parcel prior to subdivision. The calculation shall be made separately for each newly subdivided 
Parcel. The reallocation of an Assessment for a Parcel may not exceed the Assessment prior to 
the reallocation and to the extent the reallocation would exceed such amount, it shall be prepaid 
by such amount by the party requesting the subdivision of the Parcels. Any reallocation pursuant 
to this section shall be reflected in an Annual Service Plan Update approved by the City Council. 

2.  Consolidation 

Upon the consolidation of two or more Parcels, the Assessment for the consolidated Parcel shall 
be the sum of the Assessments for the Parcels prior to consolidation. The reallocation of an 
Assessment for a Parcel may not exceed the Assessment prior to the reallocation and to the 
extent the reallocation would exceed such amount, it shall be prepaid by such amount by the 
party requesting the consolidation of the Parcels. Reallocation pursuant to this section shall be 
reflected in an Annual Service Plan Update approved by the City Council. 

C. Mandatory Prepayment of Assessments 
 

1. If at any time the Assessment on a Parcel exceeds the Maximum Assessment per 



 

 22 
013233.000003\4843-4186-8602.v5 

Commercial Unit calculated for the Parcel as a result of any reallocation of an 
Assessment authorized by this Service and Assessment Plan and initiated by the owner 
of the Parcel, then such owner shall pay to the City prior to the recordation of the 
document subdividing the Parcel the amount calculated by the Administrator by which 
the Assessment for the Parcel exceeds the Maximum Assessment per Commercial Unit 
for the Parcel. The City shall not approve the recordation of a plat or other document 
subdividing a Parcel without a letter from the Administrator either (a) confirming that 
the Assessment for any new Parcel created by the subdivision will not exceed the 
Maximum Assessment per Unit for each Parcel, or (b) confirming the payment of the 
Assessments, plus all Prepayment Costs, as provided for herein. 

2. If a Parcel subject to Assessments is transferred to a party that is exempt from the 
payment of the Assessment under applicable law, or if an owner causes a Parcel subject 
to Assessments to become Non-Benefited Property, the owner of such Parcel shall pay to 
the City the full amount of the Assessment on such Parcel, prior to any such transfer or 
act. 

3. The payments required above shall be treated the same as any Assessment that is due 
and owing under the Act, the Assessment Ordinance, and this Service and Assessment 
Plan, including the same lien priority, penalties, procedures, and foreclosure specified by 
the Act. 

D. Reduction of Assessments 

1. If after all Authorized Improvements have been completed, the total Authorized 
Improvement Costs is less than the total Assessments, then the Assessments and Annual 
Installments for each Parcel shall be reduced by an equal percentage such that the sum of 
the resulting reduced Assessments and Annual Installments for all Parcels equals the 
amount required to repay the Authorized Improvement Costs and interest owed thereon, 
and Collection Costs.  The Assessment for each Parcel shall be reduced by an equal 
percentage such that the sum of the resulting reduced monies owed Developer is equal to 
the outstanding principal amount of the Assessments. 

2. If all the Authorized Improvements are not undertaken, resulting in the total amount 
owed Developer being less than the total amount of Assessments, then the Assessments 
and Annual Installments for each Parcel shall be appropriately reduced by the City 
Council to reflect only the amounts required to repay Developer, including interest and 
Collection Costs.  The City Council may reduce the Assessments and the Annual 
Installments for each Parcel (i) in an - amount that represents the Authorized 
Improvements provided for each Parcel, or (ii) by an equal percentage, if determined by 
the City Council to be the most fair and practical means of reducing the Assessments for 
each Parcel, such that the sum of the resulting reduced Assessments equals the amount 
required to repay the Developer, including interest and Collection Costs. The 
Assessment for each Parcel shall be reduced pro rata to the reduction in the Assessments 
for each Parcel such that the sum of the resulting reduced Assessments is equal to the 
outstanding principal amount owed Developer. 

E. Payment of Assessments 

1.   Payment in Full 



 

 23 
013233.000003\4843-4186-8602.v5 

(a) The Assessment for any Parcel may be paid in full at any time.  

(b) If an Annual Installment has been billed prior to payment in full of an 
Assessment, the Annual Installment shall be due and payable and shall be credited 
against the payment-in-full amount. 

(c) Upon payment in full of the Assessment, the City shall deposit the payment in 
accordance with the applicable governing document; whereupon, the Assessment shall 
be reduced to zero, and the owner's obligation to pay the Assessment and Annual 
Installments thereof shall automatically terminate. 

(d) At the option of the owner, the Assessment on any Parcel may be paid in part.  
Upon the payment of such amounts for a Parcel, the Assessment for the Parcel shall be 
reduced, the Assessment Roll shall be updated to reflect such partial payment, and the 
obligation to pay the Annual Installment for such Parcel shall be reduced to the extent 
the partial payment is made. 

2.    Payment in Annual Installments 

The Act provides that an Assessment for a Parcel may be paid in full at any time. If not paid in 
full, the Act authorizes the City to collect interest and Collection Costs in Annual Installments. 
An Assessment for a Parcel that is not paid in full will be collected in Annual Installments each 
year in the amounts shown in the Assessment Roll, as updated as provided for herein, which 
include interest and Annual Collection Costs. Payment of the Annual Installments shall 
commence with tax bills mailed. 

Each Assessment shall be paid with interest of no more than six percent per annum.   The 
Assessment Roll sets forth for each year the Annual Installment for each Parcel based on an 
estimated interest rate of 6% and additional interest at the rate of 0.5% for administrative 
expenses. Furthermore, the Annual Installments may not exceed the amounts shown on the 
Assessment Roll.  

F. Collection of Annual Installments 

No less frequently than annually, the Administrator shall prepare, and the City Council shall approve, an 
Annual Service Plan Update to allow for the billing and collection of Annual Installments. Each Annual 
Service Plan Update shall include an updated Assessment Roll and a calculation of the Annual 
Installment for each Parcel. Annual Collection Costs shall be allocated among Parcels in proportion to 
the amount of the Annual Installments for the Parcels. Each Annual Installment shall be reduced by any 
credits applied, such as interest earnings on any account balances, and any other funds available to the 
City for such purpose.  Annual Installments shall be collected by the City in the same manner and at the 
same time as ad valorem taxes and shall be subject to the same penalties, procedures, and foreclosure 
sale in case of delinquencies as are provided for ad valorem taxes of the City. The City Council may 
provide for other means of collecting the Annual Installments to the extent permitted under the PID Act. 
The Assessments shall have lien priority as specified in the Act. 

Any sale of property for nonpayment of the Annual Installments shall be subject to the lien established 
for the remaining unpaid Annual Installments against such property and such property may again be 
sold at a judicial foreclosure sale if the purchaser thereof fails to make timely payment of the non-



 

 24 
013233.000003\4843-4186-8602.v5 

delinquent Annual Installments against such property as they become due and payable. 

Section VII 
THE ASSESSMENT ROLL 

Appendix C identifies each Parcel within PID No. 1, the Benefited Property, the Assessed Property and 
Non-Benefitted Property. The Assessment Roll includes each Parcel of Assessed Property, the 
Assessment imposed on each Parcel, the Assessments, and the Annual Installments to be paid each year 
for each Parcel if the Assessment is not paid in full for any Parcel. The Assessment on each Parcel is 
based on the number of units expected to be built on each Parcel, and the Assessment per unit results, as 
explained herein. 

Each Parcel of Assessed Property has been evaluated by the City Council (based on the developable 
area, proposed Owner Association Property and Public Property, best and highest use of the property, 
and other development factors deemed relevant by the City Council) to determine, the number of 
dwelling units anticipated to be developed on a Parcel. Each dwelling unit is then multiplied by the 
Assessment per unit set forth in Table V-B of this Service and Assessment Plan, and the total of such 
amounts for all dwelling units for the Parcel shall constitute the "Assessment" for the Parcel as set forth 
on the Assessment Roll. The Assessment Roll shall be updated upon the preparation of each Annual 
Service Plan Update to reflect, for each Parcel, subdivisions, consolidations, prepayments, and 
reductions authorized by this Service and Assessment Plan. 

The Administrator shall prepare, and the City Council shall review and approve, annual updates to the 
Assessment Roll as the Annual Service Plan Update to reflect the following matters, together with any 
other changes helpful to the Administrator or the City and permitted by the Act: (i) the identification of 
each Parcel as Benefited Property, Assessed Property, and NonBenefitted Property; (ii) the Assessment 
for each Parcel, including any adjustments authorized by this Service and Assessment Plan or in the 
Act; (iii) the Assessment for each Parcel, including any adjustments authorized by this Service and 
Assessment Plan or in the Act; (iv) the Annual Installment for the Parcel •for the year (if the 
Assessment is payable in installments); and (v) payments of the Assessment, if any, as provided by 
Section VI.0 of this Service and Assessment Plan. 

 
Section VIII 

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

A. Administrative Review 

An owner of an Assessed Parcel claiming that a calculation error has been made in the Assessment Roll, 
including the calculation of the Annual Installment, shall send a written notice describing the error to 
the City not later than thirty (30) days after the date any amount which is alleged to be incorrect is due 
prior to seeking any other remedy. The Administrator shall promptly review the notice, and if necessary, 
meet with the Assessed Parcel owner, consider written and oral evidence regarding the alleged error and 
decide whether, in fact, such a calculation error occurred. 

If the Administrator determines that a calculation error has been made and the Assessment Roll should 
be modified or changed in favor of the Assessed Parcel owner, such change or modification shall be 
presented to the City Council for approval, to the extent permitted by the Act. A cash refund may not be 
made for any amount previously paid by the Assessed Parcel owner (except for the final year during 
which the Annual Installment shall be collected or if it is determined there are sufficient funds to meet 
the expenses of the PID No. 1 for the current year), but an adjustment may be made in the amount of the 



 

 25 
013233.000003\4843-4186-8602.v5 

Annual Installment to be paid in the following year. The decision of the Administrator regarding a 
calculation error relating to the Assessment Roll may be appealed to the City Council. Any amendments 
made to the Assessment Roll pursuant to calculation errors shall be made pursuant to the PID Act. 

The decision of the Administrator, or if such decision is appealed to the City Council, the decision of the 
City Council, shall be conclusive as long as there is a reasonable basis for such determination. This 
procedure shall be exclusive and its exhaustion by any property owner shall be a condition precedent to 
any other appeal or legal action by such owner. 

B. Termination of Assessments 

Each Assessment shall be extinguished on the date the Assessment is paid in full, including unpaid 
Annual Installments and Delinquent Collection Costs, if any. After the extinguishment of an 
Assessment and the collection of any delinquent Annual Installments and Delinquent Collection Costs, 
the City shall provide the owner of the affected Parcel a recordable "Notice of Cancellation of PID No. 
1 Assessment." 

C. Amendments 

The City Council reserves the right to the extent permitted by the Act to amend this Service and 
Assessment Plan without notice under the Act and without notice to property owners of Parcels: (i) to 
correct mistakes and clerical errors; (ii) to clarify ambiguities; and (iii) to provide procedures for the 
collection and enforcement of Assessments, Collection Costs, and other charges imposed by the Service 
and Assessment Plan. 

 
D. Administration and Interpretation of Provisions 

The City Council shall administer PID No. 1, this Service and Assessment Plan, and all Annual Service 
Plan Updates consistent with the P1D Act, and shall make all interpretations and determinations related 
to the application of this Service and Assessment Plan unless stated otherwise herein, such 
determination shall be conclusive. 

E. Severability 

If any provision, section, subsection, sentence, clause or phrase of this Service and Assessment Plan or 
the application of same to an Assessed Parcel or any person or set of circumstances is for any reason 
held to be unconstitutional, void or invalid, the validity of the remaining portions of this Service and 
Assessment Plan or the application to other persons or sets of circumstances shall not be affected 
thereby, it being the intent of the City Council in adopting this Service and Assessment Plan that no part 
hereof or provision or regulation contained herein shall become inoperative or fail by reason of any 
unconstitutionality, voidness or invalidity of any other part hereof, and all provisions of this Service and 
Assessment Plan are declared to be severable for that purpose. 

If any provision of this Service and Assessment Plan is determined by a court to be unenforceable, the 
unenforceable provision shall be deleted from this Service and Assessment Plan and the unenforceable 
provision shall, to the extent possible, be rewritten to be enforceable and to give effect to the intent of 
the City. 



 

013233.000003\4843-4186-8602.v5 

Appendix A 

MAP OF PID No. 1 
  



 

  
013233.000003\4843-4186-8602.v5 

Appendix B 

ESTIMATED COSTS OF AUTHORIZED IMPROVEMENTS 
  



 

  
013233.000003\4843-4186-8602.v5 

Appendix C 

ASSESSMENT ROLL 
CURRENT PLATTED RESERVES:     ASSESSMENT 
Reserve A – 1.238 Acres $51,583.33 

Reserve B – 2.262 Acres   $94,249.98 

Reserve C – 2.139 Acres $89,124.99 

Reserve D – 4.221 Acres $175,874.97 

Reserve E – 2.863 Acres $119,291.65 

Reserve F – 5.346 Acres $222,749.96 

 

Montgomery Summit Business Park, a subdivision of 21.227 acres recorded in Cabinet Z, Sheet Nos. 

3061-3062 File No. 2014-095246 of the Map Records of Montgomery County. 

 
Future platted reserves within the PID, which reserves will encompass approximately 56 acres.  
Assessment will run from Trigger Date on each platted reserve and be calculated based upon the acreage 
within the reserve. 
 

2020 Annual Installment for Triggered Parcles 
 

Quick Ref Bdg 
# 

Propert
y ID 

Address 
Line 1 

Zip 
Code 

Legal 
Description 

Acres PID Rate Triggered 
Acres 

City 
Admin. 
Fee 

2020 
Annual 
Installment 

R450269 B-1 7271-
00-
00200 

15349 
SUMMIT 
BUSINESS 
PARK DR 

77356 S727100 - 
Montgomery 
Summit Business 
Park, BLOCK 2, 
RES B (BLDG 
B-1 SUITE 101-
104), ACRES 
0.5655 

0.5655 2426.06 0.5655 $50.00  $2,476.06 

R450271 D 7271-
00-
00400 

22394 FM 
1097 W 

77356 S727100 - 
Montgomery 
Summit Business 
Park, BLOCK 1, 
RES D, ACRES 
4.221 

4.221 18108.60 4.2210 $50.00  $18,158.60 

R450273 F-1 7271-
00-
00600 

15498 
SUMMIT 
BUSINESS 
PARK DR 

77356 S727100 - 
Montgomery 
Summit Business 
Park, BLOCK 1, 
RES F (BLDG 
F-1, SUITE 101-
104), ACRES 
0.696 

0.696 2985.92 0.6960 $50.00  $3,035.92 

R471619 F-2 7271-
00-
00601 

15522 
SUMMIT 
BUSINESS 
PARK DR 

77356 S727100 - 
Montgomery 
Summit Business 
Park, BLOCK 1, 
RES F (BLDG 
F-2, SUITE 201-
204), ACRES 
0.696 

0.696 2985.92 0.6960 $50.00  $3,035.92 



 

  
013233.000003\4843-4186-8602.v5 

R471620 F-3 7271-
00-
00602 

15584 
SUMMIT 
BUSINESS 
PARK DR 

77356 S727100 - 
Montgomery 
Summit Business 
Park, BLOCK 1, 
RES F (BLDG 
F-3, SUITE 301-
303), ACRES 
0.517 

0.517 2217.99 0.5170 $50.00  $2,267.99 

R471621 F-4 7271-
00-
00603 

15636 
SUMMIT 
BUSINESS 
PARK DR 

77356 S727100 - 
Montgomery 
Summit Business 
Park, BLOCK 1, 
RES F (BLDG 
F-4, SUITE 401-
403), ACRES 
0.517 

0.517 2217.99 0.5170 $50.00  $2,267.99 

R471622 F-5 7271-
00-
00604 

15514 
SUMMIT 
BUSINESS 
PARK DR 

77356 S727100 - 
Montgomery 
Summit Business 
Park, BLOCK 1, 
RES F (BLDG 
F-5, SUITE 501-
503), ACRES 
0.517 

0.517 2217.99 0.5170 $50.00  $2,267.99 

R471623 F-6 7271-
00-
00605 

15556 
SUMMIT 
BUSINESS 
PARK DR 

77356 S727100 - 
Montgomery 
Summit Business 
Park, BLOCK 1, 
RES F (BLDG 
F-6, SUITE 601-
603), ACRES 
0.517 

0.517 2217.99 0.5170 $50.00  $2,267.99 

R471625 F-8 7271-
00-
00607 

15618 
SUMMIT 
BUSINESS 
PARK DR 
 

77356 S727100 - 
Montgomery 
Summit Business 
Park, BLOCK 1, 
RES F (BLDG 
F-8, SUITE 801-
804), ACRES 
0.696 
 

0.696 2985.92 0.696 $50.00 $3,035.92 
 

            18.092 57569.12 8.9425 $450.00  $38,814.40 
           

         
Total 
2020 
Assessm
ent:  

$38,814.40  

 





RESOLUTION NO. _____ 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF MONTGOMERY, TEXAS AFFIRMING 
ITS ANNUAL REVIEW OF THE POLICY FOR INVESTMENT OF 
MUNICIPAL FUNDS AND THE INVESTMENT STRATEGIES CONTAINED 
THEREIN HAS BEEN CONDUCTED AS REQUIRED BY SECTION 
2256.005(e) OF THE TEXAS GOVERNMENT CODE. 
 

WHEREAS, Chapter 226 of the Texas Government Code, commonly known as the Public Funds 

Investment Act (“Act”), requires the City Council of the City of Montgomery (“City”) to adopt a written 

policy governing the investment of its funds and funds under its control; and 

WHEREAS, the Act requires the City to adopt written investment strategies (“Strategies”) for each 

fund group or group of funds under its control; and 

WHEREAS, the City adopted a written investment policy (“Policy”) on October 25, 2005 that 

complies with the requirements of the Act; and 

WHEREAS, the City’s Policy includes investment Strategies for each fund or group of funds under 

the City’s control; and  

WHEREAS, the Act requires the City to review the Policy and Strategies on at least an annual 

basis and affirm through a Resolution that such review has occurred; and 

WHEREAS, any changes to the Policy of the Strategies are required by the Act to be included in 

this Resolution. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

MONTGOMERY, TEXAS THAT: 

Section 1.  The City Council hereby affirms that it has reviewed the Policy and the Strategies 

attached, amending Section 2. Appointment of Investment Officer to add Ghia Lewis of Municipal 

Accounts; included and attached as Exhibit “A” ;  

 Section 2.   The List of Authorized Brokers is attached as Exhibit “B”; and  

 Section 3.  The Resolution shall take effect immediately from and after its adoption. 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Montgomery, Texas on this the 25th 

day of August, 2020. 

      APPROVED: 
 
 
      By: _________________________________ 
ATTEST:            Sara Countryman, Mayor 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Susan Hensley, City Secretary 
 



AMENDED ORDER ESTABLISHING POLICY FOR  

INVESTMENT OF MUNICIPAL FUNDS 

AND APPOINTING INVESTMENT OFFICER 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Montgomery, Texas (the "City") is a body politic and a type A general 
law municipality of the state of Texas; and 

WHEREAS, Chapter 2256, Texas Government Code (sometimes referred to herein as the 
"Public Funds Investment Act"), requires that the governing body of the City adopt rules, regulations 
and policies governing the investment of Municipal funds and designate one or more of its officers or 
employees to be responsible for the investment of such funds; 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
MONTGOMERY, TEXAS, THAT the policies, procedures and provisions set forth herein be and are 
hereby ADOPTED, and that any order, and every amendment thereto, heretofore adopted by the City 
Council establishing policies for the investment of City funds and appointing an investment officer shall 
be and are hereby revoked and superseded effective as of August 25th, 2020, the effective date of this 
Order. 

Section 1. Purpose.  The purpose of this Order Establishing Policy for Investment of 
Municipal Funds and Appointing Investment Officer (the "Investment Policy") is to adopt rules and 
regulations which set forth the City's policies with regard to the investment and security of City funds 
or funds under the City's control. It is further the purpose of this Investment Policy to ensure that 
purchases and sales of City investments are initiated by authorized individuals, conform to investment 
objectives and regulations, and are properly documented and approved, and to provide  for the periodic 
review of City investments to evaluate investment performance and security, all as required by 
applicable law. 

Section 2. Appointment of Investment Officer; Standard of Care.  Mr. Mark M. Burton   
and Ghia Lewis of Municipal Accounts and Consulting, L.P., the City’s Bookkeeper, shall be and is 
hereby individually designated the Investment Officer of the City, responsible for the supervision of 
investment of City funds pursuant to this Investment  Policy.  In the administration of his or her duties 
hereunder, the City's Investment Officer shall exercise the judgment and care, under prevailing 
circumstances, that a person of prudence, discretion and intelligence would exercise in the management 
of his or her own affairs, not for speculation, but for investment, considering the probable safety of 
capital and the probable income to be derived; however, the City Council of the City shall retain   
ultimate responsibility as fiduciaries of the City's assets. The City Council, Tax Assessor-Collector, 
Financial Advisor and other consultants shall be authorized to assist the Investment Officer in the 
carrying out of the duties of Investment Officer. 

 

 

Section 3. Appointment   of Investment   Officer   and   Tax Assessor-Collector for 
Investment of City Funds.  The City Council hereby designates the City's Investment Officer as the 



authorized representative of the City to (a) invest and reinvest the funds of the City; (b) withdraw City 
funds from appropriate accounts of the City for the investment of same in accordance with the terms of 
this Investment Policy; and (c) arrange for adequate security for uninsured deposits or funds of the City 
pursuant to and in compliance with a Public Funds Depositor Collateral Security Agreement which shall 
be substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit "B," and to execute said Agreement(s) and any 
documentation required in connection therewith on behalf of the City. To the extent that the City's Tax 
Assessor- Collector is required to perform any of the functions set forth in (a), (b) or (c) above, the Tax 
Assessor-Collector shall do so in accordance with the provisions of the Public Funds Investment Act 
and this Investment Policy, and under the supervision of and in consultation with the City's Investment 
Officer. 

Section 4. Authority and Duties of Investment Officer.  The following rules shall apply 
to the City's Investment Officer: 

A. The City Council hereby instructs the Investment Officer for the City to maintain the 
investments of the City in a manner consistent with the rules and regulations set forth in 
this Investment Policy and the Public Funds Investment Act, as amended. 

B. No persons, other than those designated in Section 3 above, may deposit, invest, transfer, 
withdraw or otherwise manage City funds without express written authority of the City 
Council. 

C. The Investment Officer for the City shall invest and reinvest City funds only in those 
investments authorized under this Investment Policy or by the City Council, and only in 
the name of and solely for the account of "City of Montgomery, Texas". The Investment 
Officer for the City shall be authorized to wire transfer funds of the City only (1) for the 
purchase of investments solely in the name of "City of Montgomery, Texas", (2) for the 
transfer of all or any portion of the principal of or interest earnings or profits or gains on 
any investment of the City to one or more previously authorized and established accounts 
of "City of Montgomery, Texas", (3) for the transfer of City funds to any paying agent 
of the City for the payment of principal and semiannual interest payments on any 
outstanding bonds of the City and for the payment of paying agent fees relative to same, 
or (4) for other purposes, such as the payment of City bills, pursuant to a resolution or 
other express written instructions of the City Council. 

D. The Investment Officer for the City shall, not later than the first anniversary of the date 
the Investment Officer takes office or assumes such duties, attend a training session of 
at least should this not be 10 hours of instruction relating to the Investment Officer's 
responsibilities under the Public Funds Investment Act, as amended, from an 
independent source approved by the City Council and thereafter shall attend at least ten 
hours within each two year period after the first year. Such investment training must 
include education in investment controls, security risks, diversification of investment 
portfolio, strategy risks, market risks, and compliance with the provisions of the Public 
Funds Investment Act, as amended. 

E. Not less frequently than each fiscal quarter, the City's Investment Officer shall prepare 
and submit to the City Council a written report of investment transactions for all invested 
funds of the City for the preceding reporting period. Such report must (I) describe in 



detail the investment position of the City on the date of the report; (2) be prepared by the 
Investment Officer for the City; (3) be signed by the Investment Officer of the City; (4) 
contain a summary statement, prepared in compliance with generally accepted 
accounting principles, of each pooled fund group, if any has been created by the City, 
that states the beginning market value for the reporting period, additions and changes to 
the market value during the period, and ending market value for the period, and fully 
accrued interest for the reporting period; (5) state the book value and market value of 
each separately invested asset of the City at the beginning and at the end of the reporting 
period by the type of asset and fund type invested; (6) state the maturity date of each 
separately invested asset that has a maturity date; 7) state the account or fund or pooled 
group fund, if the City has any, for which each individual investment was acquired; and 
(8) state the compliance of the City's investment portfolio as it relates to the investment 
strategy for each account of the City as set forth in this Investment Policy and relevant 
provisions of the Public Funds Investment Act, as amended. Such report must be 
presented to the City Council within a reasonable period of time after the end of each 
fiscal quarter. If the City invests in other than (i) money market mutual funds, (ii) 
investment pools or (iii) accounts offered by its depository bank in the form of 
certificates of deposit, or money market accounts or similar accounts, all of the type 
authorized under Section 6 of this Investment Policy, the reports prepared under this 
Section 4.E. shall be formally reviewed at least annually by an independent auditor, and 
the result of such review shall be reported to the City Council by that auditor. 

F. In the event City funds are invested or reinvested in Certificates of Deposit, the 
Bookkeeper or Tax Assessor-Collector, as applicable, shall solicit bids from at least two 
(2) bidders, either orally, in writing, electronically or in any combination of those 
methods, for each such investment. 

G. All purchases of investments, except investments in investment pools or in mutual funds, 
shall be made on a delivery versus payment basis. 

H. Not less frequently than each fiscal quarter, and as close as practicable to the end of such 
reporting period, the City's Investment Officer shall determine the market value of each 
City investment. Such market values shall be included in the written reports submitted 
to the City Council pursuant to Section 4.E hereinabove. The following methods shall 
be used: 

(1)  Certificates of deposit shall be valued at their face value plus any accrued but 
unpaid interest. 

(2) Shares in money market mutual funds and investment pools, if any, shall be 
valued at par plus any accrued but unpaid interest. 

(3) Other investment securities may be valued in any of the following ways: 

(a) The lower of two bids for such security obtained from qualified securities 
brokers/dealers with whom the City may engage in investment 
transactions; 



(b) The  average  of  the  bid  and  asked  prices  for  such  security  as 
published in The Wall Street Journal or The New York Times; 

(c) The bid price for such security published by any nationally recognized 
security pricing service; or 

(d)   The market value quoted by the seller of the security. 

I.  A written copy of the City's Investment Policy must be presented to any person offering 
to engage in an investment transaction with the City and to any investment management 
firm under contract with the City for the investment and management of its funds. The 
"qualified representative" of the business organization offering to engage in an 
investment transaction with the City or an investment management firm shall execute a 
written instrument in a form acceptable to the City substantially to the effect that the 
business organization or firm has received and reviewed the Investment Policy of the 
City and acknowledges that such business organization or firm has implemented 
reasonable procedures and controls in an effort to preclude investment transactions 
conducted between the  City  and  such organization or firm that are not authorized by 
the City's Investment Policy, except to the extent that such authorization is dependent on 
an analysis of the makeup of the City's entire investment portfolio or requires an  
interpretation  of  subjective investment standards. The City's Investment Officer may 
not acquire or otherwise obtain any authorized investment described in Section 6 hereof 
from a person who has not delivered to the City the written statement acknowledging 
receipt of this Investment Policy in a form substantially similar to that attached hereto  
as Exhibit "A" (the "Certificate of Compliance"). For purposes of this Section 4.1., the 
"qualified representative" of a business organization offering to engage in an investment 
transaction with the City means a person who holds a position with a business 
organization, who is authorized to act on behalf of the business organization, and who is 
one of the following: 

(1) for a business organization  doing business that is regulated by or 
registered with a securities commission, a person who is registered under 
the rules of the National Association of Securities Dealers; 

(2) for a state or federal bank, a savings bank, or a state or federal credit 
union, a member of the loan committee for the bank or branch of the 
bank or a person authorized by corporate resolution to act on behalf of 
and bind the banking institution; 

or 

(3)  for an investment pool, the person authorized to sign the written 
instrument on behalf of the investment pool by the elected official or 
board with authority to administer the activities of the investment pool. 

The "qualified representative" of an investment management firm under 
contract with the City for the investment and management of its public funds 
is a person who is an officer or principal of such firm. 



J. The Investment Officer for the City shall disclose in writing to the City Council any (i) 
"personal business relationship" that they may have with a business organization offering 
to engage in an investment transaction with the City, or (ii) any relationship within the 
second degree by affinity or consanguinity, as determined by Chapter 573, Texas 
Government Code, as amended, to any individual seeking to sell an investment to the 
City. Any written disclosure statement filed with the City Council by the Investment 
Officer pursuant to this section must also be filed with the Texas Ethics Commission. 
For purposes of this Section 4.J., the Investment Officer has a "personal business 
relationship" with a business organization if: 

(1) the Investment Officer owns ten  percent or more of the voting stock or 
shares of the business organization or owns $5,000 or more of the fair 
market value of the business organization; 

(2) funds received by the Investment Officer from the business organization 
exceed ten percent of the Investment Officer's gross income for the 
previous year; or 

(3) the Investment Officer has acquired from the business organization 
during the previous year investments with a book value of $2,500 or 
more for their personal account. 

K.  In conjunction with the City's annual financial audit, a compliance audit of management 
controls on investments and adherence to this Investment Policy must be performed. In 
connection with said compliance audit, the City Council shall review on an annual basis 
this Investment Policy and its investment strategies. In connection with said annual 
review, the City Council shall adopt a written resolution stating that it has reviewed this 
Investment Policy and the investment strategies set forth herein, and shall indicate in 
said resolution either the continuance of this Investment Policy without amendment or 
the changes made to the Investment Policy and/or the investment strategies herein. 

Section 5. General Investment Principles and Objectives.  All investments of City funds or 
funds under the City's control shall be made in accordance with the following general rules, regulations 
and policies: 

A.  Any moneys in any fund of the City or in any fund established by the City Council in 
connection with the authorization of the City's bonds, including, but not limited to, 
proceeds from the sale of such bonds, which funds are not required for the payment of 
obligations due or to become due immediately, shall be invested and reinvested, from 
time to time, only in the authorized investments specified in Section 6 hereunder; 
provided, however, that all such investments shall be secured in the manner provided 
for the security of the funds of municipalities of the State of Texas (The Public Funds 
Collateral Act, Chapter 2257, Texas Government Code, as amended) or in such other 
manner as may be authorized by law from time to time and otherwise suitable for the 
City's needs. 

 B. The policy of the City is to invest City funds only in instruments which further the 
following investment objectives of the City stated in order of importance: (1) 
preservation and safety of principal; (2) liquidity; and (3) yield. The City will 



continuously attempt to diversify its portfolio to reduce risks. The type, conditions and 
maturity date of City investments shall be consistent with the cash flow needs and 
operating requirements of the City, as determined from time to time by the City Council, 
and consistent with the investment strategy for each City account as set forth in Section 
7 hereunder; provided, however, that in no event shall the maximum allowable stated 
maturity of any individual investment owned by the City exceed two (2) years, unless 
otherwise specifically set forth in this Investment Policy. 

C. If invested in certificates of deposits, the City's funds shall be secured, to the extent that 
such funds are not insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or the National 
Credit Union Share Insurance Fund, by the pledge to the City of certain types of 
securities, as determined in the sole discretion of the City, which under the laws of the 
State of Texas may be used to secure the deposits of municipalities, pursuant to and in 
compliance with a Public Funds Depositor Collateral Security Agreement which shall 
be substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit "B", the terms and conditions of 
which are incorporated herein by reference (the "Public Funds Depositor Collateral 
Security Agreement"). 

D. Securities pledged to the City shall be pledged pursuant to and in compliance with a 
Public Funds Depositor Collateral Security Agreement to be entered into by and between 
the City and the institution(s) pledging such securities. Securities pledged to the City 
shall either be deposited and held in safekeeping at the trust or safekeeping department 
of a commercial banking institution located in the State of Texas not affiliated with the 
pledging institution(s) or a federal home loan bank, or shall be held in a restricted 
securities account, joint safekeeping account or other similar account in a branch of the 
Federal Reserve Bank pursuant to any and all applicable regulations, operating circulars, 
bulletins and policies of the Federal Reserve Bank, including the terms and conditions 
of any applicable forms or agreements, as may exist now or hereafter be enacted, 
promulgated or issued by the Federal Reserve Bank. The City's Investment Officer and 
Tax Assessor-Collector shall, within the limits of business practicality and consistent 
with the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Statement of Policy dated March 23, 
1993, (or any subsequent applicable Statement of Policy issued by the FDIC) relative to 
the securing of public funds, ensure that the City's uninsured funds are at all times 
secured as required by the Public Funds Collateral Act (Chapter 2257, Texas 
Government Code, as amended) and in the manner set forth in the Public Funds 
Depositor Collateral Security Agreement. The City's Investment Officer and Tax 
Assessor-Collector are hereby authorized to execute Public Funds Depositor Collateral 
Security Agreements and any agreements, documents or forms required by the Federal 
Reserve Bank on behalf of the City, as and when required, and to approve the substitution 
of securities pledged to the City as collateral pursuant to and in the manner set forth in 
any Public Funds Depositor Collateral Security Agreement entered into by the City. 

E. The City Council recognizes that, within the framework of the above rules, decisions 
must be made concerning the type and duration of each investment transaction, and that 
such decisions are best made by the person responsible for implementing the transaction, 
based upon the facts and .circumstances prevailing at the time. As a guide to making 
such decisions, it is hereby declared the policy of the City Council that priority should 



be given to proper security of the City's funds over maximizing the yield on investments. 
Furthermore, in cases where the rate of return on an investment security offered by 
competing banking institutions are substantially equivalent, the City's Investment 
Officer shall give preference to those investments and investment institutions offering 
the greatest degree of administrative convenience and proximity, flexibility of 
investment arrangements and/or similar intangible benefits and community goodwill. 

F. Except as herein provided, nothing herein shall be deemed or construed to authorize the 
withdrawal, expenditure or appropriation of funds of the City except by check or draft 
signed by three (3) members of the City Council, or as otherwise provided by applicable 
statutes or the resolutions, rules, regulations, policies, orders or proceedings of the City 
Council. Furthermore, the City Council shall retain sole responsibility for establishing 
and implementing, from time to time, this Investment Policy, and all investment 
transactions to be undertaken by the City's Investment Officer pursuant to the Investment 
Policy shall be subject to the further or more specific directions, instructions, orders, 
resolutions or actions of the City Council. 

Section 6. Authorized Investments.  The following categories of investment are authorized 
for investment of City funds: 

A. Obligations, including letters of credit, of the United States or its agencies and 
instrumentalities; 

B. Direct obligations of the State of Texas or its agencies and instrumentalities; 

C. Other obligations, the principal and interest of which are unconditionally guaranteed or 
insured by, or backed by the full faith and credit of, the State of Texas, or the United 
States or obligations that are fully guaranteed or insured by the Federal Deposit 
Insurance Corporation or by the explicit full faith and credit of the United States, Issued, 
assumed or guaranteed by the State of Israel or any of their respective agencies and 
instrumentalities 

D. Obligations of states, agencies, counties, cities, and other political subdivisions of any 
state rated as to investment quality by a nationally recognized investment rating firm not 
less than A or its equivalent;  

E. Certificates of deposit issued by a state or national bank domiciled in the State of Texas, 
a savings bank domiciled in the State of Texas, or a state or federal credit union 
domiciled in the State of Texas that are:  

(1)  Guaranteed or insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or 
its successor or the National Credit Union Share Insurance Fund or its 
successor; 

(2) Secured by obligations of the type described in Section 2256.010(2), 
Texas Government Code, as amended, or 

(3) secured in any other manner and amount provided by law for deposits of 
the City pursuant to a Public Funds Depositor Collateral Security 
Agreement approved and executed by the City; 



F. Commercial paper with a stated maturity of 270 days or fewer from the date of issuance 
which meets the requirements set forth in Section 2256.013, Texas Government Code, 
as amended; 

G. No-load money market mutual funds that: 

(1) are registered with and regulated by the Securities and Exchange Commission; 

(2) provide the City with a prospectus and other information required by the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. Section 78a et seq.) or the 
Investment Company Act of 1940 (15 U.S.C. Section 80a-l et seq.); 

 
(3) have a dollar-weighted average stated maturity of 90 days or fewer; and 

(4) include in their investment objectives the maintenance of a stable net asset value 
of $1.00 for each share; 

H. Investment pools which meet  the requirements set forth in Section and Section 
2256.019, Texas Government Code, as amended; and 

I. Fully collateralized repurchase agreements meeting the requirements set forth in Section 
2256.011, Texas Government Code, as amended, provided that the maximum maturity 
of same shall not exceed seven (7) days.  

Section 7. Investment Strategies.  City investments shall be made upon the evaluation of 
the specific investment objectives and strategies of each account of the City, with the primary objective 
for the selection of any City investment being the understanding of the suitability of such investment to 
the financial requirements of the City. The City's investment strategy for each of its accounts is as 
follows: 

A.  Operating/General Account:  The operating/general account is used for all operations 
and maintenance needs of the City and funds therein shall be invested to meet the 
operating and cash flow requirements of the City as determined by the City Council. The 
highest priorities for this account are the liquidity and marketability of an investment if 
the need arises to liquidate the investment before its maturity. Of equal importance is the 
preservation and safety of the principal of investments in the operating account. When 
these priorities are met, the yield on investments held in the operating/general account 
will next be considered. 

B. Debt Service/Bond Fund Account; The City's debt service/bond fund account is used to 
pay the City's debt service on its outstanding bonds. The highest priority for this account 
is the preservation and safety of principal.   Since the City knows the amount of its debt 
service requirements and when it becomes due, investments for the debt service/bond 
fund account should be structured to coincide with the amount and timing of the debt 
service requirements. When the preservation and safety of principal and liquidity 
considerations for debt service purposes are assured, including the marketability of debt 
service/bond fund account investments in the event the need arises to liquidate an 
investment before its maturity, the yield on debt service/bond fund account investments 
should be considered. Since the amount of City funds in the debt service/bond fund 



account can be significant, diversification of the debt service/bond fund account 
investment portfolio may be necessary. The City may easily liquidate investments in an 
investment pool and therefore such investments may be appropriate in combination with 
longer term investments in the debt service/bond fund account. 

C. Capital Projects/Construction Fund Account:  The capital projects/construction fund 
account is used to pay for capital improvements of the City. The highest priority for this 
account is the preservation and safety of principal. In the event that funds held in the 
capital projects/construction fund account are for particular improvement projects that 
have been previously identified by the City Council, the City Council will have an idea 
of the   approximate time when disbursements will be required to be made from this 
account. In this situation, investments in the capital projects/construction fund account 
should be structured so that they mature or ·can be liquidated on or about the dates that 
disbursements are expected to be made. Once the safety of principal and liquidity and 
marketability of capital projects/construction fund account investments which are to 
match certain disbursement dates are assured, the yield on such investments may be 
considered. Since City funds in the capital projects/construction fund account may not 
be needed for a year or more, longer term instruments should be considered to increase 
yield. However, if funds available in  the City's capital projects/construction fund 
account are surplus construction funds  from prior bond issues or interest earnings on 
such funds and are not earmarked for specific improvement projects, but rather viewed 
by the City Council as an  emergency reserve fund for major repairs or rehabilitation 
projects, investments in the capital projects/construction fund account, at least to the 
extent that they are for emergency reserve purposes, should be kept in relatively short 
term investments that  can be easily marketed and liquidated if necessary, such as 
investment pools.   Alternatively, bond proceeds that may be deposited in the City's 
capital projects/construction fund account for reimbursement to a developer and which 
may be in the capital projects/construction fund account for only one or two days, should 
be kept in the most liquid investment available.  Investment diversification for large 
amounts of City funds that may be deposited into the capital projects/construction fund 
account for only one or two days may be achieved through the use of an investment pool. 
Since investment pools are short term in nature, they would normally be used for City 
funds in this account only if the City knows that it will be dispersing funds in a relative 
short period of time. However, on some occasions the yield on investment pools is higher 
than on longer term investments, so their use may be optimal for funds in the capital 
projects/construction fund account. 

Section 8. Miscellaneous. 

A. In the event of any conflict or inconsistency between the terms of this Investment Policy 
and applicable requirements of law, such conflict or inconsistency will be resolved in 
favor of the more restrictive of this Investment Policy or the applicable requirements of 
law. In the event of any ambiguity or uncertainty as to the intent and application of any 
part, section/ paragraph or provision hereof, a written request for clarification or 
approval of a proposed action describing such circumstances shall be submitted to the 
City Council for a decision as to a proper course of action. 



B. Investments which are prohibited by Government Code chapter 2270 Prohibition on 
Investing Public Money in Certain Investments and SB 253 (85th Legislature Regular 
Session). That chapter deals primarily with entities conducting business with Sudan, Iran 
or Foreign Terrorist Organizations. Such “Listed Companies” are prohibited 
Investments. The Texas Comptroller will regularly update the list of Listed Companies. 
The Investment Officer will review the updated list when made available by the 
Comptroller and will follow the requirements of SB 253 with respect to any existing 
investments in Listed Companies. 

B. The rules, regulations and policies set forth herein shall be and remain in full force and 
effect unless and until amended, revised, rescinded or repealed by action of the City 
Council. The City Council specifically reserves the right to change, alter or amend any 
provision of this Investment Policy at any time. 

C. The provisions of this Investment Policy are severable, and if any provision or part of 
this Investment Policy or the application thereof to any person or circumstances shall 
ever be held by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional for 
any reason, the remainder of this Investment Policy and the application of such provision 
or part of this Investment Policy shall not be affected thereby. 

The Mayor is authorized to execute and the Secretary to attest this Investment Policy on 
behalf of the City Council. 

PASSED and ADOPTED this the 25th day of August, 2020. 

     CITY OF MONTGOMERY, TEXAS 

 

 

     By: ______________________________ 
            Sara Countryman, Mayor 
 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 

 Susan Hensley, City Secretary 



2020

ABC Bank New First National Bank
Allegiance Bank North Star Bank of Texas
Amegy Bank of Texas, N.A. Omni Bank N.A.
Austin Capital Bank Pioneer Bank
BB & T Plains Capital Bank
BancorpSouth Plains State Bank
Bank of America N.A. Prosperity Bank
Bank of New York- Mellon R Bank
Bank of Texas N.A. Regions Bank
BBVA USA Bank SouthStar Bank
Business Bank of Texas Southwest Securities
Cadence Bank Spirit of Texas Bank
Capital Bank of Texas State Bank of Texas
Capital Markets Group State Street Bank & Trust Co.
Capital One Stifel Nicholaus
Central Bank Tex Star Investment Pool
Chasewood Bank Texan Bank 
Citibank N.A. Texas Capital Bank N.A.
Comerica Bank Texas Class
Comerica Securities Texas Citizens Bank
Commercial State Bank Texas Exchange Bank
Community Bank of Texas Texas First Bank
Community Trust Bank Texas Gulf Bank
Coastal Securities Texas Regional Bank
East West Bank The Independent Bankers Bank
First Bank of Texas The Mint National Bank
First Citizens Bank Texas Savings Bank
First Financial Bank, N.A. Texpool/Texpool Prime
First National Bank of Texas The Right Bank for Texas
First Texas Bank Third Coast Bank
Frontier Bank of Texas Trustmark National Bank
Frost National Bank United Bank of el Paso Del Norte
Guaranty Bank & Trust United Texas Bank
Herring Bank Unity National Bank
Hometown Bank, N.A. U. S. Bank
Iberia Bank Veritex Bank
Independent Bank Wallis Bank
International Bank of Commerce Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.
Inter National Bank Wells Fargo Brokerage Services, LLC
JP Morgan Chase Wells Fargo Trust
Legacy Texas Bank Westbound Bank
Lone Star Bank West Star Bank
Lone Star Investment Pool Whitney Bank
Moody National Bank Woodforest National Bank

LIST OF AUTHORIZED BROKERS

















 

 
Development Report 

August 2020 
 

Richard Tramm, City Administrator 

Dave McCorquodale, CPM, Assistant City Administrator and  

Director of Planning & Development 

 

 

This month’s report finds the City still navigating the effects of COVID-19 and 

cautiously watching the declining infection rate in the county.  Most businesses have 

reopened to clients and customers at reduced capacity.  Residential homebuilding is 

steady relative to previous months with two new subdivisions are under development 

in the City.  Commercial development continued at a steady pace this month.  City 

staff is closely monitoring the situation to understand the implications on economic 

development within our City. 

 

  



Commercial Development 
 

KENROC Property – This 13-acre development is on the north side of SH 105 and east of 

Lone Star Pkwy.  A 16,000 sqft commercial building is along SH 105, and future plans call for a 

similar 24,000 sqft building on the north side of the property.    Discount Tire is in preliminary 

design on one of the frontage parcels.   

 

Kroger Site –Roughly 80% built out; three parcels remaining for development.  An additional 

16-acre site with utilities is available west of Kroger.   

 

Central Business District – Best Donuts and Coldwell Banker are now open along 

SH105.  Wings Over Montgomery, a new take-out wings & waffles restaurant, is renovating a 

building on FM 149 in downtown.  K Innovations Station, a digital graphics business, has opened 

on John A. Butler.  Beauty Babes, a makeup and hair salon, opened at 305 Prairie Street. 

 

Shoppes at Montgomery 

– This is a 26-acre property 

located at the southwest corner 

of SH 105 and FM 2854.  Chick-

Fil-A is open and construction is 

starting on a stand-alone 

Starbucks.  Two retail centers 

are also under construction in 

this development that will add 

approximately 10 new 

businesses to the development. 

 

   

 

 



Residential Development 

Existing homesite inventory is still available, and several new residential subdivisions are in the 

early stages of the development process.  While uncertainty exists in the market, low mortgage 

interest rates coupled with a desirable community and relatively low home prices will likely keep 

demand for new housing strong for the immediate future. 

 

• 40 new homes have been completed in 2020 (5.7 homes/month, on par with prior years) 

• 6 completed in July  

• 6 new single-family home permits issued in July 

 

 

Hills of Town Creek 

Subdivision – With a total 

of 100 single-family 

homesites, this subdivision 

immediately west of Town 

Creek Apartments off Emma’s 

Way.  59 homes are complete, 

17 are under construction, and 

24 lots are available.  Plans for 

a new 30-lot section are under 

review. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Town Creek Crossing – This addition to the Buffalo Springs Planned Development 

includes 199 residential homesites and eight commercial reserves.  Planning for the subdivision is 

in the early stages of design.  More details on the timeline for construction will be provided as 

they become available. 

 

 

 

 

Montgomery Townhomes –Plans have been submitted to the City for a 48-unit townhome 

project along Plez Morgan Drive between Lone Star Parkway and FM 1097.  The architectural 

and engineering plans are both under review.  Project updates to follow as it moves along. 

 

Terra Vista Subdivision – This is a 61-lot single-family development northeast of 

Waterstone on FM 1097. 32 homes are complete, 14 are under construction, and 15 lots are 

available. 

 



City Development Activities   

 

Texas Water Development Board Funding - The City is utilizing $2.8 million in 

TWDB funding for water and sewer infrastructure projects that include: 

• Downtown + SH105 Waterline Replacement. (City Council awarded a bid in mid-July; 

construction planned to start early in September 2020).   

• Water Plant #3 (City awarded a bid in July; construction start early October 2020).   

• Lift Station #1 (under construction; early August 2020 completion). 

• Lift Station #3 Sanitary Force Main Reroute (design complete; process on hold pending 

award of above projects to determine final funding balances) 

       

General Land Office Severe Flood Mitigation Grant – In 2018, the City was 

awarded $2.2 million from the Texas General Land Office (GLO) for flood-related damages 

associated with 2016-2018 flooding events, which included the Memorial & Tax Day floods and 

Hurricane Harvey.  A study of the Town Creek and Anders Branch watersheds on the north side 

of the City is now underway, and projects identified in the study will be implemented with a portion 

of the grant funds.  The likely areas for work under this grant have been identified and are planned 

to be modeled after getting clarification from the GLO on the project scope. 

 

HOME Grant --The City Council approved an application to be made for the State of Texas 

HOME project in mid-2018. The applicants must have income below 80% of the average income 

for the area, be the owner of the house and have a clear title to the property where the new house 

would go. The application process resulted in four city residents that qualified for new homes. The 

grant has no local match, but the MEDC has agreed to cover any incidental costs required by the 

grant. Each house includes approximately $100,000 in funding for administration and construction. 

Agreements with four residents approved under this program were signed on January 21, 2020. 

Three of the homes have started construction and are underway.  The fourth home has completed 

closing and is moving into the construction phase in the near future. 

 



 

Downtown Improvement Plan  

 

This effort is to improve the streetscape and pedestrian space in the downtown area. Planning is 

under way now, funded by the MEDC. The process will involve community input and design 

concepts were developed by Texas A&M Landscape Architecture students. Many of these concept 

drawings are being used to select a design firm for the project.  An RFQ is being prepared as a part 

of that selection process, and is expected to advertise in late August.  

 

 

Comprehensive Plan – The City held a Virtual Town Hall on July 8th to review the draft of 

the Comprehensive Plan being worked on by Texas A&M’s Community Resilience Collaborative 

and Texas SeaGrant.  The City held a series of five community meetings during 2019 and will 

incorporate the values and expectations of the community. The plan will guide public policy in 

areas such as transportation, utilities, land use, recreation and housing.  City Council will see the 

draft Comprehensive Plan in late August or early September for review. 



Businesses Opened in 2020 

 

Coldwell Banker; 21105 Eva Street, Suite 110 

Christian Brothers Automotive; 19920 Eva Street 

Chick-fil-A; 20155 Eva Street 

Best Donuts; 20998 Eva Street 

Dr. Kendra Pratt, Orthodontist; 19970 Eva Street, Suite 105 

K Innovations Station (graphic design & print services); 304 John A. Butler Street 

Beauty Babes (professional makeup and hair salon with boutique); 305 Prairie Street 

 



 
Public Works Department 
101 Old Plantersville Rd. 
Montgomery, TX 77316 

Main: 936-597-6434 Fax: 936-597-6437 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Monthly Report for July 2020 

 

Water 
- Repaired 3” main on Liberty St. at Montgomery Elementary School. 
- Activated/deactivated 15 water accounts. 
- Completed monthly cutoff list for nonpayment. 
- Completed monthly leak notification door hangers. 
- Completed monthly meter verification list. 
- Completed monthly check of idle meter list for consumption. No issues were found. 
- Completed 10 work orders for endpoint maintenance issues. 
- Completed 5 work orders for water leaks. 
- Completed 6 work orders for miscellaneous water issues. 
- Completed 4 work orders for water taps. 

 
Wastewater 

- Repaired broken sewer stub outs in Waterstone. 
- Checked for infiltration on manhole behind McDonalds. Notified property owner about broken 

concrete in parking lot in response to citizen complaints. 
- Completed 3 work orders for sewer taps. 
- Completed 1 work order for sewer-stop up. 

 
Streets/Drainage/ROW 

- Painted 5 Texas flag parking stops around town. 
- Flail mowed creek on Lone Star Bend. 
- Modified culvert safety ends on Berkley for better drainage. 
- Excavated ditch on Clepper St. between Maiden and Prairie. 
- Excavated ditch on Buffalo Springs Dr. near Lift Station 10. 
- Flail mowed ROW on Lawson and Simonton streets. 
- Reset speed hump sign on Community Center Dr. 
- Cleared storm inlets throughout the city. 
- Repaired 1 pothole. 
- Completed 0 work orders for streetlight request. 
- Completed 7 work orders for Street ROW – Ditch/Drainage. 



- Completed daily utility locates as necessary. 
- Completed daily removal of bandit signs as necessary 
- Completed monthly weed killer list. 

 
 
Building/Facility/Vehicle/Equipment Maintenance 

- Secured damaged rock wall at Community Center with construction fencing. 
- Set up Council Chambers for election. 
- Repaired front door lock flush bolt at City Hall. 
- Replaced restroom faucets at City Hall with “touchless” models. 
- Replaced engine mounts on crew truck PW1301. 
- Replaced flag clasps at Community Center. 
- Replaced AC at WWTP Public Works office. 
- Flail mowed perimeter of Water Plant 3. 
- Completed monthly light bulb check at all facilities. 
- Completed monthly check of AED’s at City Hall and in crew trucks. 
- Delivered cases of water to City Hall as requested. 
- Completed weekly cleaning of Community Center. 
- Completed change of all air filters at all facilities. 
- Completed weekly pre trip inspections of crew trucks. 
- Completed monthly check of all irrigation systems and made repairs as necessary. 
- Completed 1 work orders for street sign issues. 
- Completed 19 work orders for general-City Hall maintenance. 

 
Parks/Recreation 

- Trimmed all low limbs at Fernland Park. 
- Installed grass sod next to restrooms at Cedar Brake Park. 
- Replaced broken light pole globes at Cedar Brake Park. 
- Painted wooden parking bollards at Cedar Brake Park with Texas Flag theme. 
- Repaired Fernland Park sign at Clepper St. 
- Removed broken bench from Fernland Park. 
- Made several irrigation system repairs at Memory Park. 
- Delivered rocks, soil and gravel to Memory Park for Rotary Club projects. 
- Delivered and emptied debris trailer from Memory Park for Rotary Club. 
- Completed 46 work orders for maintenance-parks issues. 
- M/W/F cleaning of all restrooms and grounds. 
- Fernland docents reported 553 visitors and provided 33 tours for the month. 

 
 
General 

- Completed 19 work orders for maintenance-garbage issues. 
- Completed 25 work orders for maintenance-general issues. 
- Supplemental Heavy Trash day was held and was successful. 
- Delivered barricades for Thursday Sip and Stroll events. 



- Installed Texas flags at City Hall and Welcome Sign for Texas’ Birthday. 
- Completed monthly safety meeting with department and safety officer. 
- Attended bi-weekly conference calls with utility operator and engineer. 
- Attended budget meeting with city staff. 
- Attended LMC webinar. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Report prepared by: 
Mike Muckleroy 

Director of Public Works 
August 18, 2020 



                                       
 
 
 
 
 

Montgomery Police Department 
Chief Anthony Solomon 

 

Activity Report  
 

July 1, 2020 – July 31, 2020 
 

Patrol Division 
 

Calls for Service   -  139 
Total Reports    -  18 
Citations Issued   -  40 
Warnings Issued   -  128 
Arrests    -  2 
Accidents    -  8 
 
Personnel/Training 
 
Scheduled trainings in July were cancelled due to COVID-19. 
 
Investigation Division 

Total number of assigned cases to C.I.D. for the month: 3 
 
 

Breakdown by Offense Category 
 

 

DWI       2 
 
Theft       2 
 
Burglary of Motor Vehicle    1 
 
Sexual Assault     1 
 
Major Incidents  
 
No major incidents at this time 
 
 
Upcoming Events 
 
 
 
 



Traffic and Safety Initiatives 
 
We are contuining our efforts to combat traffic nuisance. With the creation of the online traffic  
form that citizens can use to report the location of traffic concerns, such as excessive speeding in 
a specific location. This data will be collected and used by our department along with current 
traffic initiatives we are currently utilizing.  
 
 
 













 

 
 
 

TOTAL REVENUE 

Utilities $169,072.88 

Permits $18,259.00 

Sign Fees $50.00 

Vendor/Golf Cart/ Etc. Permits $45.00 

Franchise Fees $2,362.74 

Insurance Claim Reimbursement- Police Patrol 
Vehicle 

$813.13 

Flags Sold $216.00 

Community Building/ Park Rentals $175.00 

Online Transaction Fees $377.50 

Police Department Donation $50.00 

Hotel Tax $280.50 

Accident Report $54.00 

Monthly Total $191,755.75 

 
 

ARREARS 

 60 Days 90 Days 120+ Days 

Number of Accounts 6 4 10 

Amount $496.01 $294.22 $1,007.85 

GRAND TOTAL: $1,798.08 

** The 120+ Days arrears have been audited and the non-service related fees have been removed. The balance 
that was written off and will be sent to collections is $25,154.98, which includes 138 accounts. This will leave 10 
accounts in the 120-Day arrears that will be reviewed for collections. 

UTILITY/GENERAL FUND REPORT – JULY 2020 



 

 
 
 

PERMITS 

Type Permit Total 

Building-Commercial 5 

Building-Residential 6 

Plumbing 5 

Irrigation 2 

Mechanical 5 

Electrical 10 

Pool 1 

TOTAL 34 

 

 

UTILITIES 

New Water Accts. 24 

Disconnected Water Accts. 18 

Total Number of Active Accts. 837 

UTILITY/GENERAL FUND REPORT – JULY 2020 



 

 
 

CITY ACCOUNT CONSUMPTION 
ACCOUNT NAME ACCT # JUNE 2020 JULY 2020 JULY 2019 

Community Building – Irrigation (01-8732-00) 10,000 5,000 12,000 
Community Building (01-0130-00) 1,000 1,000 0 

City Cemetery (01-1110-00) 0 0 0 
City Welcome Sign Irrigation (01-8733-00) 1,000 0 0 
Cedar Brake Park Irrigation (01-8736-00) 7,000 6,000 2,000 

Cedar Brake Park Restrooms (01-8735-00) 2,000 14,000 2,000 
Fernland Park (01-8737-00) 5,000 6,000 5,000 
Memory Park (01-5885-00) 126,000 100,000 99,000 

Community Building Stage Irrigation (01-6180-00) 3,000 3,000 2,000 
City Hall & Irrigation (01-6190-00) 20,000 18,000 28,000 

Homecoming Park Restrooms (01-8820-00) 0 0 1,000 
Homecoming Park Drinking Fountain (01-8738-00) 0 0 0 

Buffalo Springs Sewer Plant (01-8821-00) 2,000 2,000 1,000 
Cooling Tower Feed (01-0355-00) 126,000 91,000 7,000 

Welcome Flags (01-8734-00) 0 1,000 1,000 
 

UTILITY/GENERAL FUND REPORT – JULY 2020 

Chart Title 
 

140,000 
120,000 
100,000 

80,000 
60,000 
40,000 
20,000 

0 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

19-Jun 20-Jul 19-Jul 



 
 
 
 
 

 
City of Montgomery 

Operations Report  
July 2020 

06/18/20-07/17/20 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Page 2 of 8 
 

 
 
 
Dear City of Montgomery Council Members: 
 
 
We are pleased to provide you with the monthly operations report.  This report summarizes the 
major events that occurred during the operating month. Our mission, as always, is to assist the 
district in providing safe and reliable water to the residents. 
 
The water plants, wastewater plant and drinking water quality is checked on a daily basis.  
Wastewater collection system lift stations are checked three times a week.  Alarms are 
monitored, and our staff is on 24-hour call.  Our construction crews are minutes away from the 
City. 
 
Our operators collect and enter all facility data into Kardia.  Our operators note any issues or 
problems that are observed during the day.  Mission Control is instantly aware of the issue and 
immediately begins the resolution process.  This approach benefits our clients because decisions 
can be made based on relevant data.  
 
 
All the district’s data can be accessed on-line.  The data is username and password protected.  
The data is integrated with Kardia and updated daily.  District alerts that are generated by Kardia 
can be sent to board designated recipients. GUS appreciates the trust and confidence that the 
board has in our team. We work diligently to provide our clients with accurate and useful 
information.  
 
 
 
 
 
Michael Williams 
 
 
 
Vice President 
Gulf Utility Service 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Page 3 of 8 
 

 
 
District Alerts 
 
06/21/2020 – WWTP1, No power 
Operator found facility calling out for clarifier drive failure and blower failure due to a power 
surge in the area. Operator reset equipment and no further issues reported.   
 
06/22/2020 – Lift station 14, Pump failure 
Upon arrival operator found lift pump 2 not pumping. The pump was pulled and removed rags 
from pump Operator monitored facility.  
 
06/25/2020– Lift Station 2, High level 
Operator found facility calling out for high level and generator running. Entergy was notified to 
restore power, operator monitored facility while pumping down. 
 
06/29/2020– Lift Station 6, High level 
Operator found facility calling out for high level. Operator reset facility equipment and 
monitored.  
 
07/01/2020 – Lift Station 12, Power failure 
Upon arrival operator found facility running normal, call out due to a possible power surge. 
Operator reset auto dialer and monitored facility. 
 
07/02/2020– Lift Station 5, High wet well 
Operator found lift pump 2 calling out for high temp. Operator reset facility equipment but 
BMP was notified to clean out rags from pump. No further issues.  
 
07/07/2020– Lift Station 14, High level 
Operator found lift pump 2 at high level, the pump was pulled and removed rags from pump 
 
07/10/2020 – Lift station 9, Pump failure 
Upon arrival operator found facility calling out for pump failure due to a power surge in the 
area.  
 
07/13/2020– Lift Station 2, Variable frequency drive (VFD) failure 
Operator found lift pump 3 calling out. Operator reset alarm and monitored facility. 
 
07/17/2020 – WWTP1, No power 
Operator found facility calling out for no power. Operator reset facility equipment and 
monitored.  
 
 
 



 

Page 4 of 8 
 

 
Wastewater Plant Flow Detail 
 

 
 
 

 Flow for the month of June – July was 5,035,000 gallons   
 

 Daily peak flow June 25, 2020 was 399,000 gallons  
 

 Average Daily Flow 167,800 gallons 
 

o 42% of permitted capacity   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6/
18

/2
02

0
6/

19
/2

02
0

6/
20

/2
02

0
6/

21
/2

02
0

6/
22

/2
02

0
6/

23
/2

02
0

6/
24

/2
02

0
6/

25
/2

02
0

6/
26

/2
02

0
6/

27
/2

02
0

6/
28

/2
02

0
6/

29
/2

02
0

6/
30

/2
02

0
7/

1/
20

20
7/

2/
20

20
7/

3/
20

20
7/

4/
20

20
7/

5/
20

20
7/

6/
20

20
7/

7/
20

20
7/

8/
20

20
7/

9/
20

20
7/

10
/2

02
0

7/
11

/2
02

0
7/

12
/2

02
0

7/
13

/2
02

0
7/

14
/2

02
0

7/
15

/2
02

0
7/

16
/2

02
0

7/
17

/2
02

0

0

100000

200000

300000

400000

500000

600000
June - July Daily Effluent Trend

Daily Effluent Daily Trend



 

Page 5 of 8 
 

 
 
 
 
Discharge Limitations 
 

 Daily Average Flow 400,000 gallons (0.4 MGD) 
 2-Hour Peak Flow 833 gpm 
 CBOD daily average 10 mg/l 
 Total Suspended Solids (TSS) 15 mg/l 
 Ammonium Nitrogen (NH3) 2 mg/l 
 Chlorine Residual >1.0 mg/l < 4.0 mg/l 

 The current permit expires 06/01/2022 
 
 
Effluent 
 
TSS, DO, E.Coli, NH3N, PH sample results were all comfortable within the parameters set by the 
State of Texas. 
 
  Buffalo Springs WWTP Effluent Monitoring Report 

Effluent Permitted Values Parameter Measured Excursion 

Average Monthly T.S.S. 15 mg/l 2.44 no 

Average Monthly NH3 2 mg/l 0.47 no 

Minimal CL2 Residual 1 mg/l 1.01 no 

Max CL2 Residual 4 mg/l 3.80 no 

Rainfall for the Month 
 

4.75 inches  
  There were no excursions for the month of July 
 
 

 
 

Daily Rain High = Total Daily Rainfall 
 
 
 



 

Page 6 of 8 
 

 
 
Water Report 
 
06/18/2020-07/17/2020  
 

2020 

Well Name Recorded Flow 
MGD % of Total Rating MGD/Day YTD Pumpage 

MGD YTD % Permitted 
Value 

Remaining 
Permit % 

Well 2 0.315 2.38% 0.864 1.512 2.52% 
92.930 77.27% 

Well 3 4.927 37.20% 0.864 19.609 32.68% 

Well 4 8.004 60.43% 2.160 38.878 64.80% 90.000 56.80% 

Total 13.246 100.00% 3.888 59.999 100% 232.663   

Flushing 0.217             

Subtotal 13.029             

Sold 11.931             

% Accounted 92%             

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Accountability  
Total Water Sourced 13.246 
Flushing 0.217 

Subtotal 13.029 
Sold 11.93 
Accountability % 92% 

CONNECTIONS 
School 12 
Commercial Inside 160 
Commercial Outside 1 
Residential Inside 709 
Residential Outside 28 
Church 13 
City 15 
Hydrant 7 
Multifamily 11 
n/a 3 
Total 959 



 

Page 7 of 8 
 

 
 

 

Date Total  Well_1 Well_2 Well_3 Well_4 

AVG 11.3 0.000 0.490 5.214 5.600 

7/19/2019 12.276 0.000 0.013 6.618 5.645 

8/19/2019 17.486 0.000 0.571 10.319 6.596 

9/19/2019 19.286 0.000 3.191 13.505 2.590 

10/19/2019 16.338 0.000 0.594 11.142 4.602 

11/19/2019 10.568 0.000 0.042 4.506 6.020 

12/19/2019 7.771 0.000 0.017 1.457 6.297 

1/19/2020 7.021 0.000 0.887 1.106 5.028 

2/19/2020 7.324 0.000 0.095 2.279 4.950 

3/19/2020 8.276 0.000 0.163 3.632 4.481 

4/19/2020 7.259 0.000 0.083 1.929 5.247 

5/19/2020 9.146 0.000 0.000 2.995 6.151 

6/19/2020 10.96 0.000 0.398 3.371 7.191 

7/19/2020 13.246 0.000 0.315 4.927 8.004 

Total  146.96 0.000 6.369 67.786 72.802 
 
 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

Ground Water Production

Well 1

Well 2

Well 3

Well 4



 

Page 8 of 8 
 

 
 
 

Date Accountability  Unaccounted  
Total 

Sourced  
Water 
Sold  

Flushing/ 
Leaks 

Unbilled 
Water 

7/19/2019 82% 2.193 12.276 9.218 0.866 3.058 

8/19/2019 81% 3.340 17.486 12.548 1.598 4.938 

9/19/2019 90% 2.020 19.286 16.753 0.513 2.533 

10/19/2019 71% 4.692 16.338 11.231 0.415 5.107 

11/19/2019 99% 0.104 10.568 8.427 2.037 2.141 

12/19/2019 98% 0.120 7.771 7.474 0.177 0.297 

1/19/2020 96% 0.257 7.021 6.598 0.166 0.423 

2/19/2020 97% 0.209 7.324 6.598 0.517 0.726 

3/19/2020 97% 0.246 8.276 6.962 1.068 1.314 

4/19/2020 100% -0.017 7.259 7.084 0.192 0.175 

5/19/2020 96% 0.325 9.146 8.599 0.222 0.547 

6/19/2020 104% -0.413 10.960 11.215 0.158 -0.255 

7/19/2020 92% 1.098 13.246 11.931 0.217 1.315 
 

0
2
4
6
8

10
12
14
16
18
20
22
24

Water Accountability

Total
Sourced
Water Sold

Unbilled
Water



CHECKING ACCT PRIOR MONTH END TOTAL FUNDS
BALANCES INVESTMENTS AVAILABLE

GENERAL FUNDS
OPERATING FUND     #1017375 771,144.19$              771,144.19$                 

HOME GRANT FUNDS /COPS UNIVERSAL  #1032895 10.00$                       10.00$                          

ESCROW FUND    #1025873 -$                          -$                              

PARK FUND    #7014236 -$                          -$                              

POLICE DRUG & MISC FUND     #1025675 10,675.64$                10,675.64$                   

INVESTMENTS - GENERAL FUND    100,000.00$             100,000.00$                 

TEXPOOL - GENERAL FUND    # 00003 286,299.15$             286,299.15$                 

TEXPOOL - RESERVE FUND    # 00001 253,265.83$             253,265.83$                 

TOTAL GENERAL FUND 781,829.83$              639,564.98$             1,421,394.81$              

CONSTRUCTION FUND
BUILDING FUND     #1058528 -$                          -$                              

CONSTRUCTION ACCOUNT    #1058544 12,599.97$                12,599.97$                   

BOK Fnancial Series 2017A 121,826.72$              121,826.72$                 

BOK Fnancial Series 2017BA 1,528,335.65$           1,528,335.65$              

TEXPOOL - CONST       # 00009 697.51$                    697.51$                        

INVESTMENTS - CONSTRUCTION -$                         -$                              

TOTAL CONSTRUCTION FUND 1,662,762.34$           697.51$                    1,663,459.85$              
 

DEBT SERVICE FUND
DEBT SERVICE FUND      #7024730 290,295.37$              290,295.37$                 

TEXPOOL DEBT SERVICE       # 00008 -$                          196,875.90$             196,875.90$                 

TOTAL DEBT SERVICE FUND 290,295.37$              196,875.90$             487,171.27$                 

COURT SECURITY FUND     #1070580 7,028.09$                  -$                         7,028.09$                     
  
COURT TECHNICAL FUND     #1058361 39,554.45$                -$                         39,554.45$                   
 
GRANT FUND
HOME GRANT ACCOUNT     #1059104 5,737.63$                  5,737.63$                     

GRANT ACCOUNT     #1048479 80.73$                       80.73$                          

TOTAL GRANT FUND 5,818.36$                  -$                         5,818.36$                     

HOTEL OCCUPANCY TAX FUND     #1025253 14,504.12$                -$                         14,504.12$                   
 
MEDC 
CHECKING ACCOUNT   #1017938 96,233.79$                96,233.79$                   

TEXPOOL - MEDC       # 00006 1,281,775.64$          1,281,775.64$              

TEXPOOL - MEDC       # 00005 59,713.49$               59,713.49$                   

TOTAL MEDC 96,233.79$                1,341,489.13$          1,437,722.92$              

POLICE ASSET FORFEITURES    #1047745 8,591.98$                  8,591.98$                     
 
UTILITY FUND  

UTILITY FUND     #1017383 1,132,004.07$           1,132,004.07$              

TEXPOOL - UTILITY FUND    # 00002 773,278.43$             773,278.43$                 

TOTAL UTILITY FUND 1,132,004.07$           773,278.43$             1,905,282.50$              

TOTAL ALL FUNDS 4,038,622.40$           2,951,905.95$          6,990,528.35$              

TEXPOOL - GENERAL FUND 539,564.98$                 
INVESTMENTS - GENERAL FUND    100,000.00$                 
 
TEXPOOL - CONST       # 00009 697.51$                        
 
TEXPOOL - DEBT SERVICE      # 00008 196,875.90$                 
 
TEXPOOL - MEDC 1,281,775.64$              
INVESTMENTS - MEDC 59,713.49$                   
 
TEXPOOL - UTILITY 773,278.43$                 

TOTAL ALL INVESTMENTS 2,951,905.95$              

*Note:  

CITY OF MONTGOMERY
ACCOUNT BALANCES 07-31-20
For Meeting of August 25, 2020

INVESTMENTS

1

1



July 31, 2020

Bookkeeper's Report

City of Montgomery

611 Longmire Rd Suite 1  •  Conroe, Texas 77304  •  Phone: 936.756.1644  •  Fax: 936.756.1844
2



City of Montgomery

Account Balances 
As of  July  31,  2020

Financial Institution
(Acct Number)

Issue 
Date

Maturity 
Date

Interest 
Rate

Account 
Balance Notes

Fund: Operating
Certificates of Deposit
THIRD COAST BANK, SSB (XXXX7256) 07/30/2020 01/26/2021 0.70 % 100,000.00

Money Market Funds
TEXPOOL (XXXX0003) 08/01/2005 0.19 % 286,299.15
TEXPOOL (XXXX0001) 02/07/2020 0.19 % 253,265.83 Reimbursement 

Checking Account(s)
FIRST FINANCIAL BANK (XXXX7375) 0.00 % 771,144.19 Checking Account
FIRST FINANCIAL BANK (XXXX5675) 0.00 % 10,675.64 Police Drug & Misc Fund
FIRST FINANCIAL BANK (XXXX5873) 0.00 % 0.00 Escrow
FIRST FINANCIAL BANK (XXXX2895) 0.00 % 10.00 Home Grant / COPS Universal
FIRST FINANCIAL BANK (XXXX4236) 0.00 % 0.00 Park 

Totals for Operating Fund: $1,421,394.81
Fund: Capital Projects
Money Market Funds
TEXPOOL (XXXX0009) 12/27/2012 0.19 % 697.51

Checking Account(s)
BOK Financial (XXXX3014) 0.00 % 121,826.72 BOKF, NA  Escrow - Series 2017A
BOK Financial (XXXX4012) 0.00 % 1,528,335.65 BOKF, NA  Escrow - Series 2017B
FIRST FINANCIAL BANK (XXXX8528) 0.00 % 0.00 Building Fund
FIRST FINANCIAL BANK (XXXX8544) 0.00 % 12,599.97 Const Ckg-W&S Proj 1058544

Totals for Capital Projects Fund: $1,663,459.85
Fund: Debt Service
Money Market Funds
TEXPOOL (XXXX0008) 12/27/2012 0.19 % 196,875.90

Checking Account(s)
FIRST FINANCIAL BANK (XXXX4730) 0.00 % 290,295.37 Checking Account

Totals for Debt Service Fund: $487,171.27
Fund: CT Security
Checking Account(s)
FIRST FINANCIAL BANK (XXXX0580) 0.00 % 7,028.09 Cash In Bank

Totals for CT Security Fund: $7,028.09
Fund: CT Tech
Checking Account(s)
FIRST FINANCIAL BANK (XXXX8361) 0.00 % 39,554.45 Cash In Bank

Totals for CT Tech Fund: $39,554.45
Fund: Grant
Checking Account(s)
FIRST FINANCIAL BANK (XXXX8479) 0.00 % 80.73 Grant Account
FIRST FINANCIAL BANK (XXXX9104) 0.00 % 5,737.63 Checking Account

Totals for Grant Fund: $5,818.36

3



City of Montgomery

Account Balances 
As of  July  31,  2020

Financial Institution
(Acct Number)

Issue 
Date

Maturity 
Date

Interest 
Rate

Account 
Balance Notes

Fund: Hotel Occupancy Tax
Checking Account(s)
FIRST FINANCIAL BANK (XXXX5253) 0.00 % 14,504.12 Cash In Bank

Totals for Hotel Occupancy Tax Fund: $14,504.12
Fund: MEDC
Money Market Funds
TEXPOOL (XXXX0006) 08/01/2005 0.19 % 1,281,775.64
TEXPOOL (XXXX0005) 02/07/2020 0.19 % 59,713.49 Reimbursement

Checking Account(s)
FIRST FINANCIAL BANK (XXXX7938) 0.00 % 96,233.79 MEDC Checking

Totals for MEDC Fund: $1,437,722.92
Fund: Policy Asset Forfeiture
Checking Account(s)
FIRST FINANCIAL BANK (XXXX7745) 0.00 % 8,591.98 Cash In Bank

Totals for Policy Asset Forfeiture Fund: $8,591.98
Fund: Utility
Money Market Funds
TEXPOOL (XXXX0002) 08/01/2005 0.19 % 773,278.43

Checking Account(s)
FIRST FINANCIAL BANK (XXXX7383) 0.00 % 1,132,004.07 Water & Sewer Fund
FIRST FINANCIAL BANK (XXXX7417) 0.00 % 0.00 Customer Deposit Acct
FIRST FINANCIAL BANK (XXXX3840) 0.00 % 0.00 Water Works

Totals for Utility Fund: $1,905,282.50

Grand total for  City of Montgomery: $6,990,528.35

4



City of Montgomery - General

Cash Flow Report - Checking Account
As of  July  31,  2020

Num Name Memo Amount Balance

BALANCE AS OF  07/01/2020 $717,186.05

Receipts
FEMA Reimbursement - Atkins Creek (to be transferred to General F 365,060.15
Sales Tax 231,928.50
Transfer from Utility Fund Thur 07/10/20 7,931.82
Transfer from Utility Fund Thur 07/31/20 13,937.85
Admin Transfer for 1st Quarter 2019-2020 FYE 50,000.00
Tax Rev EOM  7/20 82.93
Tax Revenue CL07/20 3,041.74
Tax P&I CL 07/20 427.98
Miscellaneous Revenue OS 07/31/20 2,225.00
Miscellaneous Revenue CL 07/31/20 20,230.37
Court Rev OS 07/20 330.70
Court Revenue CL 07/20 22,362.05
Interest 30.35
Beverage Tax Revenue 07/17/20 2,876.23

Total Receipts 720,465.67

Disbursements
30448 Daspit, Laurence F Payroll 07/02/20 (110.82)
30449 Barbara Dauzat Community Building Deposit Refund (150.00)
30450 Michael Shirley Court Prosecutor  6/25/2020 (450.00)
30451 OCS, Inc. Computers / Website - Inv 98493 (4,000.00)
30452 Personalized Communications, Inc. Answering Service Inv#18253-062420 (49.40)
30453 UBEO LLC, Acct No. 124715  Inv #68287939  06/1-06/30/20 (2,186.06)
30454 Vulcan Materials Company Inv# 62126858 ; Inv# 62126859 (321.00)
30455 Amazon Capital Services Operating Supplies (92.74)
30456 AT&T Cell Phones  Inv 16571840 (984.30)
30457 Christian Brothers Automotive Repairs - 2016 Chevy Tahoe LTZ (264.24)
30458 Davis Investigation Services Pre-Employment  Screening (Godell)  Inv 1908167 (28.65)
30459 Entergy Utilities per spreadsheet  06/20 (558.82)
30460 GT Distributors, Inc Emergency Equipment / Copysync Inv 761669 ; 76 (2,415.08)
30461 Houston Chronicle INV 20020461 Ad # 214553 - Rezoning Montgom (151.20)
30462 Jennifer King Community Building Deposit Refund (150.00)
30463 Lone Star Products & Equipment, LLC Police Equipment Inv 31111 - Rewire Unit, Siren a (600.00)
30464 Rick Hanna, CBO Plan Reviews (6,429.87)
30465 Robert Rosenquist Municipal Court Judge - 6/20 (1,000.00)
30466 Sales Revenue, Inc. Sales Tax Tracking Inv 3466 (1,400.00)
30467 Sam's Club Acct #040241083268-7  Inv 000000 / 000007 (268.86)
30468 State Comptroller State Criminal Costs and Fees Qtr Ending 06/30/2 (17,888.03)
30469 The Productivity Center, Inc TCLEDDS Renewals June 2019 - 2020 & 2020-Jun (730.00)
30470 Tyler Technologies, Inc Inv 025-297606 Interface Court / Monthly Fees Uti (1,883.65)
30471 UniFirst Holdings, Inc. Inv 8440905970 ; 6853 ; 7746 ; 8634 ; 5969 ; 6852 ; (535.64)
30472 TML-IRP Contract# 6827 Insurance Premium July 2020 (5,978.17)
30473 Daspit, Laurence F Payroll 07/17/20 (110.82)
30474 Thompson, Kevin A. Payroll 07/17/20 - Final Paycheck (2,136.92)
30475 Buckalew Chevrolet, L.P. 2018 Chevrolet Sliverado - Batteries Replaced (210.30)
30476 Christian Brothers Automotive Repairs - 2016 Chevy Tahoe LTZ / 2013 Dodge C (267.78)
30477 City of Montgomery - Utility Fund /Water Usage @ Parks, City Hall, Com Center - Ju (1,448.84)
30478 Cody's Lawn Service LLC Mowing (11,295.00)
30479 Consolidated Communications 936-597-6434 Telephone Service 6/1-6/30/20 (1,249.04)
30480 Easley Enterprises of Texas, Inc. City Hall General Cleaning  06/20 (775.00)

5



City of Montgomery - General

Cash Flow Report - Checking Account
As of  July  31,  2020

Num Name Memo Amount Balance

Disbursements
30481 Entergy Utilities per spreadsheet  06/20 (1,957.42)
30482 Jim's Hardware Inc.   Acct #102 -Several Invoices  06/1-06/30/20 (403.26)
30483 Klogik LLC Court License Fee - Invoice 7019315 (1,200.00)
30484 LDC CM100017 Gas    101 Plantersville  6/30/20 (31.08)
30485 McCoy's Building Supply Corporation Office Supplies - 06/30/2020 Invoices (145.35)
30486 Montgomery Area Chamber of Commerce Registration for R. Tramm / S. Countryman - Inv 2 (45.00)
30487 Northwest Pest Patrol Acct-32791-Mosquito fogging / Inv#354999, 3550 (725.00)
30488 Northwoods Insurance Agency L.L.C. Bonds - 3 Yr Bond - Anthony Lasky (255.00)
30489 O'Reilly Automotive, Inc. 700907 - Invoices 1838204442 ; 7465 ; 8319 ; 9046 (120.37)
30490 Optiquest Internet Services, Inc Computer Tech (197.00)
30491 Perdue, Brandon, Fielder, Collins, & Mott Attorney fees for Collections-Fines and Fees -  06/ (1,588.11)
30492 Pitney Bowes Global Financial Srvs, LLC Lease Acct 0018228782 Contract 0040683680 Inv 3 (428.46)
30493 Price Air Conditioning Inv I1213 - Capacitor Blower Out (250.00)
30494 Shelly Peterson Community Building Deposit Refund 04/17/20 (250.00)
30495 State Comptroller State Criminal Costs and Fees Qtr Ending 03/31/2 (405.99)
30496 Stowe's Collision Repair LLC Police -  Auto repairs  Inv 6848 (30.00)
30497 Susan Hellman Community Building Deposit Refund (50.00)
30498 TJ Wilkerson Community Building Deposit Refund (150.00)
30499 TransUnion Acct 300819 thru 6/30/20 (450.00)
30500 Verizon Wireless 521590387-00001 (49.63)
30501 Vulcan Materials Company Inv# 62134151 (159.72)
30502 Weisinger Materials, Inc Inv 091522 (66.00)
30503 Medical Air Services Association Monthly Membership for 7 Emergent Plus  Invoice (98.00)
30504 Rick Hanna, CBO Plan Reviews (4,000.00)
30505 Old Republic Title Co. Linda Sneed Loan - Texas Department of Housing (1,611.80)
30506 Amazon Capital Services Operating Supplies (179.00)
30507 Card Service Center First Financial Credit Card Account XXXX 0869 -  (1,510.51)
30508 Consolidated Communications 936-043-5910/0  7/11/20-8/03/2020 (124.34)
30509 Dittert Rubber Stamp, Ltd. Printing & Office supplies - 2 Rubber Stamps (37.90)
30510 Houston Chronicle INV 34034277 - Bid on Water Plant No. 3 (756.00)
30511 Jones & Carter, Inc Engineering Invoices - May & June 2020 (9,683.75)
30512 Lake Conroe Ace Hardware Inv#000466/1 (13.17)
30513 Optiquest Internet Services, Inc Computer Tech (197.00)
30514 Rick Hanna, CBO Plan Reviews Inv 18475 (1,040.34)
30515 Bracht, James C. Payroll 07/31/20 - Final Paycheck (7,907.76)
30516 Daspit, Laurence F Payroll 07/31/20 (110.82)
30517 Paulton, Lawrence R Payroll 07/31/20 - Final Paycheck (1,060.84)
30518 Christian Brothers Automotive Repairs - 2017 and 2013 Chevrolet Silverado (137.17)
30519 City of Montgomery - Utility Fund /Water Usage @ Parks, City Hall, Com Center - Ju (2,266.19)
30520 Wex Bank Invoice 66357684 - July 2020 - Gas/Oil (561.59)
ACH TML-Health Health, Life  & AD&D Insurance Period 2020-7   I (19,666.90)
ACH TMRS Retirement - June 2020 (17,359.69)
ACH EFTPS Payroll Taxes - July 2020 (15,419.02)
ACH Office of the Attorney General Child Support (1,952.43)
ACH EFTPS Payroll Taxes - July 2020 (17,269.52)
ACH Office of the Attorney General Child Support (2,623.83)
ACH Texas Workforce Commission TWC Report - 2nd Quarter 2020 (554.14)
ACH Office of the Attorney General Child Support (1,125.69)
ACH EFTPS Payroll Taxes - July 2020 (16,298.56)
ACH TMRS Retirement - July 2020 (26,123.56)
AL First Financial Bank Check 30471 Cleared for $536.64 instead of $535.6 (1.00)
DD Aguirre, Abel Payroll 07/02/20 (1,694.43)

6



City of Montgomery - General

Cash Flow Report - Checking Account
As of  July  31,  2020

Num Name Memo Amount Balance

Disbursements
DD Belmares, Jose N. Payroll 07/02/20 (2,425.66)
DD Bracht, James C. Payroll 07/02/20 (2,162.51)
DD Brown, Jackson A Payroll 07/02/20 (1,031.60)
DD Chambers, Albert E Payroll 07/02/20 (2,137.55)
DD Ciulla, Hailey N Payroll 07/02/20 (1,073.76)
DD Cooley, Diana M Payroll 07/02/20 (1,381.39)
DD Duckett, Kimberly T. Payroll 07/02/20 (1,749.16)
DD Goode, Kristen N Payroll 07/02/20 (1,341.60)
DD Graves, Nathaniel L. Payroll 07/02/20 (1,492.85)
DD Hensley, Kyle R Payroll 07/02/20 (1,517.53)
DD Hensley, Susan L Payroll 07/02/20 (2,141.41)
DD Hernandez, George J. Payroll 07/02/20 (1,705.00)
DD Kohl, Julie J Payroll 07/02/20 (299.22)
DD Kowarsch, Robert D Payroll 07/02/20 (92.35)
DD Lozano, Daniel T Payroll 07/02/20 (1,361.42)
DD McCorquodale, David D. Payroll 07/02/20 (2,199.67)
DD McRae, Jacob I Payroll 07/02/20 (1,265.59)
DD Muckleroy, Micha D. Payroll 07/02/20 (2,309.95)
DD Paulton, Lawrence R Payroll 07/02/20 (710.93)
DD Rains, Eva S. Payroll 07/02/20 (110.82)
DD Reed, Christy M Payroll 07/02/20 (1,067.87)
DD Salas, Francisco A. Payroll 07/02/20 (1,342.38)
DD Solomon, Anthony D Payroll 07/02/20 (2,624.45)
DD Standifer, Eric L. Payroll 07/02/20 (1,703.13)
DD Thomas, Ryan A Payroll 07/02/20 (1,466.71)
DD Thompson, Kevin A. Payroll 07/02/20 (826.74)
DD Tramm, Richard J Payroll 07/02/20 (4,155.73)
DD Bauer, Timothy M Payroll 07/02/20 (1,391.83)
DD Lasky, Anthony R Payroll 07/02/20 (1,891.08)
DD Aguirre, Abel Payroll 07/17/20 (1,793.02)
DD Bauer, Timothy M Payroll 07/17/20 (1,599.19)
DD Belmares, Jose N. Payroll 07/17/20 (2,425.66)
DD Bracht, James C. Payroll 07/17/20 (2,557.17)
DD Brown, Jackson A Payroll 07/17/20 (1,031.60)
DD Chambers, Albert E Payroll 07/17/20 (2,137.57)
DD Ciulla, Hailey N Payroll 07/17/20 (1,073.76)
DD Cooley, Diana M Payroll 07/17/20 (1,381.39)
DD Duckett, Kimberly T. Payroll 07/17/20 (1,749.16)
DD Goode, Kristen N Payroll 07/17/20 (1,341.61)
DD Graves, Nathaniel L. Payroll 07/17/20 (1,736.71)
DD Hensley, Kyle R Payroll 07/17/20 (1,791.63)
DD Hensley, Susan L Payroll 07/17/20 (2,141.42)
DD Hernandez, George J. Payroll 07/17/20 (1,710.30)
DD Kohl, Julie J Payroll 07/17/20 (332.46)
DD Kowarsch, Robert D Payroll 07/17/20 (175.47)
DD Lasky, Anthony R Payroll 07/17/20 (1,891.08)
DD Lozano, Daniel T Payroll 07/17/20 (1,361.40)
DD McCorquodale, David D. Payroll 07/17/20 (2,199.67)
DD McRae, Jacob I Payroll 07/17/20 (1,451.14)
DD Muckleroy, Micha D. Payroll 07/17/20 (2,224.11)
DD Paulton, Lawrence R Payroll 07/17/20 (710.93)
DD Reed, Christy M Payroll 07/17/20 (1,017.69)

7



City of Montgomery - General

Cash Flow Report - Checking Account
As of  July  31,  2020

Num Name Memo Amount Balance

Disbursements
DD Salas, Francisco A. Payroll 07/17/20 (1,538.80)
DD Solomon, Anthony D Payroll 07/17/20 (2,624.44)
DD Standifer, Eric L. Payroll 07/17/20 (1,726.67)
DD Thomas, Ryan A Payroll 07/17/20 (1,684.99)
DD Tramm, Richard J Payroll 07/17/20 (4,155.73)
DD Aguirre, Abel Payroll 07/31/20 (1,826.55)
DD Bauer, Timothy M Payroll 07/31/20 (1,444.17)
DD Belmares, Jose N. Payroll 07/31/20 (2,425.66)
DD Brown, Jackson A Payroll 07/31/20 (1,031.60)
DD Chambers, Albert E Payroll 07/31/20 (2,194.70)
DD Ciulla, Hailey N Payroll 07/31/20 (1,073.76)
DD Cooley, Diana M Payroll 07/31/20 (1,381.39)
DD Duckett, Kimberly T. Payroll 07/31/20 (1,749.15)
DD Goode, Kristen N Payroll 07/31/20 (1,341.61)
DD Graves, Nathaniel L. Payroll 07/31/20 (1,496.26)
DD Hensley, Kyle R Payroll 07/31/20 (1,638.57)
DD Hensley, Susan L Payroll 07/31/20 (2,141.41)
DD Hernandez, George J. Payroll 07/31/20 (1,542.99)
DD Kohl, Julie J Payroll 07/31/20 (329.69)
DD Kowarsch, Robert D Payroll 07/31/20 (73.88)
DD Lasky, Anthony R Payroll 07/31/20 (1,954.79)
DD Lozano, Daniel T Payroll 07/31/20 (1,361.41)
DD McCorquodale, David D. Payroll 07/31/20 (2,199.67)
DD McRae, Jacob I Payroll 07/31/20 (1,562.66)
DD Muckleroy, Micha D. Payroll 07/31/20 (2,224.11)
DD Rains, Eva S. Payroll 07/31/20 (166.23)
DD Reed, Christy M Payroll 07/31/20 (1,017.69)
DD Salas, Francisco A. Payroll 07/31/20 (1,342.38)
DD Solomon, Anthony D Payroll 07/31/20 (2,624.45)
DD Standifer, Eric L. Payroll 07/31/20 (1,703.13)
DD Thomas, Ryan A Payroll 07/31/20 (1,466.71)
DD Tramm, Richard J Payroll 07/31/20 (4,155.73)
DM ETS Corporation Merch Service Fees 07/20 (596.50)
Tsf City of Montgomery- Capital Projects Admin transfer to CPF thru 07/31/20 (14,250.00)
Wire First Financial Bank Transfer of Court Security Fees Revenue thru 07/1 (78.37)
Wire First Financial Bank Transfer of Court Tech Fees Revenue thru 07/10/2 (104.50)
Wire First Financial Bank Transfer to Debt Service Thru 07/10/20 (289,000.58)
Total Disbursements (666,507.53)

BALANCE AS OF  07/31/2020 $771,144.19

FIRST FINANCIAL BANK - #XXXX7375
8



City of Montgomery - General

Cash Flow Report - Police Drug & Misc Fund Account
As of  July  31,  2020

Num Name Memo Amount Balance

BALANCE AS OF  07/01/2020 $10,675.64

Receipts
No Receipts Activity 0.00

Total Receipts 0.00

Disbursements
No Disbursements Activity 0.00

Total Disbursements 0.00

BALANCE AS OF  07/31/2020 $10,675.64

FIRST FINANCIAL BANK - #XXXX5675
9



City of Montgomery - General

Cash Flow Report - Home Grant / COPS Universal Account
As of  July  31,  2020

Num Name Memo Amount Balance

BALANCE AS OF  07/01/2020 $10.00

Receipts
No Receipts Activity 0.00

Total Receipts 0.00

Disbursements
No Disbursements Activity 0.00

Total Disbursements 0.00

BALANCE AS OF  07/31/2020 $10.00

FIRST FINANCIAL BANK - #XXXX2895
10



Jul 20 Budget $ Over Budget Oct '19 - Jul 20 YTD Budget $ Over Budget Annual Budget

Ordinary Income/Expense
Income

14000.1 · Taxes & Franchise Fees
14103 · Beverage Tax 2,876.23 3,125.00 -248.77 24,259.52 30,000.00 -5,740.48 30,000.00
14111 · Franchise Tax 2,362.74 0.00 2,362.74 16,299.57 13,900.00 2,399.57 90,000.00
14320 · Ad Valorem Taxes

14320.1 · PID Tax Revenue 0.00 0.00 0.00 35,772.46 35,775.00 -2.54 35,775.00
14320 · Ad Valorem Taxes - Other 1,652.48 19,485.00 -17,832.52 548,035.28 574,269.00 -26,233.72 574,769.00

Total 14320 · Ad Valorem Taxes 1,652.48 19,485.00 -17,832.52 583,807.74 610,044.00 -26,236.26 610,544.00

14330 · Penalties & Interest on Adv Tax 225.92 200.00 25.92 5,195.81 4,700.00 495.81 5,000.00
14331 · Rendition Penalties 0.00 0.00 0.00 4.98 100.00 -95.02 100.00
14600 · Sales Tax

14600.1 · Sales Tax ILO AdValorem Tax 57,982.13 62,500.00 -4,517.87 614,385.09 625,000.00 -10,614.91 750,000.00
14600 · Sales Tax - Other 115,964.24 125,000.00 -9,035.76 1,228,770.28 1,250,000.00 -21,229.72 1,500,000.00

Total 14600 · Sales Tax 173,946.37 187,500.00 -13,553.63 1,843,155.37 1,875,000.00 -31,844.63 2,250,000.00

Total 14000.1 · Taxes & Franchise Fees 181,063.74 210,310.00 -29,246.26 2,472,722.99 2,533,744.00 -61,021.01 2,985,644.00

14000.2 · Permits & Licenses
14105 · Building Permits/MEP 18,259.00 18,750.00 -491.00 179,425.50 187,500.00 -8,074.50 225,000.00
14146 · Vendor/Beverage Permits 20.00 50.00 -30.00 305.00 500.00 -195.00 600.00
14611 · Sign Fee 50.00 150.00 -100.00 1,760.00 1,500.00 260.00 1,800.00
14612 · Misc Permit Fees(plats,& Zoning 0.00 708.33 -708.33 6,934.71 7,083.34 -148.63 8,500.00
14000.2 · Permits & Licenses - Other 0.00 10.00 -10.00 0.00 80.00 -80.00 100.00

Total 14000.2 · Permits & Licenses 18,329.00 19,668.33 -1,339.33 188,425.21 196,663.34 -8,238.13 236,000.00

14000.4 · Fees for Service
14380 · Community Bldg Rental 175.00 500.00 -325.00 5,970.00 5,000.00 970.00 6,000.00
14385 · Right of Way Use Fees 0.00 583.33 -583.33 6,709.74 5,833.34 876.40 7,000.00

Total 14000.4 · Fees for Service 175.00 1,083.33 -908.33 12,679.74 10,833.34 1,846.40 13,000.00

14000.5 · Court Fines & Forfeitures
14101 · Collection Fees 1,955.10 1,083.33 871.77 12,754.77 10,833.34 1,921.43 13,000.00
14102 · Asset Fortfeitures 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 100.00 -100.00 100.00
14106 · Child Belt/Safety (Dedicated) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 750.00 -750.00 900.00
14110 · Fines 20,424.65 25,000.00 -4,575.35 219,618.52 250,000.00 -30,381.48 300,000.00
14118 · OMNI 126.00 130.00 -4.00 940.13 1,374.62 -434.49 1,600.00
14125 · Warrant Fees 0.00 10.00 -10.00 0.00 50.00 -50.00 50.00
14126 · Judicial Efficiency (Dedicated) 15.00 41.67 -26.67 400.54 416.66 -16.12 500.00
14130 · Accident Reports 54.00 33.33 20.67 448.03 333.34 114.69 400.00

Total 14000.5 · Court Fines & Forfeitures 22,574.75 26,298.33 -3,723.58 234,161.99 263,857.96 -29,695.97 316,550.00

14000.6 · Other Revenues
14199 · Leose Funds - PD 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,172.15 1,200.00 -27.85 1,200.00

12:14 PM City of Montgomery - General Fund
08/19/20 Profit & Loss Budget Performance-All
Accrual Basis July 2020

Page 1

11



Jul 20 Budget $ Over Budget Oct '19 - Jul 20 YTD Budget $ Over Budget Annual Budget

15380 · Unanticipated Income 1,104.13 1,250.00 -145.87 14,858.24 12,500.00 2,358.24 15,000.00

15391 · Interest Income 30.35 102.40 -72.05 329.37 994.66 -665.29 1,000.00
15392 · Interest on Investments 982.98 1,000.00 -17.02 10,573.84 10,000.00 573.84 12,000.00

Total 14000.6 · Other Revenues 2,117.46 2,352.40 -234.94 26,933.60 24,694.66 2,238.94 29,200.00

14114 · Hotel/Motel 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 250.00 -250.00 250.00
15350 · Proceeds from sales 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 200.00 -200.00 200.00
15355 · FEMA Reimb - Atkins Creek 365,060.15 365,000.00 60.15 365,060.15 365,000.00 60.15 365,000.00
15393 · Grant Revenue - Police 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,762.80 2,000.00 -237.20 2,000.00

Total Income 589,320.10 624,712.39 -35,392.29 3,301,746.48 3,397,243.30 -95,496.82 3,947,844.00

Gross Profit 589,320.10 624,712.39 -35,392.29 3,301,746.48 3,397,243.30 -95,496.82 3,947,844.00

Expense
16000 · Personnel

16353.1 · Health Ins. 16,600.53 16,500.00 100.53 162,524.14 165,000.00 -2,475.86 198,000.00
16353.4 · Unemployment Ins. 2.33 573.33 -571.00 300.17 5,733.34 -5,433.17 6,880.00
16353.5 · Workers Comp. 2,399.83 2,991.66 -591.83 22,809.88 29,916.68 -7,106.80 35,900.00
16353.6 · Dental & Vision Insurance 1,423.34 1,535.41 -112.07 14,838.86 15,354.18 -515.32 18,425.00
16353.7 · Life & AD&D Insurance 288.28 270.84 17.44 2,542.35 2,708.32 -165.97 3,250.00
16353.8 · Crime-Ins 40.71 41.67 -0.96 407.10 416.66 -9.56 500.00
16560 · Payroll Taxes 14,546.20 11,554.17 2,992.03 107,519.33 115,541.66 -8,022.33 138,650.00
16600 · Wages 135,406.33 126,250.00 9,156.33 1,213,277.00 1,262,500.00 -49,223.00 1,515,000.00
16600.1 · Overtime 2,795.01 4,141.66 -1,346.65 37,396.43 42,016.68 -4,620.25 50,500.00
16620 · Retirement Expense 11,106.58 8,066.66 3,039.92 77,273.99 80,666.68 -3,392.69 96,800.00

Total 16000 · Personnel 184,609.14 171,925.40 12,683.74 1,638,889.25 1,719,854.20 -80,964.95 2,063,905.00

16001 · Communications
16338 · Advertising/Promotion

16338.1 · Legal Notices and Pub 756.00 250.00 506.00 4,378.36 4,000.00 378.36 4,500.00
16338.2 · Recording Fees 0.00 208.33 -208.33 331.00 2,083.34 -1,752.34 2,500.00
16338 · Advertising/Promotion - Other 0.00 249.99 -249.99 1,822.79 2,500.02 -677.23 3,000.00

Total 16338 · Advertising/Promotion 756.00 708.32 47.68 6,532.15 8,583.36 -2,051.21 10,000.00

Total 16001 · Communications 756.00 708.32 47.68 6,532.15 8,583.36 -2,051.21 10,000.00

16002 · Contract Services
16102 · General Consultant Fees

16102.1 · Sales Tax Tracking 1,400.00 1,540.00 -140.00 14,000.00 15,400.00 -1,400.00 18,480.00
16102 · General Consultant Fees - Other 225.00 708.33 -483.33 3,343.16 27,083.34 -23,740.18 28,500.00

Total 16102 · General Consultant Fees 1,625.00 2,248.33 -623.33 17,343.16 42,483.34 -25,140.18 46,980.00

16220 · Omni Expense 0.00 333.33 -333.33 1,332.00 3,333.34 -2,001.34 4,000.00
16242 · Prosecutors Fees 0.00 1,041.66 -1,041.66 6,750.00 10,416.68 -3,666.68 12,500.00
16280 · Mowing 11,295.00 9,333.33 1,961.67 72,007.74 93,333.34 -21,325.60 112,000.00

12:14 PM City of Montgomery - General Fund
08/19/20 Profit & Loss Budget Performance-All
Accrual Basis July 2020

Page 2

12



Jul 20 Budget $ Over Budget Oct '19 - Jul 20 YTD Budget $ Over Budget Annual Budget

16281 · Records Shredding 101.84 16.66 85.18 463.14 654.18 -191.04 850.00
16299 · Inspections/Permits/Backflow Ex 11,348.26 16,041.66 -4,693.40 127,926.77 160,416.68 -32,489.91 192,500.00
16310 · Judge's Fee 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 12,500.00 12,500.00 0.00 14,500.00
16320 · Legal 0.00 2,333.33 -2,333.33 7,726.86 25,833.34 -18,106.48 30,500.00

16321 · Audit Fees 0.00 0.00 0.00 16,679.00 25,000.00 -8,321.00 25,000.00
16322 · Engineering 0.00 9,583.33 -9,583.33 65,170.82 95,833.34 -30,662.52 115,000.00

16326 · Collection Agency Fees 0.00 5,000.00 -5,000.00 7,867.16 20,000.00 -12,132.84 20,000.00
16333 · Accounting Fees 2,360.50 3,750.00 -1,389.50 38,246.43 37,500.00 746.43 45,000.00
16335 · Repairs & Maintenance

16332 · Downtown Repairs 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 500.00 -500.00 500.00
16335.1 · Maintenance - Vehicles & Equip

16334 · Gas/Oil 333.05 3,145.83 -2,812.78 24,815.36 31,458.34 -6,642.98 37,750.00
16357 · Auto Repairs 645.52 1,541.66 -896.14 16,146.81 15,416.68 730.13 18,500.00
16373 · Equipment repairs 6.17 708.32 -702.15 3,338.18 7,083.36 -3,745.18 8,500.00
16374 · Building Repairs-City Hall/Comm 458.36 0.00 458.36 11,515.74 19,479.00 -7,963.26 19,479.00
16375 · Street Repairs - Minor

16375.1 · Streets-Preventive Maintenance 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 5,000.00 -5,000.00 5,000.00
16375 · Street Repairs - Minor - Other 0.00 0.00 0.00 21,148.06 22,000.00 -851.94 22,000.00

Total 16375 · Street Repairs - Minor 0.00 0.00 0.00 21,148.06 27,000.00 -5,851.94 27,000.00

16335.1 · Maintenance - Vehicles & Equip - Ot... 35.00 200.00 -165.00 291.28 2,000.00 -1,708.72 2,400.00

Total 16335.1 · Maintenance - Vehicles & Equip 1,478.10 5,595.81 -4,117.71 77,255.43 102,437.38 -25,181.95 113,629.00

16335 · Repairs & Maintenance - Other 580.00 1,250.00 -670.00 10,918.40 12,500.00 -1,581.60 15,000.00

Total 16335 · Repairs & Maintenance 2,058.10 6,845.81 -4,787.71 88,173.83 115,437.38 -27,263.55 129,129.00

16337 · Street Signs 0.00 333.33 -333.33 2,876.70 3,333.34 -456.64 4,000.00
16340 · Printing & Office supplies

16340.1 · COVID-19 Supplies 0.00 0.00 0.00 348.12 250.00 98.12                         375.00
16340 · Printing & Office supplies - Other 398.14 624.99 -226.85 7,711.62 6,250.02 1,461.60 7,500.00

Total 16340 · Printing & Office supplies 398.14 624.99 -226.85 8,059.74 6,500.02 1,559.72 7,750.00

16342 · Computers/Website 0.00 1,786.66 -1,786.66 15,639.87 17,866.68 -2,226.81 21,440.00
16350 · Postage/Delivery 342.77 479.15 -136.38 3,675.97 4,791.70 -1,115.73 5,750.00
16351 · Telephone 3,268.41 2,158.33 1,110.08 27,605.92 21,583.34 6,022.58 25,900.00
16360 · Tax Assessor Fees 0.00 0.00 0.00 7,332.12 7,500.00 -167.88 7,500.00
16370 · Election 0.00 3,000.00 -3,000.00 197.50 8,000.00 -7,802.50 8,000.00
17030 · Mobil Data Terminal 328.83 1,166.66 -837.83 3,982.03 11,666.68 -7,684.65 14,000.00
17040 · Computer/Technology

17040.1 · COVID-19 Computer Tech 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,247.94 1,250.00 -2.06                      2,239.00
17040 · Computer/Technology - Other 3,697.00 2,541.66 1,155.34 27,958.88 25,416.68 2,542.20                    28,500.00

Total 17040 · Computer/Technology 3,697.00 2,541.66 1,155.34 29,206.82 26,666.68 2,540.14 32,039.00

17510 · State Portion of Fines/Payouts 0.00 0.00 0.00 67,909.06 108,750.00 -40,840.94 145,000.00

12:14 PM City of Montgomery - General Fund
08/19/20 Profit & Loss Budget Performance-All
Accrual Basis July 2020

Page 3

13



Jul 20 Budget $ Over Budget Oct '19 - Jul 20 YTD Budget $ Over Budget Annual Budget

16002 · Contract Services - Other 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 500.00 -500.00 500.00

Total 16002 · Contract Services 37,823.85 69,618.22 -31,794.37 628,672.64 859,900.06 -231,227.42 1,018,663.00

16003 · Supplies & Equipment
16244 · Radio Fees 0.00 0.00 0.00 4,542.36 4,500.00 42.36 5,000.00
16328 · Uniforms & Safety Equip 232.68 1,116.66 -883.98 10,516.21 11,266.68 -750.47 13,500.00
16328.1 · Protective Gear 0.00 83.33 -83.33 184.48 833.34 -648.86 1,000.00
16358 · Copier/Fax Machine Lease 2,015.00 1,683.72 331.28 20,914.44 17,558.66 3,355.78 21,450.00
16460 · Operating Supplies (Office)

16460.1 · Streets and Drainage 103.33 306.25 -202.92 5,843.90 3,062.50 2,781.40 3,675.00
16460.2 · Cedar Brake Park 46.32 166.67 -120.35 762.88 1,666.66 -903.78 2,000.00
16460.3 · Homecoming Park 46.32 83.33 -37.01 461.42 833.34 -371.92 1,000.00
16460.4 · Fernland Park 46.32 83.33 -37.01 595.52 833.34 -237.82 1,000.00
16460.5 · Community Building 77.26 141.67 -64.41 1,152.43 1,416.66 -264.23 1,700.00
16460.6 · Tools, Etc 0.00 145.83 -145.83 1,352.84 1,758.34 -405.50 2,050.00
16460.7 · Memory Park 46.32 141.67 -95.35 1,687.92 1,416.66 271.26 1,700.00
16460 · Operating Supplies (Office) - Other 261.59 2,101.38 -1,839.79 13,476.69 18,700.61 -5,223.92 21,500.00

Total 16460 · Operating Supplies (Office) 627.46 3,170.13 -2,542.67 25,333.60 29,688.11 -4,354.51 34,625.00

16503 · Code Enforcement Expenses 0.00 83.33 -83.33 0.00 833.34 -833.34 1,000.00
17010 · Emergency Equipment 0.00 0.00 0.00 4,093.86 3,000.00 1,093.86 3,500.00
17100 · Capital Purchase Furniture 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,034.21 3,000.00 -965.79 3,000.00
16003 · Supplies & Equipment - Other 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 500.00

Total 16003 · Supplies & Equipment 2,875.14 6,137.17 -3,262.03 67,619.16 70,680.13 -3,060.97 83,575.00

16004 · Staff Development
16241 · Tuition Reimbursement 0.00 83.33 -83.33 4,313.65 5,333.34 -1,019.69 6,000.00
16339 · Dues & Subscriptions 179.00 666.66 -487.66 3,691.69 8,216.68 -4,524.99 9,600.00
16341 · Community Relations 258.00 266.67 -8.67 6,746.49 4,431.66 2,314.83 4,965.00
16354 · Travel & Training (Travel) 0.00 2,916.66 -2,916.66 20,942.20 32,666.68 -11,724.48 36,500.00
16004 · Staff Development - Other 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 100.00 -100.00 100.00

Total 16004 · Staff Development 437.00 3,933.32 -3,496.32 35,694.03 50,748.36 -15,054.33 57,165.00

16005 · Maintenance
16228 · Park Maint-Memory Pk 774.67 416.67 358.00 2,256.82 4,166.66 -1,909.84 5,000.00
16229 · Park Maint - Fernland 41.45 333.33 -291.88 2,663.14 3,333.34 -670.20 4,000.00
16230 · Park Maint-Cedar Brake Park 204.35 833.33 -628.98 9,635.53 8,333.34 1,302.19 10,000.00
16231 · Park Maint. - Homecoming Park 18.96 500.00 -481.04 5,422.45 5,000.00 422.45 6,000.00

Total 16005 · Maintenance 1,039.43 2,083.33 -1,043.90 19,977.94 20,833.34 -855.40 25,000.00

16006 · Insurance
16353.2 · Liability Ins. 2,847.25 1,944.99 902.26 19,472.57 19,500.02 -27.45 23,390.00
16353.3 · Property Ins. 690.38 911.65 -221.27 6,901.98 10,286.70 -3,384.72 12,110.00
16353.9 · Insurance Bond 255.00 305.00

12:14 PM City of Montgomery - General Fund
08/19/20 Profit & Loss Budget Performance-All
Accrual Basis July 2020

Page 4

14



Jul 20 Budget $ Over Budget Oct '19 - Jul 20 YTD Budget $ Over Budget Annual Budget

Total 16006 · Insurance 3,792.63 2,856.64 935.99 26,679.55 29,786.72 -3,107.17 35,500.00

16007 · Utilities
16352.0 · Electronic Sign-City 66.98 91.66 -24.68 611.99 916.68 -304.69 1,100.00
16352.1 · Street Lights 1,020.76 1,125.00 -104.24 10,307.74 11,250.00 -942.26 13,500.00
16352.2 · Downtown Utilities 78.36 100.00 -21.64 1,003.35 1,000.00 3.35 1,200.00
16352.3 · Utilities-Cedar Brake Park 58.46 175.00 -116.54 1,956.07 1,750.00 206.07 2,100.00
16352.4 · Utilities-Homecoming Park 57.84 94.73 -36.89 1,033.00 1,095.22 -62.22 1,300.00
16352.5 · Utilities-Fernland Park 296.35 375.00 -78.65 3,972.46 3,750.00 222.46 4,500.00
16352.6 · Utilities - City Hall 819.46 875.00 -55.54 8,193.78 8,750.00 -556.22 10,500.00
16352.8 · Utilities - Comm Center Bldg 245.19 358.33 -113.14 3,849.73 3,583.34 266.39 4,300.00
16352.9 · Utilities-Memory Pk 0.00 750.00 -750.00 4,369.49 7,500.00 -3,130.51 9,000.00
16007 · Utilities - Other 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 100.00 -100.00 100.00

Total 16007 · Utilities 2,643.40 3,944.72 -1,301.32 35,297.61 39,695.24 -4,397.63 47,600.00

16008 · Capital Outlay
17070 · Capital Outlay - Police Cars

17070.1 · Emergency Lights, Decals 0.00 333.33 -333.33 2,755.20 3,333.34 -578.14 4,000.00
17070.3 · Watch Guard 0.00 0.00 0.00 38,546.62 40,000.00 -1,453.38 40,000.00
17070.4 · Tsf To CPF-Vehicle Replacement 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 15,000.00 -15,000.00 15,000.00
17070 · Capital Outlay - Police Cars - Other 0.00 0.00 0.00 42,397.00 43,000.00 -603.00 43,000.00

Total 17070 · Capital Outlay - Police Cars 0.00 333.33 -333.33 83,698.82 101,333.34 -17,634.52 102,000.00

17071 · Cap Purchase - Computers/Eqip
17071.1 · Copsync 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,866.45 14,933.00 -13,066.55 14,933.00
17071.2 · Radar 80.00 0.00 80.00 4,001.57 4,000.00 1.57 4,000.00
17071.4 · Laserfiche (Software) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 4,200.00 -4,200.00 4,200.00
17071.6 · Investigative and Testing Equip 0.00 0.00 0.00 3,505.12 4,000.00 -494.88 4,000.00
17071.7 · Ballistic Vests & Shields 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,496.70 2,500.00 -3.30 2,500.00
17071.8 · Capital Outlay Miscellaneous 0.00 0.00 0.00 4,400.00 4,250.00 150.00 4,375.00
17071 · Cap Purchase - Computers/Eqip - Other 0.00 0.00 0.00 23,887.67 58,500.00 -34,612.33 58,500.00

Total 17071 · Cap Purchase - Computers/Eqip 80.00 0.00 80.00 40,157.51 92,383.00 -52,225.49 92,383.00

17071.5 · Patrol Weapons 0.00 0.00 0.00 4,753.80 5,500.00 -746.20 5,500.00
17072 · Capital Outlay-PWorks Items 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 5,000.00 -5,000.00 5,000.00
17080 · Capital Outlay-Improvements 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 5,000.00 -5,000.00 5,000.00
17081 · Cap Outlay-Drainage Improvement 0.00 0.00 0.00 420.00 1,000.00 -580.00 1,000.00

Total 16008 · Capital Outlay 80.00 333.33 -253.33 129,030.13 210,216.34 -81,186.21 211,058.00

16009 · Miscellaneous Expenses
16590 · Misc. Expense

16590.3 · National Night Out 0.00 0.00 0.00 305.94 0.00 305.94 0.00
16590 · Misc. Expense - Other 694.50 0.00 694.50 8,296.61 3,400.00 4,896.61 3,400.00

Total 16590 · Misc. Expense 694.50 0.00 694.50 8,602.55 3,400.00 5,202.55 3,400.00

12:14 PM City of Montgomery - General Fund
08/19/20 Profit & Loss Budget Performance-All
Accrual Basis July 2020

Page 5

15



Jul 20 Budget $ Over Budget Oct '19 - Jul 20 YTD Budget $ Over Budget Annual Budget

Total 16009 · Miscellaneous Expenses 694.50 0.00 694.50 8,602.55 3,400.00 5,202.55 3,400.00

16356 · Contract Labor- Streets 0.00 0.00 0.00 70,712.92 75,000.00 -4,287.08 78,250.00
16361 · Transfers out

16361.4 · Transfer to CPF 14,250.00                      14,250.00                            0.00                    58,000.00                    58,000.00                           0.00                   58,000.00

Total 16361 · Transfers out 14,250.00                   14,250.00                            0.00        58,000.00                    58,000.00                        0.00                   58,000.00

16500 · Leases - Parks and Recreation
16504 · Adams Park 0.00 0.00 0.00 5,330.83 5,700.00 -369.17 5,700.00

Total 16500 · Leases - Parks and Recreation 0.00 0.00 0.00 5,330.83 5,700.00 -369.17 5,700.00

17500 · Tax Rebatement
17500.1 · Sales Tax Rebate 14,093.75 14,093.75 0.00 140,937.50 140,937.50 0.00 169,125.00
17500.2 · 380 Ad Valorem Tax Rebate 6,950.66 6,950.66 0.00 69,506.65 69,506.66 -0.01 83,408.00
17500.3 · PID Property Tax Reimbursement 0.00 0.00 0.00 35,378.47 35,375.00 3.47 35,375.00

Total 17500 · Tax Rebatement 21,044.41 21,044.41 0.00 245,822.62 245,819.16 3.46 287,908.00

17540 · Transfer to Capital Savings 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 30,000.00

Total Expense 270,045.50 296,834.86 -26,789.36 2,976,861.38            3,398,216.91                 -421,355.53             4 ,015,724.00

Net Ordinary Income 319,274.60 356,377.53 -37,102.93 324,885.10                            -973.61       325,858.71                -67,880.00

Other Income/Expense
Other Income

14000.3 · Transfers In
14620.2 · Admin Transfer from MEDC 0.00 0.00 0.00 53,125.00 53,125.00 0.00 65,000.00
14620.4 · Admin Trf from Court Security 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,160.00 2,160.00 0.00 2,880.00

Total 14000.3 · Transfers In 0.00 0.00 0.00 55,285.00 55,285.00 0.00 67,880.00

Total Other Income 0.00 0.00 0.00 55,285.00 55,285.00 0.00 67,880.00

Net Other Income 0.00 0.00 0.00 55,285.00 55,285.00 0.00 67,880.00

Net Income 319,274.60 356,377.53                  -37,102.93                 380,170.10        54,311.39                  325,858.71                            0.00

12:14 PM City of Montgomery - General Fund
08/19/20 Profit & Loss Budget Performance-All
Accrual Basis July 2020

Page 6

16



City of Montgomery - Capital Projects

Cash Flow Report - Const CkgW&S Proj 1058544 Account
As of  July  31,  2020

Num Name Memo Amount Balance

BALANCE AS OF  07/01/2020 $33,253.41

Receipts
Transfer from FEMA - #4332 (Hurr Harvey - Adkins Creek) - to be tr 364,407.78
Transfer to Checking to cover expenses 14,250.00
Transfer to Checking to cover expenses 136,000.00

Total Receipts 514,657.78

Disbursements
1340 Jones & Carter, Inc. Engineering Fees - Capital Projects (10,319.27)
1341 Black Castle General Contractors Pay Estimate #8 - Construction of Stewart Creek (159,931.80)
AL Transfer To General Fund- #4332 (Hurr Harvey - (365,060.15)
Total Disbursements (535,311.22)

BALANCE AS OF  07/31/2020 $12,599.97

FIRST FINANCIAL BANK - #XXXX8544
17



City of Montgomery - Capital Projects

Cash Flow Report - BOKF, NA  Escrow  Series 2017A Account
As of  July  31,  2020

Num Name Memo Amount Balance

BALANCE AS OF  07/01/2020 $121,826.61

Receipts
Interest on account 7/31/2020 0.11

Total Receipts 0.11

Disbursements
No Disbursements Activity 0.00

Total Disbursements 0.00

BALANCE AS OF  07/31/2020 $121,826.72

BOK Financial - #XXXX3014
18



City of Montgomery - Capital Projects

Cash Flow Report - BOKF, NA  Escrow  Series 2017B Account
As of  July  31,  2020

Num Name Memo Amount Balance

BALANCE AS OF  07/01/2020 $1,528,334.27

Receipts
Interest on account 7/31/2020 1.38

Total Receipts 1.38

Disbursements
No Disbursements Activity 0.00

Total Disbursements 0.00

BALANCE AS OF  07/31/2020 $1,528,335.65

BOK Financial - #XXXX4012
19



Jul 20 Budget % of Budget Oct '19 - Jul 20 YTD Budget % of Budget Annual Budget

Ordinary Income/Expense
Income

43901 · Capital Proj Funding Sourc
43901.2 · Trns from General-Hou St. 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00
43947 · Transfer from Utility Fund

43947A · Tsf from Utility - Capital 0.00 0.00 0.0% 38,700.00 139,000.00 27.8% 139,000.00
43947B · Tsf from Utility - Maint 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00 91,400.00 0.0% 91,400.00
43947C · Tsf fr Utility - Cap Costs Proj 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00 91,400.00 0.0% 91,400.00
43947D · Revenue -Lift Sta 1 Replacement 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00

Total 43947 · Transfer from Utility Fund 0.00 0.00 0.0% 38,700.00 321,800.00 12.0% 321,800.00

43949 · Transfers from General Fund
43949.1 · Tsf fr Gen - Police Veh Replace 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00 15,000.00 0.0% 15,000.00
43949.2 · Tsf from Gen-Streets/Sidewalk 14,250.00 0.00 100.0% 58,000.00 175,000.00 33.1% 175,000.00

Total 43949 · Transfers from General Fund 14,250.00 0.00 100.0% 58,000.00 190,000.00 30.5% 190,000.00

43952 · Other Fund Reserves/Transfers
43952.1 · 380 Agt-1st Hrtford-18" SS line 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00 10,000.00 0.0% 10,000.00
43952.2 · Util Ext Proj-Waterstone on LC 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00
43952.3 · Proceeds GLO 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00 2,306,000.00 0.0% 2,306,000.00

Total 43952 · Other Fund Reserves/Transfers 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00 2,316,000.00 0.0% 2,316,000.00

Total 43901 · Capital Proj Funding Sourc 14,250.00 0.00 100.0% 96,700.00 2,827,800.00 3.4% 2,827,800.00

43959 · FEMA Grant Revenue
43956.1 · FEMA  DR4272- Bridge 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00
43956.2 · FEMA-DR4272-Plez Morgan St 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00
43956.4 · FEMA -DR4332-Huricane Harvey 0.00 0.00 400,000.00 0.0% 400,000.00
43956.5 · FEMA  -  Baja Proj 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00

Total 43959 · FEMA Grant Revenue 0.00 0.00 400,000.00 0.0% 400,000.00

43961 · Grant Funds-CDBG
43961.1 · Bridge Repair - CDBG DR 7217037 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00
43961.2 · Baja,W/S Drainag, MLK-CD7217320 0.00 198,055.74 291,008.00 68.1% 291,008.00

Total 43961 · Grant Funds-CDBG 0.00 198,055.74 291,008.00 68.1% 291,008.00

45391 · Interest Earned
45391.1 · Interest Earned Ser 2017A 0.11 1,041.66 0.0% 4,163.02 10,416.68 40.0% 12,500.00
45391.2 · Interest Earned Ser 2017B 1.38 1,041.66 0.1% 10,714.39 10,416.68 102.9% 12,500.00
45391.3 · Miscellaneous Income 0.00 70.00
45391 · Interest Earned - Other 18.32 2,307.43 0.00 100.0% 0.00

City of Montgomery - Capital Projects Acct
Profit & Loss Budget Performance

Accrual Basis July 2020

20



Jul 20 Budget % of Budget Oct '19 - Jul 20 YTD Budget % of Budget Annual Budget

Total 45391 · Interest Earned 19.81 2,083.32 1.0% 17,254.84 20,833.36 82.8% 25,000.00

Total Income 14,269.81 2,083.32 685.0% 312,010.58 3,539,641.36 8.8% 3,543,808.00

Expense
43889 · Grant Administrative Expenses

43889.1 · Bridge-CDBG-DR #7217037 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00
43889.2 · Baja Project CDBG #7217320 0.00 6,650.00 0.00 100.0% 0.00
43889.3 · GLO  - All Proj 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00 163,800.00 0.0% 163,800.00

Total 43889 · Grant Administrative Expenses 0.00 0.00 0.0% 6,650.00 163,800.00 4.1% 163,800.00

43890 · Engineering
43890.2 · WP #3 Improvements-TWDB 0.00 8,212.58 0.0% 18,607.22 82,125.84 22.7% 98,551.00
43890.3 · Lift St #1 Expansion-TWDB 0.00 7,500.00 0.0% 38,921.76 75,000.00 51.9% 90,000.00
43890.4 · Waterline replacement/HouSt 0.00 10,285.46 0.00 100.0% 0.00
43890.5 · LS#3/Force Main Re-Rte-TWDB 0.00 1,583.33 0.0% 0.00 15,833.34 0.0% 19,000.00
43890.7 · Downtown/SH105 Imp-TWDB 0.00 7,496.00 0.0% 0.00 74,960.00 0.0% 89,952.00
43890.8 · 18" SS Line 0.00 2,190.33 0.0% 5,999.95 21,903.34 27.4% 26,284.00
43890.9 · Bridge Water Line 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00
43890.A · Baja Project - CDBG  0037-00

43890A · Baja Rd/MLK Dr CDBG-Add'l-01 0.00 14,435.00
43890C · MLK Dr-Wtrln Rep/Dr Imp Ph II 0.00 14,898.37
43890.A · Baja Project - CDBG  0037-00 - Other 0.00 4,000.00 0.0% 18,817.63 40,000.00 47.0% 48,000.00

Total 43890.A · Baja Project - CDBG  0037-00 0.00 4,000.00 0.0% 48,151.00 40,000.00 120.4% 48,000.00

43890.B · Buff Sp Brdg Emb Rep - FEMA 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00
43890.C · Atkins Ck W,SS,STS Rep-FEMA4281 0.00 8,847.25 0.0% 22,394.75 88,472.50 25.3% 106,167.00
43890.D · Buff Sp Brdg - CDBG 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00
43890.E · Eng-All GLO 0.00 25,000.00 0.0% 0.00 250,000.00 0.0% 300,000.00
43890.F · Plez Morgan FEMA 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00
43890.G · Hurricane Harvey - FEMA 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00

Total 43890 · Engineering 0.00 64,829.49 0.0% 144,360.14 648,295.02 22.3% 777,954.00

43995 · Const Cost-Contingencies
43995.1 · LS#3 Force Main ReRoute- TWDB 0.00 3,000.00 0.0% 0.00 30,000.00 0.0% 36,000.00
43995.2 · LS#1 Replacement/Expans - TWDB 0.00 11,666.67 0.0% 0.00 116,666.66 0.0% 140,000.00
43995.3 · WP#3 Improvements- TWDB 0.00 12,833.33 0.0% 0.00 128,333.34 0.0% 154,000.00
43995.4 · Downtown/SH105 Improve - TWDB 0.00 10,500.00 0.0% 0.00 105,000.00 0.0% 126,000.00

Total 43995 · Const Cost-Contingencies 0.00 38,000.00 0.0% 0.00 380,000.00 0.0% 456,000.00

44000 · Wastewater System
44006 · LS #1-Replmnt/Expans-TWDB 147,253.50 47,500.00 310.0% 885,645.00 475,000.00 186.5% 570,000.00
44007 · LS#3 Forcemain Reroute-TWDB 0.00 12,083.33 0.0% 0.00 120,833.34 0.0% 145,000.00

City of Montgomery - Capital Projects Acct
Profit & Loss Budget Performance

Accrual Basis July 2020

21



Jul 20 Budget % of Budget Oct '19 - Jul 20 YTD Budget % of Budget Annual Budget

44008 · 18" Gravity S.S. Line Const 0.00 22,995.83 0.0% 0.00 229,958.34 0.0% 275,950.00
44009 · Lift St #3 Improvements-GLO 0.00 12,500.00 0.0% 0.00 125,000.00 0.0% 150,000.00

Total 44000 · Wastewater System 147,253.50 95,079.16 154.9% 885,645.00 950,791.68 93.1% 1,140,950.00

45000 · Water System- Capital Proj
43975 · WP #3 Generator - GLO 0.00 40,500.00 0.0% 0.00 405,000.00 0.0% 486,000.00
43976.1 · Downtown/SH 105 W Ln Imp-TWDB 0.00 41,833.33 0.0% 874.00 418,333.34 0.2% 502,000.00
43992.1 · Water Plant #3 - Imp-TWDB 0.00 36,666.67 0.0% 0.00 366,666.66 0.0% 440,000.00
43992.4 · WP#3 Imp - Other Costs-TWDB 0.00 14,583.33 0.0% 0.00 145,833.34 0.0% 175,000.00
43992.5 · Baja/MLK Wtr&Drg Imp-TXCDBG7... 0.00 21,888.17 0.0% 329,412.82 218,881.66 150.5% 262,658.00

Total 45000 · Water System- Capital Proj 0.00 155,471.50 0.0% 330,286.82 1,554,715.00 21.2% 1,865,658.00

46000 · Roadway System Improvements
46001 · Plez Morgan Street- (FEMA4272) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00
46002 · Buf SpBrg RepFEMA4272-CD7217307 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00
46006 · Buf Sp Brdg -CDBG7307 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00
46007 · Streets/Sidewalks 0.00 14,583.33 0.0% 16,351.01 145,833.34 11.2% 175,000.00

Total 46000 · Roadway System Improvements 0.00 14,583.33 0.0% 16,351.01 145,833.34 11.2% 175,000.00

46361 · Bank Fees 0.00 0.00
47000 · Capital Costs Projects

47001 · Blank 7 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00

Total 47000 · Capital Costs Projects 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00

48000 · Cap Outlay-Fac, Equip, Etc
48000.3 · Houston Street Rehab 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00
48001 · GRP Capital Projects 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00
48002 · Utili ProjPrev Maint 0.00 7,616.67 0.0% 10,420.00 76,166.66 13.7% 91,400.00
48003 · Buf Spgs-Water Line-Util ExProj 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00
48004 · Police Vehicle Replacement 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00 15,000.00 0.0% 15,000.00
48005 · Blank 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00
48005.A · Baja / MLK - GLO 0.00 59,675.00 0.0% 0.00 596,750.00 0.0% 716,100.00
48005.B · Baja/MLK - FEMA 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00
48005.C · Atkins Creek W&S Lines-FEMA 0.00 321,592.40
48006 · Hurricane Harvey Exp  (FEMA) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00
48007 · Impact Fee-WL Ext-Pkwy/Buff Sp 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00 75,000.00 0.0% 75,000.00
48008 · Andres Branch - GLO 0.00 40,841.67 0.0% 0.00 408,416.66 0.0% 490,100.00

Total 48000 · Cap Outlay-Fac, Equip, Etc 0.00 108,133.34 0.0% 332,012.40 1,171,333.32 28.3% 1,387,600.00

Total Expense 147,253.50 476,096.82 30.9% 1,715,305.37 5,014,768.36 34.2% 5,966,962.00

City of Montgomery - Capital Projects Acct
Profit & Loss Budget Performance

Accrual Basis July 2020

22



Jul 20 Budget % of Budget Oct '19 - Jul 20 YTD Budget % of Budget Annual Budget

Net Ordinary Income -132,983.69 -474,013.50 28.1% -1,403,294.79 -1,475,127.00 95.1% -2,423,154.00

Net Income -132,983.69 -474,013.50 28.1% -1,403,294.79 -1,475,127.00 95.1% -2,423,154.00

City of Montgomery - Capital Projects Acct
Profit & Loss Budget Performance

Accrual Basis July 2020

23



City of Montgomery - Debt Service

Cash Flow Report - Checking Account
As of  July  31,  2020

Num Name Memo Amount Balance

BALANCE AS OF  07/01/2020 $1,286.86

Receipts
Tax Transfer thru 06/30/19 289,000.58
Interest 7.93

Total Receipts 289,008.51

Disbursements
No Disbursements Activity 0.00

Total Disbursements 0.00

BALANCE AS OF  07/31/2020 $290,295.37

FIRST FINANCIAL BANK - #XXXX4730
24



Jul 20 Budget $ Over Budget Oct '19 - Jul 20 YTD Budget $ Over Budget Annual Budget

Income
34000 · Taxes & Franchise Fees

34320 · Ad Valorem Taxes 1,472.19 42,817.41 -41,345.22 509,151.56 428,174.18 80,977.38 513,809.00

34330 · Penalty & Interest 202.06 341.66 -139.60 3,218.31 3,416.68 -198.37 4,100.00

Total 34000 · Taxes & Franchise Fees 1,674.25 43,159.07 -41,484.82 512,369.87 431,590.86 80,779.01 517,909.00

34100 · Transfers
34301.4 · Transfers in-MEDC Fund 0.00 0.00 0.00 120,000.00 120,000.00 0.00 160,000.00

34301.5 · Transfers in - Utility Fund 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total 34100 · Transfers 0.00 0.00 0.00 120,000.00 120,000.00 0.00 160,000.00

35000 · Other Revenues
35390 · Interest on Checking 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.17 0.00 0.17 0.00

35391 · Interest on Investments 42.76 0.00 42.76 2,379.45 0.00 2,379.45 0.00

35399 · Misc Income 0.00 150.00

Total 35000 · Other Revenues 42.76 0.00 42.76 2,529.62 0.00 2,529.62 0.00

Total Income 1,717.01 43,159.07 -41,442.06 634,899.49 551,590.86 83,308.63 677,909.00

Expense
37000 · Debt Service

36410 · Bank Charges 0.00 0.00

37360 · Interest Payments On Note 0.00 0.00 0.00 20,903.75 56,894.50 -35,990.75 108,357.00

37363 · Paying Agent Fees 0.00 0.00 0.00 650.00 2,500.00 -1,850.00 2,500.00

37365 · Interest 2012 Series Premium 0.00 0.00 0.00 89,406.25 53,560.75 35,845.50 108,512.00

37395 · Principal Note Payments 0.00 0.00 0.00 455,000.00 455,000.00 0.00 455,000.00

Total 37000 · Debt Service 0.00 0.00 0.00 565,960.00 567,955.25 -1,995.25 674,369.00

Total Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 565,960.00 567,955.25 -1,995.25 674,369.00

Net Income 1,717.01 43,159.07 -41,442.06 68,939.49 -16,364.39 85,303.88 3,540.00

City of Montgomery - Debt Service
Profit & Loss Budget Performance

July 2020

25



City of Montgomery - Ct Security Fund

Cash Flow Report - Checking Account
As of  July  31,  2020

Num Name Memo Amount Balance

BALANCE AS OF  07/01/2020 $6,949.72

Receipts
Transfer from General for Revenues thru 07/10/2020 78.37

Total Receipts 78.37

Disbursements
No Disbursements Activity 0.00

Total Disbursements 0.00

BALANCE AS OF  07/31/2020 $7,028.09

FIRST FINANCIAL BANK - #XXXX0580
26



Jul 20 Budget $ Over Budget Oct '19 - Jul 20 YTD Budget $ Over Budget Annual Budget

Ordinary Income/Expense
Income

84110 · Court Fines & Forfeitures
84110.1 · Court Security Fees 0.00 450.00 -450.00 3,136.81 4,500.00 -1,363.19 5,400.00

Total 84110 · Court Fines & Forfeitures 0.00 450.00 -450.00 3,136.81 4,500.00 -1,363.19 5,400.00

84120 · Other Revenues
84120.1 · Interest Income 0.00 0.42 -0.42 0.00 4.16 -4.16 5.00

Total 84120 · Other Revenues 0.00 0.42 -0.42 0.00 4.16 -4.16 5.00

Total Income 0.00 450.42 -450.42 3,136.81 4,504.16 -1,367.35 5,405.00

Expense
86000 · Contracted Services

86442 · Security Services 0.00 50.00 -50.00 32.44 500.00 -467.56 600.00

Total 86000 · Contracted Services 0.00 50.00 -50.00 32.44 500.00 -467.56 600.00

86005 · Miscellaneous Expenses 0.00 250.00 -250.00 0.00 2,500.00 -2,500.00 3,000.00

Total Expense 0.00 300.00 -300.00 32.44 3,000.00 -2,967.56 3,600.00

Net Ordinary Income 0.00 150.42 -150.42 3,104.37 1,504.16 1,600.21 1,805.00

Other Income/Expense
Other Expense

86560 · Interfund Tranfers
86551 · Baliff Transfer to General F... 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,160.00 2,925.00 -765.00 3,900.00

Total 86560 · Interfund Tranfers 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,160.00 2,925.00 -765.00 3,900.00

Total Other Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,160.00 2,925.00 -765.00 3,900.00

Net Other Income 0.00 0.00 0.00 -2,160.00 -2,925.00 765.00 -3,900.00

Net Income 0.00 150.42 -150.42 944.37 -1,420.84 2,365.21 -2,095.00

City of Montgomery - Ct Security Fund
Profit & Loss Budget Performance

Accrual Basis July 2020

27



City of Montgomery - Ct Tech Fund

Cash Flow Report - Checking Account
As of  July  31,  2020

Num Name Memo Amount Balance

BALANCE AS OF  07/01/2020 $39,448.88

Receipts
Revenues transfer from 07/10/2020 104.50
Interest 1.07

Total Receipts 105.57

Disbursements
No Disbursements Activity 0.00

Total Disbursements 0.00

BALANCE AS OF  07/31/2020 $39,554.45

FIRST FINANCIAL BANK - #XXXX8361
28



Jul 20 Budget $ Over Budget Oct '19 - Jul 20 YTD Budget $ Over Budget Annual Budget

Ordinary Income/Expense
Income

74100 · Court Fines and Forfeitures
74110 · Court Technology Fees 0.00 500.00 -500.00 2,590.06 5,000.00 -2,409.94 6,000.00

Total 74100 · Court Fines and Forfeitures 0.00 500.00 -500.00 2,590.06 5,000.00 -2,409.94 6,000.00

74200 · Other Revenues
74291 · Interest Income 1.07 0.25 0.82 9.54 2.50 7.04 3.00

Total 74200 · Other Revenues 1.07 0.25 0.82 9.54 2.50 7.04 3.00

Total Income 1.07 500.25 -499.18 2,599.60 5,002.50 -2,402.90 6,003.00

Expense
76200 · Contract Services

76362 · Computer/Website Services 0.00 416.67 -416.67 0.00 4,166.66 -4,166.66 5,000.00

Total 76200 · Contract Services 0.00 416.67 -416.67 0.00 4,166.66 -4,166.66 5,000.00

Total Expense 0.00 416.67 -416.67 0.00 4,166.66 -4,166.66 5,000.00

Net Ordinary Income 1.07 83.58 -82.51 2,599.60 835.84 1,763.76 1,003.00

Net Income 1.07 83.58 -82.51 2,599.60 835.84 1,763.76 1,003.00

City of Montgomery - Ct Tech Fund
Actual to Budget Performance

Accrual Basis July 2020

29



City of Montgomery - Grant

Cash Flow Report - Grant Account Account
As of  July  31,  2020

Num Name Memo Amount Balance

BALANCE AS OF  07/01/2020 $80.73

Receipts
No Receipts Activity 0.00

Total Receipts 0.00

Disbursements
No Disbursements Activity 0.00

Total Disbursements 0.00

BALANCE AS OF  07/31/2020 $80.73

FIRST FINANCIAL BANK - #XXXX8479
30



City of Montgomery - Grant

Cash Flow Report - Checking Account
As of  July  31,  2020

Num Name Memo Amount Balance

BALANCE AS OF  07/01/2020 $5,737.63

Receipts
No Receipts Activity 0.00

Total Receipts 0.00

Disbursements
No Disbursements Activity 0.00

Total Disbursements 0.00

BALANCE AS OF  07/31/2020 $5,737.63

FIRST FINANCIAL BANK - #XXXX9104
31



City of Montgomery - Hotel Occupancy Tax Fund

Cash Flow Report - Checking Account
As of  July  31,  2020

Num Name Memo Amount Balance

BALANCE AS OF  07/01/2020 $14,503.72

Receipts
Interest 0.40

Total Receipts 0.40

Disbursements
No Disbursements Activity 0.00

Total Disbursements 0.00

BALANCE AS OF  07/31/2020 $14,504.12

FIRST FINANCIAL BANK - #XXXX5253
32



Jul 20 Budget $ Over Budget Oct '19 - Jul 20 YTD Budget $ Over Budget Annual Budget

Income
44300 · Taxes & Franchise Fees

44330 · Hotel Occupancy Taxes 0.00 125.00 -125.00 1,383.61 1,250.00 133.61 1,500.00

Total 44300 · Taxes & Franchise Fees 0.00 125.00 -125.00 1,383.61 1,250.00 133.61 1,500.00

44400 · Other Revenues
44360 · Interest Earned On Checking 0.00 0.25 -0.25 0.00 2.50 -2.50 3.00
44490 · Interest Income 0.40 3.57

Total 44400 · Other Revenues 0.40 0.25 0.15 3.57 2.50 1.07 3.00

Total Income 0.40 125.25 -124.85 1,387.18 1,252.50 134.68 1,503.00

Expense
46600 · Miscellaneous Expenses 0.00 333.33 -333.33 0.00 3,333.34 -3,333.34 4,000.00

Total Expense 0.00 333.33 -333.33 0.00 3,333.34 -3,333.34 4,000.00

Net Income 0.40 -208.08 208.48 1,387.18 -2,080.84 3,468.02 -2,497.00

City of Montgomery - Hotel Occupancy Tax Fund
Profit & Loss Budget Performance

Accrual Basis July 2020

33



City of Montgomery - MEDC

Cash Flow Report - MEDC Checking Account
As of  July  31,  2020

Num Name Memo Amount Balance

BALANCE AS OF  07/01/2020 $97,493.62

Receipts
No Receipts Activity 0.00

Total Receipts 0.00

Disbursements
1997 Rebecca Huss Reimbursement of Expense - Website Marketing (26.75)
1998 Rebecca Huss Reimbursement of Expense - Website Marketing / (224.00)
1999 Rebecca Huss Reimbursement of Expense - Website Marketing (50.00)
2000 Waste Management of Texas, Inc. 2 CustomerID#23-62833-73000 Inv 1436345-1792-2 (959.08)
Total Disbursements (1,259.83)

BALANCE AS OF  07/31/2020 $96,233.79

FIRST FINANCIAL BANK - #XXXX7938
34



Jul 20 Budget $ Over Budget Oct '19 - Jul 20 YTD Budget $ Over Budget Annual Budget

Income
55000 · Taxes & Franchise Fees

55400 · Sales Tax 57,982.13 47,000.00 10,982.13 614,385.09 510,000.00 104,385.09 654,000.00

Total 55000 · Taxes & Franchise Fees 57,982.13 47,000.00 10,982.13 614,385.09 510,000.00 104,385.09 654,000.00

55300 · Other Revenues
55391 · Interest Income 234.65 840.00 (605.35) 12,439.46 8,320.00 4,119.46 10,000.00
55399 · Misc Income 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,400.00 0.00 1,400.00 0.00

Total 55300 · Other Revenues 234.65 840.00 (605.35) 13,839.46 8,320.00 5,519.46 10,000.00

Total Income 58,216.78 47,840.00 10,376.78 628,224.55 518,320.00 109,904.55 664,000.00

Expense
56000 · Pub Infrastructure - Category I

56000.6 · Downtown Dev Improvements 0.00 30,000.00 (30,000.00) 0.00 60,000.00 (60,000.00) 60,000.00
56000.7 · Streets & Sidewalks 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 57,000.00 (57,000.00) 76,000.00
56000.8 · Utility Extensions 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 50,000.00 (50,000.00) 50,000.00
56000.A · Tsf to Debt Service 0.00 0.00 0.00 120,000.00 120,000.00 0.00 160,000.00

Total 56000 · Pub Infrastructure - Category I 0.00 30,000.00 (30,000.00) 120,000.00 287,000.00 (167,000.00) 346,000.00

56001 · Business Dev & Ret -Category II
56001.8 · Sales Tax Reimbursement 0.00 0.00 0.00 59,625.00 59,625.00 0.00 79,500.00
56001.9 · Economic Development Grant Prog 0.00 0.00 0.00 500.00 10,000.00 (9,500.00) 20,000.00

Total 56001 · Business Dev & Ret -Category II 0.00 0.00 0.00 60,125.00 69,625.00 (9,500.00) 99,500.00

56002 · Quality of Life - Category III
56423.1 · Walking Tours 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,000.00 (1,000.00) 1,000.00
56429 · Removal of Blight 959.08 0.00 959.08 3,959.08 15,000.00 (11,040.92) 15,000.00
56434 · Events

55602 · Neighborhood Water Party 0.00 0.00 0.00 38.11 0.00 38.11 0.00
55606 · Light up Montgomery 0.00 0.00 0.00 930.75 1,500.00 (569.25) 1,500.00
55607 · Contests/Activities/Prizes 0.00 250.00 (250.00) 0.00 500.00 (500.00) 1,000.00
56434 · Events - Other 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 34,000.00 (34,000.00) 34,000.00

Total 56434 · Events 0.00 250.00 (250.00) 968.86 36,000.00 (35,031.14) 36,500.00

56439 · Downtown Enhancement Projects 0.00 2,500.00 (2,500.00) 0.00 25,000.00 (25,000.00) 30,000.00

Total 56002 · Quality of Life - Category III 959.08 2,750.00 (1,790.92) 4,927.94 77,000.00 (72,072.06) 82,500.00

56003 · Marketing & Tourism-Category IV
56003.5 · Brochures/Printed Literature 0.00 583.33 (583.33) 547.62 7,833.34 (7,285.72) 9,000.00
56003.C · Website 0.00 250.00 (250.00) 182.90 2,500.00 (2,317.10) 3,000.00
56003.F · Social Media Advertising 75.00 250.00 (175.00) 101.75 500.00 (398.25) 1,000.00

Total 56003 · Marketing & Tourism-Category IV 75.00 1,083.33 (1,008.33) 832.27 10,833.34 (10,001.07) 13,000.00

56004 · Administration  - Category V
56004.1 · Admin Transfers to Gen Fund 0.00 0.00 0.00 53,125.00 80,625.00 (27,500.00) 107,500.00

56004.3 · Miscellaneous Expenses 0.00 41.66 (41.66) 0.00 416.68 (416.68) 500.00

City of Montgomery - MEDC
Actual to Budget Performance

July 2020

35



Jul 20 Budget $ Over Budget Oct '19 - Jul 20 YTD Budget $ Over Budget Annual Budget

56004.6 · Consulting (Professional servi) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 7,300.00 (7,300.00) 9,800.00
56004.7 · Travel  & Training Expenses 199.00 0.00 199.00 778.00 5,000.00 (4,222.00) 5,000.00
56004.9 · Technology 0.00 200.00 (200.00) 0.00 200.00 (200.00) 200.00

Total 56004 · Administration  - Category V 199.00 241.66 (42.66) 53,903.00 93,541.68 (39,638.68) 123,000.00

56340 · Office Supplies 0.00 0.00 0.00 240.81 0.00 240.81 0.00

Total Expense 1,233.08 34,074.99 (32,841.91) 240,029.02 538,000.02 (297,971.00) 664,000.00

Net Income 56,983.70 13,765.01 43,218.69 388,195.53 (19,680.02) 407,875.55 0.00

36



City of Montgomery - Police Asset Forfeiture

Cash Flow Report - Checking Account
As of  July  31,  2020

Num Name Memo Amount Balance

BALANCE AS OF  07/01/2020 $8,591.98

Receipts
No Receipts Activity 0.00

Total Receipts 0.00

Disbursements
No Disbursements Activity 0.00

Total Disbursements 0.00

BALANCE AS OF  07/31/2020 $8,591.98

FIRST FINANCIAL BANK - #XXXX7745
37



Jul 20 Budget $ Over Budget Oct '19 - Jul 20 YTD Budget $ Over Budget Annual Budget

Ordinary Income/Expense
Income

74000 · Police Asset Forfeitures
74102 · Asset Forfeitures 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 100.00 -100.00 100.00

Total 74000 · Police Asset Forfeitures 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 100.00 -100.00 100.00

Total Income 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 100.00 -100.00 100.00

Expense
76100 · Supplies and Equipment

76101 · Computer/Technology Equipment 0.00 2,377.00

Total 76100 · Supplies and Equipment 0.00 2,377.00

Total Expense 0.00 2,377.00

Net Ordinary Income 0.00 0.00 0.00 -2,377.00 100.00 -2,477.00 100.00

Net Income 0.00 0.00 0.00 -2,377.00 100.00 -2,477.00 100.00

City of Montgomery - Police Asset Forfeiture
Profit & Loss Budget Performance

Accrual Basis July 2020

38



City of Montgomery - Water & Sewer 

Cash Flow Report - Water & Sewer Fund Account
As of  July  31,  2020

Num Name Memo Amount Balance

BALANCE AS OF  07/01/2020 $1,072,681.29

Receipts
Interest on Checking 40.54
A/R Collections 197,849.03
A/R Collections O/S 1,679.43
Customer Meter Deposits 3,300.00
Fee Revenue 722.50
Fee Revenue O/S 40.00

Total Receipts 203,631.50

Disbursements
14970 BMP Industrial Service, LLC Lift Station Clean Up - Invoice 11927 ; 11943 ; 119 (1,560.00)
14971 DataProse, LLC Acct# 1216  Inv#DP2001460  Billing Period  4/1- (408.53)
14972 DH Homes Deposit Refund - 19020 Villa Lane (66.28)
14973 Jason Stewart Deposit Refund - 19018 Minero Lane (71.95)
14974 Travis Mabry Deposit Refund - 13801 Liberty (41.07)
14975 Accurate Utility Supply, LLC Operating Supplies Inv #160000 ; 160390 (2,394.34)
14976 Badger Meter Inv  #80055436 (1,849.42)
14977 Consolidated Communications 936-597-4826/0 6/20 (42.65)
14978 DataProse, LLC Acct# 1216  Inv#DP2002257  Billing Periiod  6/1- (1,654.74)
14979 DXI Industries Inc. Chlorine WP#3  055011016-20 (641.62)
14980 Entergy June Invoices (5,989.79)
14981 Gulf Utility Service, Inc. Operations - Inv 17706  05/31/20 (22,303.93)
14982 Waste Management (3) Acct 23-48327-53006 - Inv1435661-1792-3  6/1-6/ (479.54)
14983 TML - IRP Insurance Premiums July 2020 (2,912.54)
14984 Accurate Utility Supply, LLC Operating Supplies Inv #160307 (2,075.34)
14985 BMP Industrial Service, LLC Lift Station Clean Up - Invoice 11982 (360.00)
14986 City of Montgomery - Utility Fund Cooling Tower Feed @ 109 Business Park Dr Acct (986.72)
14987 Consolidated Communications Telephone 936-597-8846, 7657, 3353 (139.08)
14988 DSHS Central Lab MC2004 Acct CEN CD2782_062020  PWS ID #1700022 (106.96)
14989 Entergy June Invoices (3,923.61)
14990 LDC CM100268 Hwy 105 West, CM100264 149 South  0 (71.30)
14991 Texas Excavation Safety System, Inc. Monthly Message Fees for 06/20 Inv#20-11648 (59.85)
14992 Verizon  Connect NWF, Inc Vehicle Rep. & Maint. Inv OSV000002159627 (64.76)
14993 Waste Management Customer ID# 7-23067-13005   inv 5683945-1792- (12,193.66)
14994 BMP Industrial Service, LLC Lift Station Clean Up - Invoice 11970 (600.00)
14995 Jones & Carter, Inc Engineering Fees (4,642.50)
14996 Tyler Technologies Utility Billing Training #025-293677 / 301703 (4,013.15)
14997 Waste Management (2) Acct 7-23166-83000 - Inv5681754-1792-8  7/1-7/3 (926.77)
14998 Consolidated Communications 936-597-4774/0  7/11/20-8/03/2020 (45.27)
14999 DXI Industries Inc. Chlorine WP#3 DE05005390-20 (110.00)
ACH State Comptroller Sales Tax - Fees - 6/2020 (1,105.47)
AL Reimbursement of Expenses thru 07/10/2020 (7,931.82)
AL 1st Quarter Admin Transfer - 2019/2020 FYE (50,000.00)
AL Reimbursement of Expenses thru 07/31/2020 (13,937.85)
Recap 
07/20

First Financial Billing Charges (598.21)

Total Disbursements (144,308.72)

BALANCE AS OF  07/31/2020 $1,132,004.07

FIRST FINANCIAL BANK - #XXXX7383
39



Jul 20 Budget $ Over Budget Oct '19 - Jul 20 YTD Budget $ Over Budget Annual Budget

Ordinary Income/Expense
Income

24000 · Charges for Service
24100 · Water Revenue 70,956.90 49,333.33 21,623.57 536,844.37 493,333.34 43,511.03 592,000.00

24118 · Surface Water Revenue 806.79 500.00 306.79 5,867.28 5,000.00 867.28 6,000.00
24119 · Application Fee 0.00 125.00 (125.00) 0.00 1,250.00 (1,250.00) 1,500.00
24120 · Disconnect Reconnect 150.00 458.33 (308.33) 3,060.56 4,583.34 (1,522.78) 5,500.00
24200 · Sewer Revenue 58,376.66 47,166.66 11,210.00 520,124.45 471,666.68 48,457.77 566,000.00
24310 · Tap Fees/Inspections 6,835.00 37,916.66 (31,081.66) 228,104.56 379,166.68 (151,062.12) 455,000.00
24319 · Grease Trap Inspections 1,550.00 1,416.66 133.34 15,100.00 14,166.68 933.32 17,000.00
24330 · Late Charges 1,155.21 1,250.00 (94.79) 11,326.60 12,500.00 (1,173.40) 15,000.00
24333 · Returned Ck Fee 0.00 16.66 (16.66) 100.00 166.68 (66.68) 200.00
24334 · Backflow Device 0.00 923.50 0.00 923.50 0.00
25403 · Solid Waste Revenue 12,985.60 11,541.66 1,443.94 129,813.49 115,416.68 14,396.81 138,500.00

Total 24000 · Charges for Service 152,816.16 149,724.96 3,091.20 1,451,264.81 1,497,250.08 (45,985.27) 1,796,700.00

24101 · Taxes and Franchise Fees
24110 · Sales Tax Rev for Solid Waste 1,023.19 931.66 91.53 10,655.38 9,316.68 1,338.70 11,180.00

Total 24101 · Taxes and Franchise Fees 1,023.19 931.66 91.53 10,655.38 9,316.68 1,338.70 11,180.00

24121 · Groundwater Reduction Revenue 19,580.45 12,916.66 6,663.79 138,863.21 129,166.68 9,696.53 155,000.00
25000 · Other Revenues

25000.1 · Impact Fees
25000.2 · Impact Fees - Capital Cost 0.00 0.00 0.00 9,712.00 200,000.00 (190,288.00) 200,000.00
25000.1 · Impact Fees - Other 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 75,000.00 (75,000.00) 75,000.00

Total 25000.1 · Impact Fees 0.00 0.00 0.00 9,712.00 275,000.00 (265,288.00) 275,000.00

25391 · Interest Income 40.54 50.00 (9.46) 386.91 500.00 (113.09) 600.00
25392 · Interest earned on Investments 136.86 1,000.00 (863.14) 6,864.93 10,000.00 (3,135.07) 12,000.00
25399 · Misc Rev & ETS Rev 762.50 108.33 654.17 4,753.75 1,083.34 3,670.41 1,300.00
25000 · Other Revenues - Other 0.00 26.00

Total 25000 · Other Revenues 939.90 1,158.33 (218.43) 21,743.59 286,583.34 (264,839.75) 288,900.00

25500 · Utility Contracts 558.58 1,310.95

Total Income 174,918.28 164,731.61 10,186.67 1,623,837.94 1,922,316.78 (298,478.84) 2,251,780.00

Expense
26001 · Personnel

26353.1 · Health Ins. 1,209.72 1,125.00 84.72 11,262.42 11,250.00 12.42 13,500.00
26353.4 · Unemployment Ins 0.00 58.33 (58.33) 0.00 583.34 (583.34) 700.00
26353.5 · Workers Comp. 378.40 416.67 (38.27) 3,274.72 4,166.66 (891.94) 5,000.00
26353.6 · Dental Insurance 93.28 100.00 (6.72) 901.20 1,000.00 (98.80) 1,200.00
26353.7 · Life & AD&D Insurance 51.75 8.33 43.42 558.16 83.34 474.82 100.00
26353.8 · Crime Insurance 40.72 374.29
26501 · Retirement Expense 1,004.32 1,791.67 (787.35) 6,450.96 17,916.66 (11,465.70) 21,500.00
26560 · Payroll Taxes 1,259.33 2,483.33 (1,224.00) 8,100.13 24,833.34 (16,733.21) 29,800.00
26600 · Wages 66,462.02 29,166.67 37,295.35 155,884.05 291,666.66 (135,782.61) 350,000.00

Total 26001 · Personnel 70,499.54 35,150.00 35,349.54 186,805.93 351,500.00 (164,694.07) 421,800.00

26200 · Contract Services
26102 · General Consultant Fees 25.46 908.75 (883.29) 7,610.66 9,087.50 (1,476.84) 10,905.00
26320 · Legal Fees 0.00 1,421.08 (1,421.08) 920.00 14,210.84 (13,290.84) 17,053.00
26322 · Engineering 0.00 6,250.00 (6,250.00) 60,267.79 62,500.00 (2,232.21) 75,000.00

26323 · Operator 0.00 3,365.00 (3,365.00) 29,700.00 33,650.00 (3,950.00) 40,380.00
26324 · Billing and Collections 1,091.48 1,891.67 (800.19) 21,844.67 18,916.66 2,928.01 22,700.00

City of Montgomery - Water & Sewer Fund
Actual to Budget Performance - Utility Fund

July 2020

40



Jul 20 Budget $ Over Budget Oct '19 - Jul 20 YTD Budget $ Over Budget Annual Budget

26328 · Testing 0.00 1,200.00 (1,200.00) 11,565.67 12,000.00 (434.33) 14,400.00
26331 · Sales Tax for Solid Waste 1,083.88 931.67 152.21 10,997.77 9,316.66 1,681.11 11,180.00
26333 · Accounting Fees 2,360.50 3,750.00 (1,389.50) 40,675.19 37,500.00 3,175.19 45,000.00
26336 · Sludge Hauling 7,800.00 1,833.33 5,966.67 23,586.00 18,333.34 5,252.66 22,000.00
26340 · Printing 0.00 0.00 0.00 658.52 200.00 458.52 200.00
26350 · Postage 20.34 325.00 (304.66) 2,804.60 3,250.00 (445.40) 3,900.00
26351 · Telephone 1,565.42 395.83 1,169.59 6,914.19 3,958.34 2,955.85 4,750.00
26370 · Tap Fees & Inspections 0.00 4,166.67 (4,166.67) 44,537.75 41,666.66 2,871.09 50,000.00
26380 · Disconnect/Reconnect Expense 0.00 331.66
26399 · Garbage Pickup 13,292.87 11,541.67 1,751.20 128,266.41 115,416.66 12,849.75 138,500.00
26200 · Contract Services - Other 0.00 1,597.48

Total 26200 · Contract Services 27,239.95 37,980.67 (10,740.72) 392,278.36 380,006.66 12,271.70 455,968.00

26300 · Communications
26338 · Advertising/Promotion 0.00 125.00 (125.00) 1,095.00 1,250.00 (155.00) 1,500.00

Total 26300 · Communications 0.00 125.00 (125.00) 1,095.00 1,250.00 (155.00) 1,500.00

26326 · Permits & Licenses 0.00 1,733.33 (1,733.33) 17,516.25 17,333.34 182.91 20,800.00
26371 · Dues & Subscriptions 0.00 166.67 (166.67) 598.00 1,666.66 (1,068.66) 2,000.00
26400.1 · Supplies & Equipment

26342 · Chemicals 430.42 1,583.33 (1,152.91) 27,280.87 15,833.34 11,447.53 19,000.00
26358 · Copier/Fax Machine Lease 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 200.00 (200.00) 200.00
26460 · Operating Supplies 697.37 6,666.67 (5,969.30) 28,471.83 66,666.66 (38,194.83) 80,000.00
26485 · Uniforms 231.68 291.67 (59.99) 2,574.34 2,916.66 (342.32) 3,500.00
27040 · ComputerTechnology Equipment 539.50 416.67 122.83 5,457.99 4,166.66 1,291.33 5,000.00
26400.1 · Supplies & Equipment - Other 0.00 0.00 0.00 513.96 200.00 313.96 200.00

Total 26400.1 · Supplies & Equipment 1,898.97 8,958.34 (7,059.37) 64,298.99 89,983.32 (25,684.33) 107,900.00

26401 · Groundwater Reduction Expenses 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 100.00 (100.00) 100.00
26500 · Staff Development

26354 · Travel & Training (Travel) 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,131.00 5,500.00 (3,369.00) 5,500.00
26355 · Employee Relations (Education) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 500.00 (500.00) 500.00

Total 26500 · Staff Development 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,131.00 6,000.00 (3,869.00) 6,000.00

26600.2 · Maintenance
26335 · Repairs & Maintenance 1,410.92 18,812.50 (17,401.58) 168,703.30 188,125.00 (19,421.70) 225,750.00
26335.1 · Vehicle Rep. & Maint. 64.76 166.67 (101.91) 1,185.72 1,666.66 (480.94) 2,000.00
26335.3 · W&S Maint. Items 0.00 3,704.17 (3,704.17) 2,234.01 37,041.66 (34,807.65) 44,450.00
26349 · Gas & Oil 52.24 645.83 (593.59) 4,269.42 6,458.34 (2,188.92) 7,750.00

Total 26600.2 · Maintenance 1,527.92 23,329.17 (21,801.25) 176,392.45 233,291.66 (56,899.21) 279,950.00

26700 · Insurance Expense
26353.2 · Liability Ins. 192.58 266.67 (74.09) 1,736.00 2,666.66 (930.66) 3,200.00
26353.3 · Property Ins. 2,300.84 2,333.33 (32.49) 20,922.52 23,333.34 (2,410.82) 28,000.00

Total 26700 · Insurance Expense 2,493.42 2,600.00 (106.58) 22,658.52 26,000.00 (3,341.48) 31,200.00

26800 · Utilities Expense
26352.1 · Utilities - Gas for Generators 102.78 0.00 102.78 701.77 1,000.00 (298.23) 1,000.00
26352.2 · Utilities-Water Plants 5,353.76 5,416.67 (62.91) 62,238.37 54,166.66 8,071.71 65,000.00
26352.3 · Utilities-WW Treatment Plants 1,585.10 2,916.67 (1,331.57) 19,352.24 29,166.66 (9,814.42) 35,000.00
26352.4 · Utilities - Lift Stations 1,026.86 1,183.33 (156.47) 11,312.46 11,833.34 (520.88) 14,200.00

Total 26800 · Utilities Expense 8,068.50 9,516.67 (1,448.17) 93,604.84 96,166.66 (2,561.82) 115,200.00

26900 · Capital Outlay
26900.4 · Capital Outlay-Sewer/Plant Imp 0.00 4,166.67 (4,166.67) 0.00 41,666.66 (41,666.66) 50,000.00
26900 · Capital Outlay - Other 0.00 5,526.15

41



Jul 20 Budget $ Over Budget Oct '19 - Jul 20 YTD Budget $ Over Budget Annual Budget

Total 26900 · Capital Outlay 0.00 4,166.67 (4,166.67) 5,526.15 41,666.66 (36,140.51) 50,000.00

26901 · Util Projects/Prev Maint
26901.1 · Util Proj/Prev Maint-Tsf to CPF 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 68,550.00 (68,550.00) 91,400.00
26901.2 · Capital Costs-Tsf to CPF 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 68,550.00 (68,550.00) 91,400.00
26901.3 · Impact Fees - Tsf to CPF 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 68,550.00 (68,550.00) 91,400.00
26901 · Util Projects/Prev Maint - Other 0.00 26,863.50 (26,863.50) 104,648.94 268,635.00 (163,986.06) 322,362.00

Total 26901 · Util Projects/Prev Maint 0.00 26,863.50 (26,863.50) 104,648.94 474,285.00 (369,636.06) 596,562.00

27000 · Miscellaneous Expenses
26359 · Misc Expense 0.00 189.98
26361 · Bank Charges/ETS 598.21 666.67 (68.46) 8,987.38 6,666.66 2,320.72 8,000.00

Total 27000 · Miscellaneous Expenses 598.21 666.67 (68.46) 9,177.36 6,666.66 2,510.70 8,000.00

Total Expense 112,326.51 151,256.69 (38,930.18) 1,076,731.79 1,725,916.62 (649,184.83) 2,096,980.00

Net Ordinary Income 62,591.77 13,474.92 49,116.85 547,106.15 196,400.16 350,705.99 154,800.00

Other Income/Expense
Other Expense

27001 · Other Expenses
27002 · Transfer to Construction Fund 0.00 0.00 0.00 38,700.00 116,100.00 (77,400.00) 154,800.00

Total 27001 · Other Expenses 0.00 0.00 0.00 38,700.00 116,100.00 (77,400.00) 154,800.00

Total Other Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 38,700.00 116,100.00 (77,400.00) 154,800.00

Net Other Income 0.00 0.00 0.00 (38,700.00) (116,100.00) 77,400.00 (154,800.00)

Net Income 62,591.77 13,474.92 49,116.85 508,406.15 80,300.16 428,105.99 0.00

42



City of Montgomery

District Debt Service Payments
08/01/2020 - 08/01/2021

Paying Agent Series Date Due Date Paid Principal Interest Total Due

Debt Service Payment Due 09/01/2020
Amegy Bank of Texas 2012 - Refunding 09/01/2020 0.00 34,756.25 34,756.25
Amegy Bank of Texas 2012 - WS&D 09/01/2020 0.00 51,462.50 51,462.50
First National Bank of Huntsville 2015 - Refunding 09/01/2020 0.00 5,526.25 5,526.25
Bank of Texas 2017A - WS&D 09/01/2020 0.00 4,767.25 4,767.25
Bank of Texas 2017B - WS&D 09/01/2020 0.00 9,753.25 9,753.25

Total Due 09/01/2020 0.00 106,265.50 106,265.50

Debt Service Payment Due 03/01/2021
Amegy Bank of Texas 2012 - Refunding 03/01/2021 115,000.00 34,756.25 149,756.25
Amegy Bank of Texas 2012 - WS&D 03/01/2021 130,000.00 51,462.50 181,462.50
First National Bank of Huntsville 2015 - Refunding 03/01/2021 80,000.00 5,526.25 85,526.25
Bank of Texas 2017A - WS&D 03/01/2021 50,000.00 4,767.25 54,767.25
Bank of Texas 2017B - WS&D 03/01/2021 80,000.00 9,753.25 89,753.25

Total Due 03/01/2021 455,000.00 106,265.50 561,265.50

District Total $455,000.00 $212,531.00 $667,531.00

43



 
 
 
 
August 19, 2020 
 
The Honorable Mayor and City Council 
City of Montgomery 
101 Old Plantersville Road 
Montgomery, Texas 77316 
 
Re:  Engineering Report 

 Council Meeting: August 25, 2020 
  City of Montgomery 
 
Dear Mayor and Council: 
 
The following information summarizes our activities on your behalf since the July 28th Council Meeting: 
 
Status of Previously Authorized Projects: 
 
All projects discussed below are shown on the enclosed maps of active developments and capital projects. 

 
a) Baja Road Water and Drainage Improvements, Phase I & Phase II (CDBG) 

We are working with the Contractor, City, and GrantWorks to ensure all required documentation is 
prepared and submitted as required by the Texas Department of Agriculture to close out the project.  
 

b) Water Distribution System Analysis and Master Plan – CP No. 3 – Downtown and SH-105 Waterline 
Replacement 
As a reminder, the project was awarded to Nerie Construction, LLC in the amount of $913,338.00 at 
your July 14th City Council meeting. We are preparing the contracts to be sent to the Texas Water 
Development Board (“TWDB”) for final review and approval prior to City execution. 

 
c) Water Distribution System Analysis and Master Plan – CP No. 9 - Water Plant No. 3 Improvements 

We received bids for the project on August 5th and plan to present the bids at your August 25th Council 
meeting. 

 
d) 18” Gravity Sanitary Sewer Extension, Phase 2 

As a reminder, we held a final inspection on October 15th. The remaining items to be completed by the 
contractor are the final testing of the line which will occur once the new lift station is put into service.  

 
e) GLO Projects 

There is nothing new to report this month. 
 

f) Anders Branch Drainage Analysis 
We met with the design team at BGE, Inc. on August 13th to discuss the progress of the drainage analysis 
to date. It is our understanding BGE, Inc. plans to have the analysis complete by the end of September. 



City of Montgomery 
    Page 2 

August 19, 2020 

 
Status of Previously Authorized Projects (cont.): 
 

g) Sanitary Sewer System Analysis and Master Plan – CP No. 3b – Lift Station No. 1 Replacement 
The contractor is continuing with the electrical work, including coordination with Entergy for power 
connection, and is proceeding with final pipe coating for the Lift Station No. 1 Replacement project. 
We did not receive a pay estimate this month.  

 

              Generator            Control Panel 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Lift Station Site 

 
h) Sanitary Sewer System Analysis and Master Plan – CP No. 10 – Lift Station No. 3 Force Main Re-Route 

As a reminder, this project is included in TWDB CWSRF loan. The design is substantially complete, has 
received TxDOT approval, and is temporarily on hold until the Lift Station No. 1 project is complete.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



City of Montgomery 
    Page 3 

August 19, 2020 

 
 

Existing and Upcoming Developments: 

a) Feasibility Studies – There are no ongoing feasibility studies at this time. 

b) Plan Reviews   

i. THPM Montgomery Townhomes – We received revised plans for the development on July 31st 
and returned comments to the plans on August 10th. 

ii. AutoZone – We received plans for the development on July 30th and returned comments to the 
plans on August 10th. 

iii. Hills of Town Creek, Section 4 – We received revised plans on August 18th and plan to return 
comments within 2 weeks of receipt.  

iv. Moon Over Montgomery – We received plans for the development on July 16th and returned 
comments to the plans on July 30th. 

c) Plat Reviews  

i. Heritage Place Parking Development Plat – The building lines were recorded with Montgomery 
County and we are ready to approve the plat once the hard copy submittal is received by the City. 

d) Ongoing Construction  

i. Shoppes at Montgomery Public Waterline Extension – We held a final inspection on July 24th. It 
is our understanding the contractor is addressing the items identified at the final inspection. 

e) One-Year Warranty Inspections 

i. Villas of Mia Lago, Section 2 – It is our understanding the contractor is working to address the 
items identified at the one-year warranty inspection. 

ii. Hills of Town Creek, Section 3 – The one-year warranty inspection was held on January 7, 2020, 
and the contractor is currently addressing the punch list items.  

iii. Emma’s Way – The one-year warranty inspection was held on February 18, 2020 and the 
contractor is currently addressing the punch list items. 

Meetings and Ongoing Activities:  

a) Biweekly Operations Conference Call – We continue hosting a biweekly conference call with 
representatives from Gulf Utility Service, Inc. and City Staff. Items of note discussed during the previous 
month included updates on various warranty inspections, general updates on all active design and 
construction projects, and general operations of the City’s water and sanitary sewer facilities. 
 



City of Montgomery 
    Page 4 

August 19, 2020 

 
b) FM 1097 & Atkins Creek (TxDOT) – We are coordinating with TxDOT regarding the selected option for 

repairs, which is scheduled to let in January 2021 pending TxDOT’s obtaining of all necessary right-of-
way. We received a request for plans in the project vicinity and provided all requested information. 
 

c) FM 149 & SH-105 Right Turn Lane –TxDOT has advised that the project is not scheduled to be let until 
2025 with the previously discussed downtown FM 149 improvements however they are looking into 
separating the turn lane from the scope of the project to complete sooner.   
 

d) Design Manual Update – We are preparing updates to the City’s Design Manual, as authorized by City 
Staff, in response to recent legislation that requires all plan review comments to reference a written 
rule. Updates include the addition and modification of standard details and City preferences for 
construction to be enforced in all proposed City and private developments. 

 
 

Please contact Katherine Vu or me if you have any questions. 
 

Sincerely, 

 
Chris Roznovsky, PE 
Engineer for the City 
 

CVR/kmv 
K:\W5841\W5841-0900-00 General Consultation\Meeting Files\Status Reports\2020\Engineer's Report 8-25-2020.docx 

Enclosures:  Active Capital Projects Map 
   Active Developments Map 
Cc (via email):     The Planning and Zoning Commission – City of Montgomery 

 Mr. Richard Tramm – City of Montgomery, City Administrator 
Ms. Susan Hensley – City of Montgomery, City Secretary 
Mr. Alan Petrov – Johnson Petrov LLP, City Attorney 



SH 105

LONE STAR PKWY

FM 2854

W FM
 10

97

SH 105  W

FM
 14

9

LIBERTY ST

CLU
B DR

N LIBERTY ST

CLEPPER

COLLEGE

OLD PLANTERSVILLE RD

E FM 1097

GRAND PIN E DR

CAROLINE ST

OLD DOBBIN PLANTERSVILLE RD

KINGS LN

JENNY LN

HUFFMAN ST

DR MARTIN LUTHER KING JR DR

BOIS D'ARC BEND RD

POND ST

SERENE WATER DR

BERKLEY DR

BUFFALO SPRINGS DR

ARNSWORTH LN

GRAND VIEW DR

MIA
LA

GO DR

PENINSULA POINT DR

GRANDVIEW
PT

COMMUNIT Y CENTER DR

PLEZ MORGAN DR

HARBOR SIDE BLVD

RENAISSANCE DR
N BUFFALO SPRINGS

DR

C
B

ST
EW

AR
T DR

LOUISA ST

FLAGSHIP BLVD

B AJA RD

GRA
ND

VIE
W

BL
VD

ST
EW

ART CREEK RD

SU
MM

IT
PA

RK
DR

HAVENSHIRE DR

WATERSTONE DR

PRAIRIE ST

HA
RLEY DR

LONE STAR BND

MCCOWAN

WO
RS

HA
M 

ST

HO
US

TO
N 

ST

WOMACK CEMETERY RD

W E
ST

WA
Y DR

MAIDEN LN

ANNA SPRINGS LN

THOMAS ST

VINTA GEO AKS DR

PEEL PT

POWELLCIR

BR
OCK'S LN

HAMILTON RD

AB
NE

R LN

W GRAND POND DR

SU
NN

YF
IEL

D 
FA

RM

SIMONTON ST

LAWSON ST

GRA
ND

VIE
W PK

WY HA
RB

OR
 SI

DE
 LN

SH 105  W

FM 149

W FM 1097

GRAND VIEW DR

       LEGEND       
City Limits
City ETJ
MCAD Parcels

Pat
h: 

V:\
Pra

cti
ce 

Wo
rks

pa
ce\

Co
rpo

rat
e S

erv
ice

s\G
IS\

Scr
atc

h_
Wo

rks
pa

ce\
Jak

e\0
_O

LD
_D

RIV
E\H

O-
HH

M7
\Pr

oje
cts

\D
istr

ict
s\C

ity
Of

Mo
ntg

om
ery

\PR
JTS

\20
20

\M
arc

h\A
cti

ve 
Ca

pit
al P

roj
ect

s (1
1x1

7).
mx

d   
     

  Pr
oje

ct 
Nu

mb
er:

 W
58

41
-09

00
-18

     
     

Da
te:

 3/
17

/20
20

     
     

Us
er 

Na
me

: JC
P

VICINITY MAP
Scale: 1 inch equals 20 miles

1 inch equals 1,500 feet .
Disclaimer: This product is offered for informational purposes and
may not have been prepared for or be suitable for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.  It does not represent an on-the-ground
survey and represents only the approximate relative location of
property, governmental and/or political boundaries or related
facilities to said boundary.  No express warranties are made by
Jones|Carter, Inc. concerning the accuracy, completeness,
reliability, or usability of the information included within this exhibit.

ACTIVE CAPITAL
PROJECTS

(AUGUST 2020)

0 1,500750

Feet

Baja Road/MLK Drive
Improvements - Phase I

[CBDG]
(Warranty Ends 02/21)

MLK Drive
Improvements - Phase II

[CBDG]
(Warranty Ends 02/21)

Water Plant No.
3 Improvements

[TWDB]
(Bidding)

18" Gravity Sanitary
Line Extension

[Developer]
(Construction)

Lift Station No. 1
Replacement

[TWDB]
(Construction)

Lift Station No. 3
Force Main Re-route 

[TWDB]
(On Hold)

Downtown and SH-105
Waterline Replacement

[TWDB]
(Contracts)



SH 105

LONE STAR PKWY

FM 2854

W FM
 10

97

SH 105  W

FM
 14

9

LIBERTY ST

CLU
B DR

N LIBERTY ST

CLEPPER

COLLEGE

OLD PLANTERSVILLE RD

E FM 1097

GRAND PIN E DR

CAROLINE ST

OLD DOBBIN PLANTERSVILLE RD

KINGS LN

JENNY LN

HUFFMAN ST

DR MARTIN LUTHER KING JR DR

BOIS D'ARC BEND RD

POND ST

SERENE WATER DR

BERKLEY DR

BUFFALO SPRINGS DR

ARNSWORTH LN

GRAND VIEW DR

MIA
LA

GO DR

PENINSULA POINT DR

GRANDVIEW
PT

COMMUNIT Y CENTER DR

PLEZ MORGAN DR

HARBOR SIDE BLVD

RENAISSANCE DR
N BUFFALO SPRINGS

DR

C
B

ST
EW

AR
T DR

LOUISA ST

FLAGSHIP BLVD

B AJA RD

GRA
ND

VIE
W

BL
VD

ST
EW

ART CREEK RD

SU
MM

IT
PA

RK
DR

HAVENSHIRE DR

WATERSTONE DR

PRAIRIE ST

HA
RLEY DR

LONE STAR BND

MCCOWAN

WO
RS

HA
M 

ST

HO
US

TO
N 

ST

WOMACK CEMETERY RD

W E
ST

WA
Y DR

MAIDEN LN

ANNA SPRINGS LN

THOMAS ST

VINTA GEO AKS DR

PEEL PT

POWELLCIR

BR
OCK'S LN

HAMILTON RD

AB
NE

R LN

W GRAND POND DR

SU
NN

YF
IEL

D 
FA

RM

SIMONTON ST

LAWSON ST

GRA
ND

VIE
W PK

WY HA
RB

OR
 SI

DE
 LN

SH 105  W

FM 149

W FM 1097

GRAND VIEW DR

       LEGEND       
City Limits
City ETJ
City of Conroe ETJ
MCAD Parcels
Floodway
100-year
500-year

Pat
h: 

V:\
Pra

cti
ce 

Wo
rks

pa
ce\

Co
rpo

rat
e S

erv
ice

s\G
IS\

Scr
atc

h_
Wo

rks
pa

ce\
Jak

e\0
_O

LD
_D

RIV
E\H

O-
HH

M7
\Pr

oje
cts

\D
istr

ict
s\C

ity
Of

Mo
ntg

om
ery

\PR
JTS

\20
20

\M
arc

h\A
cti

ve 
De

vel
op

me
nts

 (1
1x1

7).
mx

d   
     

  Pr
oje

ct 
Nu

mb
er:

 W
58

41
-09

00
-18

     
     

Da
te:

 3/
17

/20
20

     
     

Us
er 

Na
me

: JC
P

VICINITY MAP
Scale: 1 inch equals 20 miles

1 inch equals 1,500 feet .
Disclaimer: This product is offered for informational purposes and
may not have been prepared for or be suitable for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.  It does not represent an on-the-ground
survey and represents only the approximate relative location of
property, governmental and/or political boundaries or related
facilities to said boundary.  No express warranties are made by
Jones|Carter, Inc. concerning the accuracy, completeness,
reliability, or usability of the information included within this exhibit.

ACTIVE
DEVELOPMENTS

(AUGUST 2020)

0 1,500750

Feet

DEPADO ESTATES 
14 ACRES

4 COMMERCIAL RESERVES

THPM MONTGOMERY
TOWNHOMES

TOWN CREEK CROSSING 
125 ACRES

199 SINGLE FAMILY LOTS
4 COMMERCIAL RESERVES

WEST LAKES DEVELOPMENT

HILLS OF TOWN CREEK
SECTION THREE

49 SINGLE FAMILY LOTS

EMMA'S WAY EXTENSION

HERITAGE PLACE
PHASE III

HERITAGE PLACE
PARKING EXPANSION

MOON OVER
MONTGOMERY

27-ACRE COMMERCIAL
MIXED USE RETAIL

MONTGOMERY SHOPPES
RETAIL PLAZA

STARBUCKS

VILLAS OF MIA LAGO,
SECTION TWO

42 SINGLE FAMILY
LOTS

TROY'S DONUTS

HILLS OF TOWN CREEK
SECTION FOUR

30 SINGLE FAMILY LOTS

AUTOZONE















 
 
 
August 19, 2020 
 
The Honorable Mayor and City Council  
City of Montgomery 
101 Old Plantersville Road  
Montgomery, Texas 77316 
 
Re: Explanation of Bids and Recommendation of Award 

Water Plant No. 3 Improvements  
 City of Montgomery 
 
Dear Mayor and Council: 
 
As you are aware, the City received bids for the Water Plant No. 3 Improvements project on August 5, 2020. Two 
contractors submitted bids for the project, as summarized in the attached Recommendation of Award and bid 
tabulation. 
 
The project was bid with a base bid and 2 alternate options, the scopes of which are outlined below: 
 

• Base Bid: The base bid includes the construction of a 600-gpm cooling tower and corresponding heat 
exchanger, replacement of the existing 100,000-gallon ground storage tank (“GST”) with a 210,000-
gallon GST, construction of an additional 10,000-gallon hydropneumatic tank (“HPT”), and miscellaneous 
recoating items. 

• Alternate No. A1: Alternate A1 includes the construction of a 900-gpm booster pump, in addition to the 
scope of the base bid. 

• Alternate No. A2: Alternate A2 includes the construction of a 15,000-gallon HPT in lieu of the 10,000-
gallon HPT included in the base bid. 

 
The table below shows the current capacity of the City’s water plants, the proposed capacity if only the base bid 
is constructed, and the proposed capacity if the base bid plus Alternate No. A2 (15,000-gallon HPT) is 
constructed, as measured in Equivalent Single Family Connections (“ESFC”). 
 

 Hydropneumatic 
Tank Capacity 

(ESFC) 

Ground Storage 
Tank Capacity 

(ESFC) 

Booster Pump 
Capacity (ESFC) 

Water Well 
Capacity (ESFC) 

Total Water Plant 
Capacity (ESFC)(1) 

Existing 875 2,175 2,523 3,453 875 

Base Bid 1,375 2,725 2,523 3,453 1,375 

Base Bid + A1 1,375 2,725 3,243 3,453 1,375 

Base Bid + A2 2,500(2) 2,725 2,523 3,453 2,500 
(1) Total water plant capacity for the City, including Water Plant Nos. 2 and 3 
(2) The maximum required HPT capacity is 30,000 gallons, which serves 2,500 ESFCs per TCEQ standards 

 



City of Montgomery 
Explanation of Bids and Recommendation of Award 

    Page 2 
August 19, 2020 

 

After reviewing the bids received, we recommend proceeding with construction of the base bid plus Alternate 
No. A2, as shown in the enclosed Recommendation of Award. Construction of the larger HPT results in a cost 
difference of $12,000.00 and a significant increase in water plant capacity.  
 
As a reminder, this project is slated to be partially funded by the Texas Water Development Board, with the 
remaining construction cost being contributed from City funds. We are working with the City Administrator to 
include the remaining project cost in the 2020/2021 budget. 

If you have any questions or comments, please do not hesitate to contact us. 
 

Sincerely, 
 
  

 
Chris Roznovsky, PE 

       Engineer for the City 
CVR/ 
K:\W5841\W5841-0900-00 General Consultation\Correspondence\Letters\2020\MEMO to Council RE WP 3 Improvements Bids 08252020.docx 

Enclosures: Recommendation of Award – Water Plant No. 3 Improvements 
cc: Mr. Richard Tramm – City of Montgomery, City Administrator 

Mr. Dave McCorquodale – City of Montgomery, Assistant City Administrator 
Ms. Susan Hensley– City of Montgomery, City Secretary 
Mr. Alan Petrov – Johnson Petrov, LLP, City Attorney 



[Jlcl JONES CARTE R

6330 West Loop South, Suite 150
Bellaire, Texas 77401

Tel: 713.777.5337
Fax: 713.777.5976

www.jonescarter.com

August 19, 2020

The Honorable Mayor and City Council
The City of Montgomery
101 Old Plantersville Road

Montgomery, Texas 77010

Re: Water Plant No. 3 Improvements

City of Montgomery
Texas Water Development Board No. 62715

Dear Mayor and Council:

We received bids for the referenced contract in our office on August 5, 2020 at 10:00 A.M. Bids were publicly

opened and read at that time.

Two (2) contractors submitted proposals for this work. A summary tabulation of the bids is enclosed for your

review. R&B Group, Inc. submitted the lowest total Base Bid plus Alternate Bid Item No. A2 in their proposal in

the amount of $996,550.

We have worked with R&B Group, Inc. in the past and find them to be an acceptable contractor. We recommend

the referenced contract be awarded to R&B Group, Inc. on the basis of their Base Bid plus Alternate Bid Item No.

A2 proposal in the amount of $996,550.

If you have any questions, please feel free to contact us at (713) 777-5337.

Sincerely,

Toby W. McQ.ueary, P.E.

TWM/bmm
K:\W5841\W5841-0030-00 Water Plant No. 3 Improvements^ Construction Phase\Contract Documents\w5841-0030-00 ROA.docx

Enclosures: Bid Summary

Cc (via email): Mr. Richard Tramm - City of Montgomery, City Administrator

Ms. Susan Hensley - City of Montgomery, City Secretary

Mr. Alan Petrov-Johnson Petrov, LLP, City Attorney

Texas Board of Professional Engineers Registration No. F-439 | Texas Board of Professional Land Surveying Registration No. 10046100



BIDS WERE RECEIVED IN THE OFFICE OF

City of Montgomery - City Hall

Time: 10:00 A.M.

Public Bid Date: 8/5/2020

R&B Group, Inc.
W.W. Payton 

Corporation

Bid Security X X

Addendum No. 1 X X

Addendum No. 2 X X

Addendum No. 3 X

Calendar Days 270 365 

Base Bid  $          984,550.00  $       1,200,000.00 

Base Bid + Alt No. 1  $       1,074,550.00 * $1,270,000.00 *

Base Bid + Alt No. 2  $          996,550.00 *  $       1,212,000.00 *

Base Bid + Alt Nos. 

1 & 2
 $       1,086,550.00  $       1,282,000.00 *

BID TABULATION SHEET

Construction of Water Plant No. 3 Improvements

for

City of Montgomery

BIDDERS

* Denotes mathematical error

K:\W5841\W5841-0030-00 Water Plant No. 3 Improvements\2 Design Phase\Bid Documents\Bid Tab 20200730




















	AGENDA - CITY COUNCIL 082520
	ITEM #1 - APPROVAL OF MINUTES
	ITEM #2 - RENEWAL & TRANSFER APPL. CEDAR CREST MOBILE HOME PARK
	ITEM #3 - ACCEPT THE 2020 NO-NEW REV TAX RATE & VOTER APPROV TAX RATE
	ITEM #4,5&6 - TAX RATE PRESENTATION AND ADOPT PROPOSED RATE
	ITEM #7&8 - PID #1 ANNUAL SERVICE AND ASSESSMENT PLAN AND ORDINANCE
	ITEM #7 & 8 - PID# ANNUAL UPDATE MEMO AND ORDINANCE
	Memo to City re Assessments
	AnnualUpdateSAP

	ITEM #9 - RESOLUTION ADOPTING THE INVESTMENT POLICY
	ITEM #9 - RESOLUTION ADOPT ANNUAL INVESTMENT POLICY
	2020-00 Resolution for the Investment Policy Adoption 082520
	Amended Investment Policy 2020
	List of Qualified Brokers 2020

	ITEM #10 - UPDATE FROM BGE - LIMITED MASTER DRAINAGE STUDY
	ITEM #11A - CITY ADMINISTRATOR'S REPORT & DEVELOPMENT REPORT
	ITEM #11B - PUBLIC WORKS REPORT
	ITEM #11C - POLICE REPORT
	ITEM #11D - COURT REPORT 
	ITEM #11E - UTILITY & DEVELOPMENT REPORT
	ITEM #11F - WATER REPORT
	ITEM #11G - FINANCE REPORT
	ITEM #11H - ENGINEER'S REPORT
	Active Capital Projects (11x17) 8.2020
	Active Developments (11x17) 8.2020

	ITEM #12 - AUTH MEDC PURCHASE OF RADIOS FOR FESTIVAL EVENTS
	ITEM #13 - APPROVE MEDC PROPOSED 2020-21 BUDGET
	ITEM #14 - WATER PLANT #3 PROJECT BID & AWARD OF CONTRACT
	W5841-0030-00 Signed ROA
	Bid Tab Summary 20200807

	ITEM #15 - TERMINATION OF LAUGHTER LEASE AGREEMENT



